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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) (1)    Financial Statements

See "Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements” set forth on Page F-1.

(2)    Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the required information is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.

(3)    Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description
2.1* — Simplification Agreement dated as of July 11, 2016, by and among PAA GP Holdings LLC, Plains GP Holdings, L.P., Plains All American GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P., PAA

GP LLC and Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2016).

2.2* — Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of July 12, 2021 by and among Plains Pipeline, L.P., Plains Marketing, L.P., Oryx Midstream Holdings LLC, Middle Cadence
Holdings LLC, POP HoldCo LLC, Oryx Wink Oil Marketing LLC, Oryx Permian Oil Marketing LLC, Plains Oryx Permian Basin LLC, Plains Oryx Permian Basin Marketing
LLC and Plains Oryx Permian Basin Pipeline LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 13, 2021).

3.1 — Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. dated as of October 10, 2017 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 12, 2017).

3.2 — Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. dated as of April 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

3.3 — Amendment No. 1 dated December 31, 2010 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.9 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

3.4 — Amendment No. 2 dated January 1, 2011 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

3.5 — Amendment No. 3 dated June 30, 2011 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.7 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

3.6 — Amendment No. 4 dated January 1, 2013 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.8 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).

3.7 — Amendment No. 5 dated December 1, 2019 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Marketing, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.7 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.)

3.8 — Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Pipeline, L.P. dated as of April 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004).

3.9 — Amendment No. 1 dated January 1, 2013 to the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains Pipeline, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013).
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3.10 — Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC dated November 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3
to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2016).

3.11 — Eighth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. dated November 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2016).

3.12 — Amendment No. 1 dated September 26, 2018 to the Eighth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 2, 2018).

3.13 — Amendment No. 2 dated May 23, 2019 to the Eighth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 30, 2019).

3.14 — Certificate of Incorporation of PAA Finance Corp. (f/k/a Pacific Energy Finance Corporation, successor-by-merger to PAA Finance Corp.) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

3.15 — Bylaws of PAA Finance Corp. (f/k/a Pacific Energy Finance Corporation, successor-by-merger to PAA Finance Corp.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.11 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006).

3.16 — Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP LLC dated December 28, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 4, 2008).

3.17 — Certificate of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to PAGP’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-190227) filed
July 29, 2013).

3.18 — Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. dated as of November 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
PAGP’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2016).

3.19 — Amendment No. 1 dated April 6, 2020 to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to PAGP’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 9, 2020).

3.20 — Certificate of Formation of PAA GP Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to PAGP’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-190227) filed July 29,
2013).

3.21 † — Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP Holdings LLC dated effective as of August 19, 2021.

4.1 — Indenture dated September 25, 2002 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002).

4.2 — Sixth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.70% Senior Notes due 2036) dated May 12, 2006 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the
Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed May 12, 2006).

4.3 — Tenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.650% Senior Notes due 2037) dated October 30, 2006 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance
Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-
K filed October 30, 2006).

4.4 — Twentieth Supplemental Indenture (3.65% Senior Notes due 2022) dated March 22, 2012 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).

4.5 — Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture (5.15% Senior Notes due 2042) dated March 22, 2012 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).
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4.6 — Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture (2.85% Senior Notes due 2023) dated December 10, 2012, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp.
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 2012).

4.7 — Twenty-Third Supplemental Indenture (4.30% Senior Notes due 2043) dated December 10, 2012, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 2012).

4.8 — Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture (3.85% Senior Notes due 2023) dated August 15, 2013, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 15, 2013).

4.9 — Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture (4.70% Senior Notes due 2044) dated April 23, 2014, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2014).

4.10 — Twenty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture (3.60% Senior Notes due 2024) dated September 9, 2014, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 11, 2014).

4.11 — Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture (4.90% Senior Notes due 2045) dated December 9, 2014, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 11, 2014).

4.12 — Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture (4.65% Senior Notes due 2025) dated August 24, 2015, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 26, 2015).

4.13 — Thirtieth Supplemental Indenture (4.50% Senior Notes due 2026) dated November 22, 2016, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 29, 2016).

4.14 — Thirty-First Supplemental Indenture (3.55% Senior Notes due 2029) dated September 16, 2019, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 17, 2019).

4.15 — Thirty-Second Supplemental Indenture (3.80% Senior Notes due 2030) dated June 11, 2020, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 11, 2020).

4.16 — Registration Rights Agreement dated September 3, 2009 by and between Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and Vulcan Gas Storage LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-3, File No. 333-162477).

4.17 — Registration Rights Agreement dated as of January 28, 2016 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and the Purchasers named therein (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 2, 2016).

4.18 — Registration Rights Agreement by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and the Holders defined therein, dated November 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2016).

4.19 † — Description of Our Securities.

10.1 — Credit Agreement dated as of August 20, 2021, among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; certain subsidiaries of Plains
All American Pipeline, L.P. from time to time party thereto, as Designated Borrowers; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender; Bank of
America, N.A., Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as L/C Issuers; and the other Lenders party thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 26, 2021).
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10.2 — Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 20, 2021, among Plains Marketing, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Plains
All American Pipeline, L.P., as guarantor; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Swing Line Lender; Bank of America, N.A., Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as L/C Issuers; and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 26, 2021).

10.3 — Contribution and Assumption Agreement dated December 28, 2007, by and between Plains AAP, L.P. and PAA GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

10.4 — Omnibus Agreement by and among PAA GP Holdings LLC, Plains GP Holdings, L.P., Plains All American GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P., PAA GP LLC, and Plains All
American Pipeline, L.P., dated November 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 21, 2016).

10.5 — Amended and Restated Administrative Agreement by and among PAA GP Holdings LLC, Plains GP Holdings, L.P., Plains All American GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P.,
PAA GP LLC, and Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., dated November 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
November 21, 2016).

10.6** — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong dated as of June 30, 2001 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

10.7** — First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2008 between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.8** — Waiver Agreement dated as of December 23, 2010 between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

10.9** — Waiver Agreement dated October 21, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated June 30, 2001 of Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.10** — Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated effective October 1, 2018 between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018).

10.11** — Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated effective January 1, 2020 between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L. Armstrong (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.31 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

10.12**† — Amendment No. 1 to Third Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated effective December 31, 2021 between Plains All American GP LLC and Greg L.
Armstrong.

10.13** — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Harry N. Pefanis dated as of June 30, 2001 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

10.14** — First Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated December 4, 2008 between Plains All American GP LLC and Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.15** — Amendment No. 2 dated August 15, 2019 to Harry Pefanis Amended and Restated Employment Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019).

10.16** — Waiver Agreement dated as of December 23, 2010 between Plains All American GP LLC and Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).
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10.17** — Waiver Agreement dated October 21, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated June 30, 2001 of Harry N. Pefanis (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.18** — Employment Agreement between Plains All American GP LLC and Willie Chiang dated July 10, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015).

10.19** — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated effective October 1, 2018 between Plains All American GP LLC and Willie Chiang (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.7 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018).

10.20** — First Amendment to Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement dated August 25, 2016 (Willie Chiang) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016).

10.21** — Second Amendment dated March 22, 2018 to Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement (Willie Chiang) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018).

10.22** — LTIP Grant Letter dated August 16, 2018 (Willie Chiang) incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2018).

10.23** — Plains All American 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to our Definitive Proxy Statement filed on April 12, 2021).

10.24** — Plains All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to our Definitive Proxy Statement filed on October 3, 2013).

10.25** — Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (333-193139) filed
December 31, 2013).

10.26** — PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PNG’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 11, 2010).

10.27** — Plains GP Holdings, L.P. Long Term Incentive Plan, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to PAGP’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.28** — Form of Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

10.29** — Form of Amendment to the Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement, dated October 18, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).

10.30** — Form of Amendment to Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement dated August 25, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to our Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed November 8, 2016).

10.31** — Form of First Amendment dated March 22, 2018 to Amended and Restated Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement dated August 25, 2016 (Officers)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018).

10.32** — Form of Director LTIP Grant Letter (August 2018) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).

10.33** — Director LTIP Grant Letter (December 2018) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018).

10.34** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated August 15, 2019 (Officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2019).

10.35** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated August 15, 2019 (Directors) (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2019).

10.36** — Director LTIP Grant Letter (January 2020) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019).
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10.37** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated August 13, 2020 (Officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2020).

10.38** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated August 13, 2020 (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2020).

10.39** — Form of Special Retention LTIP Grant Letter dated November 20, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2020).

10.40** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated December 21, 2017 (Goebel) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2020).

10.41** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated May 1, 2018 (Chandler) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020).

10.42** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated August 19, 2021 (Named Executive Officers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2021).

10.43** — Form of LTIP Grant Letter dated August 19, 2021 (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2021).

21.1 † — List of Subsidiaries of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.

23.1 † — Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31.1 † — Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).

31.2 † — Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).

32.1 †† — Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

32.2 †† — Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

101. INS† — XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH† — Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL† — Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF† — Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB† — Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE† — Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104† — Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

†    Filed herewith.

††    Furnished herewith.

*    Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.

**    Management compensatory plan or arrangement.

Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized.

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.

By: PAA GP LLC,
its general partner

By: Plains AAP, L.P.,
its sole member

By: PLAINS ALL AMERICAN GP LLC,
its general partner

By: /s/ Willie Chiang
Willie Chiang,
Chief Executive Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 28, 2022

By: /s/ Al Swanson
Al Swanson,
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 28, 2022

By: /s/ Chris Herbold
Chris Herbold,
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Accounting Officer)

February 28, 2022
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ Willie Chiang Chairman of the Board of PAA GP Holdings LLC and Chief Executive Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 28, 2022
Willie Chiang

/s/ Harry N. Pefanis Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC and President of Plains All American GP LLC February 28, 2022
Harry N. Pefanis

/s/ Al Swanson Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Plains All American GP LLC (Principal Financial Officer) February 28, 2022
Al Swanson

/s/ Chris Herbold Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting Officer of Plains All American GP LLC (Principal
Accounting Officer)

February 28, 2022
Chris Herbold

/s/ Greg L. Armstrong Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Greg L. Armstrong

/s/ Victor Burk Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Victor Burk

/s/ Kevin McCarthy Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Kevin McCarthy

/s/ Gary R. Petersen Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Gary R. Petersen

/s/ Alexandra D. Pruner Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Alexandra D. Pruner

/s/ John T. Raymond Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
John T. Raymond

/s/ Bobby S. Shackouls Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Bobby S. Shackouls

/s/ Christopher M. Temple Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Christopher M. Temple

/s/ Lawrence M. Ziemba Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC February 28, 2022
Lawrence M. Ziemba
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
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9. Investments in Unconsolidated Entities F-31
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14. Leases F-48
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17. Related Party Transactions F-54
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.

Internal control over financial reporting has inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporting is a process that involves human diligence and compliance and is subject to lapses in
judgment and breakdowns resulting from human failures. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper management override. Because of such limitations,
there is a risk that material misstatements may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis by internal control over financial reporting. However, these inherent limitations are known features of the
financial reporting process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards to reduce, though not eliminate, this risk.

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled "Internal Control—Integrated Framework” (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission ("COSO”) to evaluate the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded that the Partnership’s internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on Page F-3.

 
/s/ Willie Chiang
Willie Chiang
Chief Executive Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Al Swanson
Al Swanson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Plains All American GP LLC
(Principal Financial Officer)

February 28, 2022
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors of PAA GP Holdings LLC and Unitholders of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and its subsidiaries (the "Partnership”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income (loss), of changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss), of changes in partners' capital and of cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Partnership's internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework  (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of
its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in
our opinion, the Partnership maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework  (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Partnership's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Partnership’s
consolidated financial statements and on the Partnership's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Accounting for the Oryx Midstream Holdings LLC Business Combination

As described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, in October 2021, the Partnership and Oryx Midstream Holdings LLC ("Oryx Midstream”), completed the merger, in a cashless, debt-free
transaction, of their respective Permian Basin assets, operations and commercial activities into a newly formed strategic joint venture, Plains Oryx Permian Basin LLC (the "Permian JV”). The Permian JV
includes all of Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin assets and, with the exception of the Partnership’s long-haul pipeline systems and certain of the intra-basin terminal assets, the vast majority of the
Partnership’s assets located within the Permian Basin. The Partnership owns 65% of Permian JV, operates the combined assets and reflects Permian JV as a consolidated subsidiary in the consolidated
financial statements. The formation of the joint venture was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. As the majority owner and the controlling entity, the
Partnership is considered the acquirer and the transfer of the predecessor business to the joint venture was accounted for at historical cost, while the Oryx Midstream predecessor business was
recorded based on the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the fair value of Oryx Midstream’s ownership interest in the joint
venture following the formation of $3.256 billion is utilized as the consideration transferred for the purchase price allocation. The fair value of the $3.256 billion consideration is a Level 3 measurement in
the fair value hierarchy and was determined by valuing both the enterprise value of Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin business and the enterprise value of the Partnership’s Permian Basin assets that
were contributed to the joint venture. The enterprise value of Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin business was calculated by weighting the results of (i) a discounted cash flow ("DCF”) approach and (ii) a
guideline public company method ("GPCM”). The DCF approach utilized a discount rate based on the estimate of the risk that a theoretical market participant would assign to the business. The
projection of future crude volumes gathered and transported was also a key assumption in the DCF approach and was based on projected rig activity on the associated acreage. The fair value of the
intangible assets was determined by applying a discounted cash flow approach. Such approach utilized a discount rate based on the estimate of the risk that a theoretical market participant would assign
to the respective intangible assets. The projection of future crude volumes gathered and transported was also a key assumption in the valuation of the intangible assets and was based on projected rig
activity on the associated acreage. The fair value of intangible assets is comprised of customer relationships with an assigned value of $1.247 billion.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the accounting for the Oryx Midstream business combination is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant
judgment by management when determining the fair value of the consideration transferred for the Oryx Midstream Permian Basin business and the customer relationships, which in turn led to a high
degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to future crude volumes gathered and transported and the
discount rates used in the valuation of the consideration transferred for the Oryx Midstream Permian Basin business and the customer relationships; and (ii) the audit effort involved the use of
professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures
included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to acquisition accounting, including controls over management’s valuation of the consideration transferred and the customer relationships, and
controls over the determination of the significant assumptions. These procedures also included, among others (i) reading the transaction agreement and (ii) testing management’s process for
determining the fair value of the consideration transferred for the Oryx Midstream Permian Basin business and the customer relationships. Testing management’s process included evaluating the
appropriateness of the valuation methods, testing the completeness and accuracy of data provided by management, and evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions related to future
crude volumes gathered and transported and the discount rates used in the valuation of the consideration transferred for the Oryx Midstream Permian Basin business and the customer relationships.
Evaluating the reasonableness of the future crude volumes gathered and transported involved considering (i) the consistency with external market and industry data and (ii) the past performance of the
Oryx Midstream Permian Basin business. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in evaluating the appropriateness of the valuation methods and the reasonableness of
the discount rate significant assumption.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Houston, Texas
February 28, 2022
We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 1998.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except unit data)

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 449 $ 22 
Restricted cash 4 38 
Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net 4,705 2,553 
Inventory 783 647 
Other current assets 196 405 

Total current assets 6,137 3,665 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 19,257 18,585 
Accumulated depreciation (4,354) (3,974)

Property and equipment, net 14,903 14,611 

OTHER ASSETS
Investments in unconsolidated entities 3,805 3,764 
Intangible assets, net 1,960 805 
Linefill and base gas 907 982 
Long-term operating lease right-of-use assets, net 393 378 
Long-term inventory 253 130 
Other long-term assets, net 251 162 

Total assets $ 28,609 $ 24,497 

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade accounts payable $ 4,810 $ 2,437 
Short-term debt 822 831 
Other current liabilities 600 985 

Total current liabilities 6,232 4,253 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Senior notes, net 8,329 9,071 
Other long-term debt, net 69 311 
Long-term operating lease liabilities 339 317 
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits 830 807 

Total long-term liabilities 9,567 10,506 

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (NOTE 19)

PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
Series A preferred unitholders (71,090,468 and 71,090,468 units outstanding, respectively) 1,505 1,505 
Series B preferred unitholders (800,000 and 800,000 units outstanding, respectively) 787 787 
Common unitholders (704,991,540 and 722,380,416 units outstanding, respectively) 7,680 7,301 

Total partners’ capital excluding noncontrolling interests 9,972 9,593 
Noncontrolling interests 2,838 145 

Total partners’ capital 12,810 9,738 
Total liabilities and partners’ capital $ 28,609 $ 24,497 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in millions, except per unit data)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

REVENUES
Product sales revenues $ 40,883 $ 22,058 $ 32,272 
Services revenues 1,195 1,232 1,397 

Total revenues 42,078 23,290 33,669 

COSTS AND EXPENSES
Purchases and related costs 38,504 20,431 29,452 
Field operating costs 1,065 1,076 1,303 
General and administrative expenses 292 271 297 
Depreciation and amortization 774 653 601 
(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net (Note 6, Note 7) 592 719 28 
Goodwill impairment losses (Note 8) — 2,515 — 

Total costs and expenses 41,227 25,665 31,681 

OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS) 851 (2,375) 1,988 

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities 274 355 388 
Gain on/(impairment of) investments in unconsolidated entities, net (Note 9) 2 (182) 271 
Interest expense (net of capitalized interest of $18, $24 and $34, respectively) (425) (436) (425)
Other income, net 19 39 24 

INCOME/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 721 (2,599) 2,246 
Current income tax expense (50) (51) (112)
Deferred income tax (expense)/benefit (23) 70 46 

NET INCOME/(LOSS) 648 (2,580) 2,180 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (55) (10) (9)

NET INCOME/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO PAA $ 593 $ (2,590) $ 2,171 

NET INCOME/(LOSS) PER COMMON UNIT (NOTE 4):
Net income/(loss) allocated to common unitholders — Basic $ 393 $ (2,790) $ 1,967 
Basic weighted average common units outstanding 716 728 727 
Basic net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.55 $ (3.83) $ 2.70 

Net income/(loss) allocated to common unitholders — Diluted $ 393 $ (2,790) $ 2,119 
Diluted weighted average common units outstanding 716 728 800 
Diluted net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.55 $ (3.83) $ 2.65 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

(in millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Net income/(loss) $ 648 $ (2,580) $ 2,180 
Other comprehensive income 65 15 97 
Comprehensive income/(loss) 713 (2,565) 2,277 

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (55) (10) (9)
Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to PAA $ 658 $ (2,575) $ 2,268 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)
(in millions)

Derivative
Instruments

Translation
Adjustments Other Total

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (177) $ (853) $ — $ (1,030)

Reclassification adjustments 9 — — 9 
Unrealized loss on hedges (91) — — (91)
Currency translation adjustments — 179 — 179 

2019 Activity (82) 179 — 97 
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ (259) $ (674) $ — $ (933)

Reclassification adjustments 11 — — 11 
Unrealized loss on hedges (10) — — (10)
Currency translation adjustments — 17 — 17 
Other — — (3) (3)

2020 Activity 1 17 (3) 15 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ (258) $ (657) $ (3) $ (918)

Reclassification adjustments 31 — — 31 
Unrealized gain on hedges 19 — — 19 
Currency translation adjustments — 15 — 15 

2021 Activity 50 15 — 65 
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (208) $ (642) $ (3) $ (853)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)
Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income/(loss) $ 648 $ (2,580) $ 2,180 
Reconciliation of net income/(loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 774 653 601 
(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net (Note 6, Note 7) 592 719 28 
Goodwill impairment losses (Note 8) — 2,515 — 
Equity-indexed compensation expense 23 15 34 
Inventory valuation adjustments (Note 5) — 233 11 
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) 23 (70) (46)
Settlement of terminated interest rate hedging instruments — (100) (55)
Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities (274) (355) (388)
Distributions on earnings from unconsolidated entities 431 472 401 
(Gain on)/impairment of investments in unconsolidated entities, net (Note 9) (2) 182 (271)
Other 8 (12) 21 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Trade accounts receivable and other (2,179) 1,432 (1,158)
Inventory (18) (304) (5)
Trade accounts payable and other 1,970 (1,286) 1,151 

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,996 1,514 2,504 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash paid in connection with acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 7) (32) (310) (50)
Investments in unconsolidated entities (Note 9) (94) (461) (524)
Additions to property, equipment and other (336) (738) (1,181)
Proceeds from sales of assets (Note 7) 881 429 77 
Other investing activities (33) (13) (87)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 386 (1,093) (1,765)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings/(repayments) under commercial paper program (Note 11) (545) 456 93 
Net borrowings/(repayments) under senior secured hedged inventory facility (Note 11) (167) (160) 325 
Repayment of GO Zone term loans (Note 11) (200) — — 
Proceeds from the issuance of senior notes (Note 11) — 748 998 
Repayments of senior notes (Note 11) — (617) (1,000)
Repurchase of common units (Note 12) (178) (50) — 
Distributions paid to Series A preferred unitholders (Note 12) (149) (149) (149)
Distributions paid to Series B preferred unitholders (Note 12) (49) (49) (49)
Distributions paid to common unitholders (Note 12) (517) (655) (1,004)
Sale of noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary (Note 12) — — 128 
Other financing activities (179) 41 (62)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,984) (435) (720)
Effect of translation adjustment (5) (8) (3)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 393 (22) 16 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 60 82 66 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 453 $ 60 $ 82 

Cash paid for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 401 $ 428 $ 397 
Income taxes, net of amounts refunded $ 76 $ 111 $ 136 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

(in millions)

Limited Partners Partners’ Capital
Excluding

Noncontrolling
Interests

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Partners’
Capital

Preferred Unitholders Common
UnitholdersSeries A Series B

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 1,505 $ 787 $ 9,710 $ 12,002 $ — $ 12,002 

Net income 149 49 1,973 2,171 9 2,180 
Distributions (Note 12) (149) (49) (1,004) (1,202) (6) (1,208)
Other comprehensive income — — 97 97 — 97 
Equity-indexed compensation expense — — 17 17 — 17 
Sale of noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary (Note 12) — — (2) (2) 130 128 
Other — — (21) (21) — (21)

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 1,505 $ 787 $ 10,770 $ 13,062 $ 133 $ 13,195 

Net income/(loss) 149 49 (2,788) (2,590) 10 (2,580)
Distributions (Note 12) (149) (49) (655) (853) (10) (863)
Other comprehensive income — — 15 15 — 15 
Equity-indexed compensation expense — — 19 19 — 19 
Repurchase of common units (Note 12) — — (50) (50) — (50)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests (Note 12) — — — — 12 12 
Other — — (10) (10) — (10)

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 1,505 $ 787 $ 7,301 $ 9,593 $ 145 $ 9,738 

Net income 149 49 395 593 55 648 
Distributions (Note 12) (149) (49) (517) (715) (14) (729)
Other comprehensive income — — 65 65 — 65 
Equity-indexed compensation expense — — 19 19 — 19 
Repurchase of common units (Note 12) — — (178) (178) — (178)
Contributions from noncontrolling interests (Note 12) — — — — 1 1 
Plains Oryx Permian Basin LLC joint venture formation (Note 7) — — 605 605 2,651 3,256 
Other — — (10) (10) — (10)

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 1,505 $ 787 $ 7,680 $ 9,972 $ 2,838 $ 12,810 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Organization and Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

Organization

Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. ("PAA”) is a Delaware limited partnership formed in 1998. Our operations are conducted directly and indirectly through our primary operating subsidiaries. As
used in this Form 10-K and unless the context indicates otherwise, the terms "Partnership,” "we,” "us,” "our,” "ours” and similar terms refer to PAA and its subsidiaries.

Our business model integrates large-scale supply aggregation capabilities with the ownership and operation of critical midstream infrastructure systems that connect major producing regions to
key demand centers and export terminals. As one of the largest midstream service providers in North America, we own an extensive network of pipeline transportation, terminalling, storage and gathering
assets in key crude oil and natural gas liquids ("NGL”) producing basins (including the Permian Basin) and transportation corridors and at major market hubs in the United States and Canada. Our assets
and the services we provide are primarily focused on and conducted through two operating segments: Crude Oil and NGL. See Note 20 for further discussion of our operating segments.

Our non-economic general partner interest is held by PAA GP LLC ("PAA GP”), a Delaware limited liability company, whose sole member is Plains AAP, L.P. ("AAP”), a Delaware limited
partnership. In addition to its ownership of PAA GP, as of December 31, 2021, AAP also owned a limited partner interest in us through its ownership of approximately 241.5 million of our common units
(approximately 31% of our total outstanding common units and Series A preferred units combined). Plains All American GP LLC ("GP LLC”), a Delaware limited liability company, is AAP’s general
partner. Plains GP Holdings, L.P. ("PAGP”) is the sole and managing member of GP LLC, and, at December 31, 2021, owned an approximate 81% limited partner interest in AAP. PAA GP Holdings LLC
("PAGP GP”) is the general partner of PAGP.

As the sole member of GP LLC, PAGP has responsibility for conducting our business and managing our operations; however, the board of directors of PAGP GP has ultimate responsibility for
managing the business and affairs of PAGP, AAP and us. GP LLC employs our domestic officers and personnel; our Canadian officers and personnel are employed by our subsidiary, Plains Midstream
Canada ULC.

References to the "PAGP Entities” include PAGP GP, PAGP, GP LLC, AAP and PAA GP. References to our "general partner,” as the context requires, include any or all of the PAGP Entities.
References to the "Plains Entities” include us, our subsidiaries and the PAGP Entities.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Definitions

Additional defined terms are used in the following notes and shall have the meanings indicated below:
AOCI = Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
ASC = Accounting Standards Codification
ASU = Accounting Standards Update
Bcf = Billion cubic feet
Btu = British thermal unit
CAD = Canadian dollar
CODM = Chief Operating Decision Maker
DERs = Distribution equivalent rights
EBITDA = Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
EPA = United States Environmental Protection Agency
FASB = Financial Accounting Standards Board
GAAP = Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
ICE = Intercontinental Exchange
ISDA = International Swaps and Derivatives Association
LIBOR = London Interbank Offered Rate
LTIP = Long-term incentive plan
Mcf = Thousand cubic feet
MMbls = Million barrels
MLP = Master limited partnership
NGL = Natural gas liquids, including ethane, propane and butane
NYMEX = New York Mercantile Exchange
SEC = United States Securities and Exchange Commission
TWh = Terawatt hour
U.S. = United States
USD = United States dollar
WTI = West Texas Intermediate

Basis of Consolidation and Presentation

The accompanying financial statements and related notes present and discuss our consolidated financial position as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the consolidated results of our
operations, cash flows, changes in partners’ capital, comprehensive income and changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. All
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in consolidation, and certain reclassifications have been made to information from previous years to conform to the current presentation, as
discussed further below.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PAA and all of its wholly owned subsidiaries and those entities that it controls. Investments in entities over which
we have significant influence but not control are accounted for by the equity method. We apply proportionate consolidation for pipelines and other assets in which we own undivided joint interests.

F-12



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reclassification of Prior Period Information

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we effected changes in the primary financial information provided to our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM”) (our Chief Executive Officer) for
assessing performance and allocating resources to present two operating segments, Crude Oil and NGL. Prior to the fourth quarter of 2021, this information was organized into three operating segments:
Transportation, Facilities and Supply and Logistics. See Note 20 for further discussion of our operating segments. In connection with this change, we changed the presentation of Revenues on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations. "Product sales revenues” include amounts that were previously presented as "Supply and Logistics segment revenues,” while "Services revenues” includes
amounts previously presented as "Transportation segment revenues” and "Facilities segment revenues.”

In October 2021, we and Oryx Midstream Holdings LLC ("Oryx Midstream”) completed the merger, in a cashless, debt-free transaction, of our respective Permian Basin assets, operations and
commercial activities into a newly formed joint venture, Plains Oryx Permian Basin LLC (the "Permian JV”). See Note 7 for more details regarding this transaction. Due to the increase in intangible assets
associated with this transaction, we present "Intangible assets, net” as a separate line item on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Such amounts were previously reported in "Other long-term assets, net”
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

COVID-19

Many uncertainties remain with respect to the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19”) pandemic, including uncertainty regarding the length of time the pandemic will continue, as well as the timing,
pace and extent of an economic recovery in the United States, Canada and elsewhere, and how such uncertainties will impact the energy industry and our business. As a result, these matters may affect
our estimates and assumptions on amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes in the near term.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluated through the financial statements issuance date and have been included in the following footnotes where applicable.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Such estimates and assumptions also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. We make significant estimates with respect to (i) estimated fair value of assets and liabilities acquired and identification of associated goodwill and intangible assets, (ii) fair value of derivatives,
(iii) accruals and contingent liabilities, (iv) property and equipment, depreciation and amortization expense and asset retirement obligations, (v) impairment assessments of property and equipment,
investments in unconsolidated entities and intangible assets and (vi) inventory valuations. Although we believe these estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from these estimates.

Purchases and Related Costs

Purchases and related costs include (i) the weighted average cost of crude oil and NGL sold to customers, (ii) fees incurred for storage and transportation, whether by pipeline, truck or rail and
(iii) performance-related bonus costs. These costs are recognized when incurred except in the case of products sold, which are recognized at the time title transfers to our customers. Inventory
exchanges under buy/sell transactions are presented net in "Purchases and related costs” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Field Operating Costs and General and Administrative Expenses

Field operating costs consist of various field operating expenses, including payroll, compensation and benefits costs for operations personnel; fuel and power costs (including the impact of
gains and losses from derivative related activities); third-party trucking transportation costs for our U.S. crude oil operations; maintenance and integrity management costs; regulatory compliance;
environmental remediation; insurance; costs for usage of third-party owned pipeline, rail and storage assets; vehicle leases; and property taxes. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of
payroll, compensation and benefits costs; certain information systems and legal costs; office rent; contract and consultant costs; and audit and tax fees.

Foreign Currency Transactions/Translation

Certain of our subsidiaries use the Canadian dollar as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities of subsidiaries with a Canadian dollar functional currency are translated at period-end rates
of exchange, and revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates prevailing for each month. The resulting translation adjustments are made directly to a separate component of other
comprehensive income, which is reflected in Partners’ Capital on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain of our subsidiaries also enter into transactions and have monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in a currency other than the entities’ respective functional currencies. Gains
and losses from the revaluation of foreign currency transactions and monetary assets and liabilities are generally included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. However, gains and losses
arising from intercompany foreign currency transactions that are of a long-term investment nature are reported in the same manner as translation adjustments. For the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, the revaluation of foreign currency transactions and monetary assets and liabilities resulted in the recognitions of net gains of $7 million, $16 million and $1 million, respectively, in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all unrestricted demand deposits and funds invested in highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less and typically exceed
federally insured limits. We periodically assess the financial condition of the institutions where these funds are held and believe that our credit risk is minimal.

In accordance with our policy, unless they may be covered by funds on deposit, outstanding checks are classified as trade accounts payable rather than negative cash. As of December 31,
2021 and 2020, trade accounts payable included $19 million and $27 million, respectively, of outstanding checks that were reclassified from cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted cash includes cash held by us that is unavailable for general use and is comprised of amounts advanced to us by certain equity method investees related to the construction of fixed
assets where we serve as construction manager. The following table presents a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported on our Consolidated Balance Sheets that sum to
the total of the amounts shown on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 449 $ 22 
Restricted cash 4 38 

Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 453 $ 60 

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interest represents the portion of assets and liabilities in a consolidated subsidiary that is owned by a third party. FASB guidance requires all entities to report noncontrolling
interests in subsidiaries as a component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. See Note 12 for additional discussion regarding our noncontrolling interests.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

FASB guidance establishes accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible long-lived assets, including estimates related to (i) the time of the liability recognition,
(ii) initial measurement of the liability, (iii) allocation of asset retirement cost to expense, (iv) subsequent measurement of the liability and (v) financial statement disclosures. FASB guidance also requires
that the cost for asset retirement should be capitalized as part of the cost of the related long-lived asset and subsequently allocated to expense using a systematic and rational method.

Some of our assets, primarily our pipelines, certain processing and fractionation facilities and terminals assets, have contractual or regulatory obligations to perform remediation and, in some
instances, dismantlement and removal activities when the assets are abandoned. These obligations include varying levels of activity including disconnecting inactive assets from active assets, cleaning
and purging assets, and in some cases, completely removing the assets and returning the land to its original state. These assets have been in existence for many years and with regular maintenance will
continue to be in service for many years to come. It is not possible to predict when demand for these transportation, storage or other services will cease, and we do not believe that such demand will
cease for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, we believe the date when these assets will be abandoned is indeterminate. With no reasonably determinable abandonment date, we cannot reasonably
estimate the fair value of the associated asset retirement obligations. We will record asset retirement obligations for these assets in the period in which sufficient information becomes available for us to
reasonably estimate the settlement dates.

A small portion of our contractual or regulatory obligations is related to assets that are inactive or that we plan to take out of service and, although the ultimate timing and costs to settle these
obligations are not known with certainty, we have recorded a reasonable estimate of these obligations. The following table presents the change in the liability for asset retirement obligations,
substantially all of which is reflected in "Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Beginning balance $ 135 $ 137 $ 109 
Liabilities incurred 2 12 3 
Liabilities settled (1) (1) (3)
Accretion expense 4 5 5 
Revisions in estimated cash flows 3 (18) 23 

Ending balance $ 143 $ 135 $ 137 

Fair Value Measurements

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Our assessment of the significance of a particular
input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, which affects the placement of assets and liabilities within the fair value hierarchy levels. The determination of the fair values includes not only the
credit standing of the counterparties involved and the impact of credit enhancements (such as cash deposits and letters of credit) but also the impact of our nonperformance risk on our liabilities. The
fair value of our commodity derivatives, interest rate derivatives and foreign currency derivatives includes adjustments for credit risk. Our credit adjustment methodology uses market observable inputs
and requires judgment. There were no changes to any of our valuation techniques during the period. See Note 13 for further discussion.

Other Significant Accounting Policies

See the respective footnotes for our accounting policies regarding (i) revenues and accounts receivable, (ii) net income/(loss) per common unit, (iii) inventory, linefill and base gas and long-term
inventory, (iv) property and equipment, (v) acquisitions, (vi) goodwill, (vii) investments in unconsolidated entities, (viii) intangible assets, (ix) income allocation for partners’ capital presentation
purposes, (x) derivatives and risk management activities, (xi) leases, (xii) income taxes, (xiii) equity-indexed compensation and (xiv) legal and environmental matters.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers. This guidance
requires that an acquirer recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as if it
had originated the contracts. The guidance is effective prospectively for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. We have not adopted this
guidance as of December 31, 2021, but do not anticipate that our adoption will have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In July 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-05, Lessors - Certain Leases with Variable Lease Payments (Topic 842) which modifies the lease classification requirements for lessors in Topic 842,
which we adopted on the effective date of January 1, 2019. The amendments require lessors to classify and account for a lease with variable lease payments that do not depend on a reference index or a
rate as an operating lease at lease commencement if another classification (i.e., sales-type or direct financing) would result in the recognition of a day-one loss. For entities that have adopted Topic 842,
the guidance is effective for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. We have elected to early adopt the guidance
on a prospective basis as of July 1, 2021. Our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity
(Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and
equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity’s own equity, by eliminating two of the three models that require separate accounting for embedded conversion features and the
settlement assessment that entities are required to perform to determine whether a contract qualifies for equity classification. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted. We adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2021, and our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting, which provides optional
expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of
reference rate reform. This guidance is effective prospectively upon issuance through December 31, 2022 and may be applied from the beginning of an interim period that includes the issuance date of
this ASU. We will apply applicable expedients and exceptions to contract modifications through December 31, 2022.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, to simplify the accounting for income taxes based on changes
suggested by stakeholders as part of the FASB’s simplification initiative. This guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. We
adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2021, and our adoption did not have a material impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Note 3—Revenues and Accounts Receivable

Revenue Recognition

We disaggregate our revenues by segment and type of activity. These categories depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenues and cash flows are affected by economic
factors.

Revenues from Contracts with Customers. The following tables present our revenues from contracts with customers disaggregated by segment and type of activity (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Crude Oil segment revenues from contracts with customers
Sales $ 39,635 $ 21,250 $ 30,156 
Transportation 484 570 722 
Terminalling, Storage and Other 431 507 505 

Total Crude Oil segment revenues from contracts with customers $ 40,550 $ 22,327 $ 31,383 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

NGL segment revenues from contracts with customers
Sales $ 2,292 $ 1,350 $ 2,211 
Transportation 25 29 32 
Terminalling, Storage and Other 82 96 80 

Total NGL segment revenues from contracts with customers $ 2,399 $ 1,475 $ 2,323 

Sales Revenues. Revenues from sales of crude oil and NGL are recognized at the time title to the product sold transfers to the purchaser, which occurs upon delivery of the product to the
purchaser or its designee. The consideration received under these contracts is variable based on commodity prices. Inventory exchanges under buy/sell transactions are excluded from sales revenues in
our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In addition, we have certain crude oil sales agreements that are entered into in conjunction with storage arrangements and future inventory exchanges. The revenues under these agreements
are deferred until all performance obligations associated with the related agreements are completed. The inventory that has been sold under these crude oil sales agreements is reflected in "Other current
assets” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet until all of our performance obligations are complete. At that time, the inventory that has been sold is removed from our Consolidated Balance Sheet and
recorded as "Purchases and related costs” in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. See "Contract Balances” below for further discussion of contract liabilities associated with these agreements.
The following table presents amounts in Other current assets and deferred revenue associated with these agreements (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020

Other current assets $ — $ 229 
Deferred revenue $ — $ 361 

Included in "Other current liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

We may also utilize derivatives in connection with the transactions described above. Derivative revenue is not included as a component of revenue from contracts with customers, but is
included in other items in revenue. The change in the fair value of derivatives that are not designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting is recognized in revenues each period.

(1)

(1)
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Transportation Revenues. Transportation revenues include revenues from transporting crude oil and NGL on pipelines and trucks. Revenues from pipeline tariffs and fees are associated with
the transportation of crude oil and NGL at a published tariff. We primarily recognize pipeline tariff and fee revenues over time as services are rendered, based on the volumes transported. As is common
in the pipeline transportation industry, our tariffs incorporate a loss allowance factor. We recognize the allowance volumes collected as part of the transaction price and record this non-cash
consideration at fair value, measured as of the contract inception date.

Terminalling, Storage and Other Revenues. Revenues in this category include (i) fees that are generated when we receive liquids from one connecting source and deliver the applicable product
to another connecting carrier, (ii) fees from storage capacity agreements, (iii) fees from loading and unloading services at our terminals and (iv) fees from natural gas and condensate processing services
and from NGL fractionation and isomerization service. We generate revenue through a combination of month-to-month and multi-year agreements and processing arrangements. Storage fees are
typically recognized in revenue ratably over the term of the contract regardless of the actual storage capacity utilized as our performance obligation is to make available storage capacity for a period of
time. Terminal fees (including throughput and loading/unloading fees) are recognized as the liquids enter or exit the terminal and are received from or delivered to the connecting carrier or third-party
terminal, as applicable. We recognize loading and unloading fees when the volumes are delivered or received. Natural gas storage related activities fees were recognized in the period the natural gas
moved across our header system. Fees from NGL fractionation and isomerization services and gas processing services are recognized in the period when the services are performed.

Reconciliation to Total Revenues of Reportable Segments. The following disclosures only include information regarding revenues associated with consolidated entities; revenues from entities
accounted for by the equity method are not included. The following tables present the reconciliation of our revenues from contracts with customers (as described above for each segment) to segment
revenues and total revenues as disclosed in our Consolidated Statements of Operations (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Crude Oil NGL Total
Revenues from contracts with customers $ 40,550 $ 2,399 $ 42,949 
Other items in revenues (80) (431) (511)

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 40,470 $ 1,968 $ 42,438 
Intersegment revenues elimination (360)

Total revenues $ 42,078 

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Crude Oil NGL Total
Revenues from contracts with customers $ 22,327 $ 1,475 $ 23,802 
Other items in revenues (128) (115) (243)

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 22,199 $ 1,360 $ 23,559 
Intersegment revenues elimination (269)

Total revenues $ 23,290 

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Crude Oil NGL Total
Revenues from contracts with customers $ 31,383 $ 2,323 $ 33,706 
Other items in revenues 272 116 388 

Total revenues of reportable segments $ 31,655 $ 2,439 $ 34,094 
Intersegment revenues elimination (425)

Total revenues $ 33,669 
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Minimum Volume Commitments. We have certain agreements that require counterparties to transport or throughput a minimum volume over an agreed upon period. Some of these agreements
include make-up rights if the minimum volume is not met. We record a receivable from the counterparty in the period that services are provided or when the transaction occurs, including amounts for
deficiency obligations from counterparties associated with minimum volume commitments. If a counterparty has a make-up right associated with a deficiency, we defer the revenue attributable to the
counterparty’s make-up right as a contract liability and subsequently recognize the revenue at the earlier of when the deficiency volume is delivered or shipped, when the make-up right expires or when
it is determined that the counterparty’s ability to utilize the make-up right is remote.

The following table presents counterparty deficiencies associated with contracts with customers and buy/sell arrangements that include minimum volume commitments for which we had
remaining performance obligations and the customers still had the ability to meet their obligations (in millions):

December 31,
Counterparty Deficiencies Financial Statement Classification 2021 2020
Billed and collected Liability $ 63 $ 73 
Unbilled N/A 16 4 

Total $ 79 $ 77 

Amounts were related to deficiencies for which the counterparties had not met their contractual minimum commitments and are not reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements as we had
not yet billed or collected such amounts.

Contract Balances. Our contract balances consist of amounts received associated with services or sales for which we have not yet completed the related performance obligation. The following
table presents the changes in the liability balance associated with contracts with customers (in millions):

Contract Liabilities
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 354 

Amounts recognized as revenue (246)
Additions 393 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 501 
Amounts recognized as revenue (393)
Additions 33 

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 141 

Includes approximately $155 million associated with crude oil sales agreements that were entered into in conjunction with storage arrangements and future inventory exchanges. Such
agreements were entered into in 2019 and recognized as revenue in the first quarter of 2020.

Includes approximately $361 million associated with crude oil sales agreements that were entered into in conjunction with storage arrangements and future inventory exchanges. Such amount
was recognized as revenue in the first quarter of 2021.

(1)

(1)

(1)
(2)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Remaining Performance Obligations. The information below includes the amount of consideration allocated to partially and wholly unsatisfied remaining performance obligations under
contracts that exist as of the end of the periods and the timing of revenue recognition of those remaining performance obligations. Certain contracts meet the requirements for the presentation as
remaining performance obligations. These arrangements include a fixed minimum level of service, typically a set volume of service, and do not contain any variability other than expected timing within a
limited range. The following table presents the amount of consideration associated with remaining performance obligations for the population of contracts with external customers meeting the
presentation requirements as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
2027 and

Thereafter
Pipeline revenues supported by minimum volume commitments and capacity

agreements $ 179 $ 174 $ 158 $ 131 $ 86 $ 379 
Terminalling, storage and other agreement revenues 237 170 130 63 45 197 

Total $ 416 $ 344 $ 288 $ 194 $ 131 $ 576 

Calculated as volumes committed under contracts multiplied by the current applicable tariff rate.

The presentation above does not include (i) expected revenues from legacy shippers not underpinned by minimum volume commitments, including pipelines where there are no or limited
alternative pipeline transportation options, (ii) intersegment revenues and (iii) the amount of consideration associated with certain income generating contracts, which include a fixed minimum level of
service, that are either not within the scope of ASC 606 or do not meet the requirements for presentation as remaining performance obligations. The following are examples of contracts that are not
included in the table above because they are not within the scope of ASC 606 or do not meet the requirements for presentation:

• Minimum volume commitments on certain of our joint venture pipeline systems;

• Acreage dedications;

• Buy/sell arrangements with future committed volumes;

• Short-term contracts and those with variable consideration due to the election of practical expedients, as discussed below;

• Contracts within the scope of ASC Topic 842, Leases; and

• Contracts within the scope of ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging.

We have elected practical expedients to exclude the presentation of remaining performance obligations for variable consideration which relates to wholly unsatisfied performance obligations.
Certain contracts do not meet the requirements for presentation of remaining performance obligations due to variability in amount of performance obligation remaining, variability in the timing of
recognition or variability in consideration. Acreage dedications do require us to perform future services but do not contain a minimum level of services and are therefore excluded from this presentation.
Long-term merchant arrangements contain variable timing, volumes and/or consideration and are excluded from this presentation. The duration of these contracts varies across the periods presented
above.

Additionally, we have elected practical expedients to exclude contracts with terms of one year or less, and therefore exclude the presentation of remaining performance obligations for short-term
transportation, storage and processing services, merchant arrangements, including the non-cancelable period of evergreen arrangements, and any other types of arrangements with terms of one year or
less.

Trade Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables, Net
 

Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers and shippers of crude oil and, to a lesser extent, purchasers of NGL. These purchasers include, but are not limited to, refiners, producers,
marketing and trading companies and financial institutions. The majority of our accounts receivable relate to our crude oil merchant activities that can generally be described as high volume and low
margin activities, in many cases involving exchanges of crude oil volumes.

(1)

(1)
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To mitigate credit risk related to our accounts receivable, we utilize a rigorous credit review process. We closely monitor market conditions and perform credit reviews of each customer to make
a determination with respect to the amount, if any, of open credit to be extended to any given customer and the form and amount of financial performance assurances we require. Such financial
assurances are commonly provided to us in the form of advance cash payments, standby letters of credit, credit insurance or parental guarantees. Additionally, in an effort to mitigate credit risk, a
significant portion of our transactions with counterparties are settled on a net-cash basis. For a majority of these net-cash arrangements, we also enter into netting agreements (contractual agreements
that allow us to offset receivables and payables with those counterparties against each other on our balance sheet).
 

Accounts receivable from the sale of crude oil are generally settled with counterparties on the industry settlement date, which is typically in the month following the month in which the title
transfers. Otherwise, we generally invoice customers within 30 days of when the products or services were provided and generally require payment within 30 days of the invoice date. We review all
outstanding accounts receivable balances on a monthly basis and record our receivables net of expected credit losses. We do not write-off accounts receivable balances until we have exhausted
substantially all collection efforts. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, substantially all of our trade accounts receivable were less than 30 days past their invoice date. Our expected credit losses are
immaterial. Although we consider our credit procedures to be adequate to mitigate any significant credit losses, the actual amount of current and future credit losses could vary significantly from
estimated amounts.

The following is a reconciliation of trade accounts receivable from revenues from contracts with customers to total Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net as presented on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020

Trade accounts receivable arising from revenues from contracts with customers $ 4,031 $ 2,317 
Other trade accounts receivables and other receivables 5,126 2,818 
Impact due to contractual rights of offset with counterparties (4,452) (2,582)

Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net $ 4,705 $ 2,553 

The balance is comprised primarily of accounts receivable associated with buy/sell arrangements that are not within the scope of ASC 606.

Note 4—Net Income/(Loss) Per Common Unit

After consideration of distributions to preferred unitholders (whether paid in cash or in-kind), basic and diluted net income/(loss) per common unit is determined pursuant to the two-class
method as prescribed in FASB guidance. This method is an earnings allocation formula that is used to determine allocations to our limited partners and participating securities according to distributions
pertaining to the current period’s net income and participation rights in undistributed earnings or distributions in excess of earnings. Under the two-class method, net income is reduced by distributions
pertaining to the period, and all remaining earnings or distributions in excess of earnings are then allocated to our common unitholders and participating securities based on their respective rights to
share in distributions, regardless of whether those earnings would actually be distributed during a particular period from an economic or practical perspective. Participating securities include equity-
indexed compensation plan awards that have vested DERs, which entitle the grantee to a cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on our outstanding common units.

We calculate basic and diluted net income/(loss) per common unit by dividing net income/(loss) attributable to PAA (after deducting amounts allocated to the preferred unitholders and
participating securities) by the basic and diluted weighted average number of common units outstanding during the period. Participating securities include equity-indexed compensation plan awards that
have vested distribution equivalent rights, which entitle the grantee to a cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on our outstanding common units.

The diluted weighted average number of common units is computed based on the weighted average number of common units plus the effect of potentially dilutive securities outstanding during
the period, which include (i) our Series A preferred units and (ii) our equity-indexed compensation plan awards. See Note 12 for additional information regarding our Series A preferred units. See Note 18
for a complete discussion of our equity-indexed compensation plan awards. When applying the if-converted method prescribed by FASB guidance, the possible conversion of approximately 71 million
Series A

(1)

(1)
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preferred units, on a weighted-average basis, were excluded from the calculation of diluted net income/(loss) per common unit for the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 as the effect was
antidilutive for both periods. Our equity-indexed compensation plan awards that contemplate the issuance of common units are considered potentially dilutive unless (i) they become vested only upon
the satisfaction of a performance condition and (ii) that performance condition has yet to be satisfied. Equity-indexed compensation plan awards that were deemed to be dilutive during the year ended
December 31, 2019 were reduced by a hypothetical common unit repurchase based on the remaining unamortized fair value, as prescribed by the treasury stock method in guidance issued by the FASB.
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, approximately 0.5 million and 0.3 million equity-indexed compensation plan awards, respectively, on a weighted-average basis, were excluded
from the computation of diluted net loss per common unit as the effect did not change the presentation of diluted net income/(loss) per common unit or the effect was antidilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income/(loss) per common unit (in millions, except per unit data):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Basic Net Income/(Loss) per Common Unit
Net income/(loss) attributable to PAA $ 593 $ (2,590) $ 2,171 
Distributions to Series A preferred unitholders (149) (149) (149)
Distributions to Series B preferred unitholders (49) (49) (49)
Distributions to participating securities (2) (2) (3)
Other — — (3)

Net income/(loss) allocated to common unitholders $ 393 $ (2,790) $ 1,967 

Basic weighted average common units outstanding 716 728 727 

Basic net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.55 $ (3.83) $ 2.70 

Diluted Net Income/(Loss) per Common Unit
Net income/(loss) attributable to PAA $ 593 $ (2,590) $ 2,171 
Distributions to Series A preferred unitholders (149) (149) — 
Distributions to Series B preferred unitholders (49) (49) (49)
Distributions to participating securities (2) (2) (3)

Net income/(loss) allocated to common unitholders $ 393 $ (2,790) $ 2,119 

Basic weighted average common units outstanding 716 728 727 
Effect of dilutive securities:

Series A preferred units — — 71 
Equity-indexed compensation plan awards — — 2 

Diluted weighted average common units outstanding 716 728 800 

Diluted net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.55 $ (3.83) $ 2.65 

We calculate net income/(loss) allocated to common unitholders based on the distributions pertaining to the current period’s net income. After adjusting for the appropriate period’s
distributions, the remaining undistributed earnings or excess distributions over earnings (i.e., undistributed loss), if any, are allocated to the common unitholders and participating securities in
accordance with the contractual terms of our partnership agreement in effect for the period and as further prescribed under the two-class method.

(1)

(1)
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Note 5—Inventory, Linefill and Base Gas and Long-term Inventory

Inventory, including long-term inventory, primarily consists of crude oil and NGL in pipelines, storage facilities and railcars that are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost
determined using an average cost method within specific inventory pools. At the end of each reporting period, we assess the carrying value of our inventory and make any adjustments necessary to
reduce the carrying value to the applicable net realizable value. Any resulting adjustments are a component of "Purchases and related costs” on our accompanying Consolidated Statements of
Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2021, no adjustments were recorded. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded charges of $233 million (of which $40 million was
associated with our long-term inventory) and $11 million, respectively, related to the write down of our crude oil and NGL inventory due to declines in prices. A portion of these inventory valuation
adjustments was offset by the recognition of gains on derivative instruments being utilized to hedge future sales of our crude oil and NGL inventory. Such gains were recorded to "Product sales
revenues” in our accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 13 for discussion of our derivative and risk management activities.

Linefill and base gas in assets we own are recorded at historical cost and consist of crude oil, NGL and natural gas. We classify as linefill or base gas (i) our proportionate share of barrels used
to fill a pipeline that we own such that when an incremental barrel is pumped into or enters a pipeline it forces product out at another location, (ii) barrels that represent the minimum working
requirements in tanks and caverns that we own and (iii) natural gas required to maintain the minimum operating pressure of natural gas storage facilities we own. Following the sale of our Pine Prairie and
Southern Pines natural gas storage facilities in August of 2021, we no longer own natural gas storage facilities. See Note 7 for additional information.

Linefill and base gas carrying amounts are reviewed for impairment in accordance with FASB guidance with respect to accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. Carrying
amounts that are not expected to be recoverable through future cash flows are written down to estimated fair value. See Note 6 for further discussion regarding impairment of long-lived assets. During
2021, 2020 and 2019, we did not recognize any material impairments of linefill and base gas.

Minimum working inventory requirements in third-party assets and other working inventory in our assets that are needed for our commercial operations are included within specific inventory
pools in inventory (a current asset) in determining the average cost of operating inventory. At the end of each period, we reclassify the inventory not expected to be liquidated within the succeeding
twelve months out of "Inventory,” at the average cost of the applicable inventory pools, and into "Long-term inventory,” which is reflected as a separate line item under "Other assets” on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

F-23



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Inventory, linefill and base gas and long-term inventory consisted of the following (barrels and natural gas volumes in thousands and carrying value in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Volumes
Unit of

Measure
Carrying

Value
Price/
Unit Volumes

Unit of
Measure

Carrying
Value

Price/
Unit 

Inventory
Crude oil 8,041 barrels $ 544 $ 67.65 13,450 barrels $ 441 $ 32.79 
NGL 6,982 barrels 234 $ 33.51 12,302 barrels 199 $ 16.18 
Other N/A 5 N/A N/A 7 N/A

Inventory subtotal 783 647 

Linefill and base gas
Crude oil 15,199 barrels 862 $ 56.71 14,669 barrels 828 $ 56.45 
NGL 1,633 barrels 45 $ 27.56 1,640 barrels 44 $ 26.83 
Natural gas — Mcf — $ — 25,576 Mcf 110 $ 4.30 

Linefill and base gas subtotal 907 982 

Long-term inventory
Crude oil 2,973 barrels 209 $ 70.30 2,499 barrels 111 $ 44.42 
NGL 1,135 barrels 44 $ 38.77 1,185 barrels 19 $ 16.03 

Long-term inventory subtotal 253 130 

Total $ 1,943 $ 1,759 

Price per unit of measure is comprised of a weighted average associated with various grades, qualities and locations. Accordingly, these prices may not coincide with any published
benchmarks for such products.

Base gas with a carrying value of $110 million was included in the sale of our natural gas storage facilities, which closed in August 2021. See Note 7 for additional information.

Note 6—Property and Equipment

In accordance with our capitalization policy, expenditures made to expand the existing operating and/or earnings capacity of our assets are capitalized. We also capitalize certain costs directly
related to the construction of such assets, including related internal labor costs, engineering costs and interest costs. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, capitalized interest recorded
to property and equipment was $6 million, $8 million and $14 million, respectively. In addition, we capitalize interest related to investments in certain unconsolidated entities. See Note 9 for additional
information. We also capitalize expenditures for the replacement and/or refurbishment of partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing
assets. Repair and maintenance expenditures incurred in order to maintain the day to day operation of our existing assets are expensed as incurred.

(1) (1)

 (2)

(1)

(2)
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Property and equipment, net is stated at cost and consisted of the following (in millions):

Estimated Useful
Lives (Years)

December 31,
2021 2020

Pipelines and related facilities 10 - 50 $ 12,765 $ 11,112 
Storage, terminal and rail facilities 10 - 50 5,100 6,042 
Trucking equipment and other 2 - 15 502 524 
Construction in progress N/A 248 272 
Office property and equipment 2 - 50 312 293 
Land and other N/A 330 342 

Property and equipment, gross 19,257 18,585 
Accumulated depreciation (4,354) (3,974)

Property and equipment, net $ 14,903 $ 14,611 

We include rights-of-way, which are intangible assets, in our Pipelines and related facilities amounts within property and equipment.

Useful lives changed to 10 to 50 years in 2021. See below for additional information.

We calculate our depreciation using the straight-line method, based on estimated useful lives and salvage values of our assets. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019 was $652 million, $563 million and $525 million, respectively. During the first quarter of 2021, we modified the useful lives of our Pipelines and related facilities and Storage, terminal and rail
facilities to useful lives of 10 to 50 years from useful lives of 10 to 70 years to reflect current expectations given our future operating and commercial outlook. These depreciable life adjustments will
prospectively increase depreciation expense. For the year ended December 31, 2021, these reductions in useful lives increased depreciation expense by approximately $72 million, which resulted in a
decrease to both basic and diluted net income per common unit of approximately $0.10 from what these amounts would have been absent the change in useful lives.

As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we incurred liabilities for construction in progress that had not been paid of $48 million, $51 million and $120 million, respectively.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (Held and Used)

Long-lived assets with recorded values that are not expected to be recovered through future cash flows are written down to estimated fair value in accordance with FASB guidance with respect
to the accounting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. Under this guidance, a long-lived asset is tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that its carrying value may
not be recoverable. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset.
If the carrying value exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset is recognized.

We periodically evaluate property and equipment and other long-lived assets for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be
recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the underlying assumptions of related cash flows. The subjective assumptions used to determine the existence of an impairment in carrying value
include:

• whether there is an indication of impairment;

• the grouping of assets;

• the intention of "holding,” "abandoning” or "selling” an asset;

• the forecast of undiscounted expected future cash flow over the asset’s estimated useful life; and

• if an impairment exists, the fair value of the asset or asset group.

(1) (2)
(2)

(1)

(2)

F-25



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In addition, when we evaluate property and equipment and other long-lived assets for recoverability, it may also be necessary to review related depreciation estimates and methods.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recognized approximately $220 million of non-cash impairment losses related to certain crude oil storage terminal assets included in our Crude Oil
segment. This amount is reflected in "(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Decreased demand for our services related to changing
market conditions resulted in decreases in expected future cash flows for certain of our assets, which was a triggering event that required us to assess the recoverability of our carrying value of such
long-lived assets. As a result of our impairment review, we wrote off the portion of the carrying amount of these long-lived assets that exceeded their fair value. Our estimated fair value (which we
consider a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy) was primarily based upon an assumption for the amount for which the relevant assets and land could be sold.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized approximately $541 million of non-cash impairment losses, reflected in "(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net” on
our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Of our impairment losses, approximately $415 million was associated with certain pipeline assets in our Crude Oil segment located in the Mid-Continent region. The macroeconomic and
geopolitical conditions that occurred in 2020, including the collapse of oil prices driven by both the decrease in demand caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and excess supply, as well as changing
market conditions and expected lower crude oil production in certain regions, resulted in expected decreases in future cash flows for certain of our assets, which was a triggering event that required us to
assess the recoverability of our carrying value of such long-lived assets. As a result of our impairment review, we wrote off the portion of the carrying amount of these long-lived assets that exceeded
their fair value. Our estimated fair values (which we consider a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy) were based upon a discounted cash flow approach utilizing various assumptions and the
application of a discount rate of approximately 14%, which represents our estimate of the cost of capital of a theoretical market participant. Such assumptions included (but were not limited to) (i) future
commodity volumes (consistent with historical information and estimates of future drilling and completion activity), (ii) tariff rates, (iii) future commodity prices (based on relevant indices and applicable
quality and location differentials), and (iv) estimated fixed and variable costs.

The remaining impairment losses were associated with idled or underutilized assets, primarily in our Crude Oil segment, including certain pipelines located in the Western region and other long-
lived assets, for which it has been determined that it is unlikely that opportunities will exist in the future to recover our investment in these assets. We wrote off substantially all of the carrying value of
these assets.

We did not recognize any material impairments during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Note 7—Acquisitions, Divestitures and Other Transactions

Joint Venture Transaction

In October 2021, we and Oryx Midstream completed the merger, in a cashless, debt-free transaction, of our respective Permian Basin assets, operations and commercial activities into a newly
formed joint venture, the Permian JV. The Permian JV includes all of Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin assets and, with the exception of our long-haul pipeline systems and certain of our intra-basin
terminal assets, the vast majority of our assets located within the Permian Basin. We own 65% of the Permian JV, operate the combined assets and reflect the Permian JV as a consolidated subsidiary in
our consolidated financial statements.

The formation of the joint venture was accounted for as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. As the majority owner and the controlling entity, we are
considered the acquirer and the transfer of our predecessor business to the joint venture was accounted for at historical cost, while the Oryx Midstream predecessor business was recorded based on the
fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the fair value of Oryx Midstream’s ownership interest in the joint venture following the
formation of $3.256 billion is utilized as the consideration transferred for the purchase price allocation.

The combination of the historical cost and fair value, discussed above, resulted in net assets of the joint venture of approximately $7.575 billion upon formation. Oryx Midstream’s 35% interest
in the net assets of the Permian JV was recognized as noncontrolling interest in partners’ capital. The difference between the noncontrolling interest recognized and the fair value of Oryx Midstream’s
assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as an increase to our partners’ capital excluding noncontrolling interests.
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The following table presents the amounts recognized in partners’ capital associated with this transaction (in millions):

Recognized Amount
Noncontrolling interests $ 2,651 

Partners’ capital, excluding noncontrolling interests 605 
$ 3,256 

The fair value of the $3.256 billion consideration is a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy and was determined by valuing both the enterprise value of Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin
business and the enterprise value of our Permian Basin assets that were contributed to the joint venture. The enterprise value of Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin business was calculated by weighting
the results of (i) a discounted cash flow ("DCF”) approach and (ii) a guideline public company method ("GPCM”). The value of our Permian Basin assets that were contributed to the joint venture was
based on a GPCM. The DCF approach utilized a discount rate of 11.75%, based on our estimate of the risk that a theoretical market participant would assign to the business. The projection of future
crude volumes gathered and transported was also a key assumption in the DCF approach and was based on projected rig activity on the associated acreage. The GPCM applies market multiples to
estimated earnings to derive the fair value. The GPCM values for Oryx Midstream’s Permian Basin business and for our Permian Basin assets that were contributed to the joint venture assumed market
multiples ranging from 9.5 to 11.0, which were derived from assumptions of market multiples for similar businesses.

The determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was estimated in accordance with the applicable accounting guidance. The analysis was performed based on
estimates that are reflective of market participant assumptions. The determination of these values is preliminary, pending finalization of working capital balances, and we expect to finalize our fair value
determination in 2022. The following table reflects our preliminary determination of the fair value of those assets and liabilities (in millions):

Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed
Estimated Useful Lives 

(in years) Recognized Amount
Property and equipment 3-30 $ 1,886 
Intangible assets 20 1,247 
Investment in unconsolidated entities N/A 103 
Linefill N/A 5 
Working capital and other assets and liabilities N/A 15 

$ 3,256 

The fair value of the tangible assets is a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy and was determined using a cost approach based on costs incurred on similar recent construction
projects. The fair value of the intangible assets is also a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy and was determined by applying a discounted cash flow approach. Such approach utilized a
discount rate of approximately 16%, based on our estimate of the risk that a theoretical market participant would assign to the respective intangible assets. The projection of future crude oil volumes
gathered and transported was also a key assumption in the valuation of the intangible assets and was based on projected rig activity on the associated acreage.
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The fair value of intangible assets is comprised of customer relationships that will be amortized over their useful lives, which have a remaining weighted average life of approximately 20
years. The value assigned to such intangible assets will be amortized to earnings under the declining balance method of amortization. Amortization expense was approximately $28 million during the year
ended December 31, 2021, and the future amortization expense through 2026 is estimated as follows (in millions):

2022 $ 142 
2023 $ 138 
2024 $ 127 
2025 $ 117 
2026 $ 106 

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred approximately $17 million of transaction-related costs associated with the joint venture formation transaction. Such costs are reflected as
a component of "General and administrative expenses” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Quarterly distributions of available cash from the Permian JV to us and Oryx Midstream are subject to a tiered modified sharing arrangement ("MSA”) for up to ten years. Pursuant to the terms
of the governing documents for the Permian JV, the MSA will terminate in October 2031, or sooner if Oryx Midstream exercises its right to terminate the MSA at any time by delivery of written notice to
us. Upon termination of the MSA, quarterly distributions of available cash will be paid 65% to PAA and 35% to Oryx.

Under the MSA, distributions will be allocated as follows (in millions):

Available Cash Distributions Percentages
Tier Annualized PAA Oryx

1 Up to $300 50% 50%
2 $300 - $428 100% —%
3 $428 - $815 65% 35%
4 $815 and above 70% 30%

Oryx Midstream is a portfolio company of Stonepeak Infrastructure Partners ("Stonepeak”). Affiliates of Stonepeak own approximately 8.9% of our outstanding Series A preferred units, which
equates to less than 1% of our outstanding common units and Series A preferred units (our "common unit equivalents”) combined.

Pro Forma and Other Financial Results

Financial results of the Permian JV have been included in the results of operations within the Crude Oil segment since the date of the formation. Disclosure of the revenues and earnings from
the Oryx Midstream predecessor business for the period subsequent to the joint venture formation is not practicable as it is not being operated as a standalone subsidiary. The following selected
unaudited pro forma results of operations were derived from the historical financial statements of PAA and Oryx Midstream, and gives effect to the joint venture formation as if it had occurred on
January 1, 2020. The pro forma results of operations do not include any cost savings or other synergies that may result from the Permian JV or any estimated costs that have been or will be incurred by
us to integrate Oryx Midstream’s assets. These results are not necessarily indicative of the results that might have actually occurred had the merger taken place on January 1, 2020; furthermore, this
financial information is not intended to be a projection of future results (in millions, except per unit amounts):
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Year ended December 31,
2021 2020

Total revenues $ 42,359 $ 23,536 
Net income/(loss) attributable to PAA $ 524 $ (2,898)
Net income/(loss) allocated to common unitholders $ 324 $ (3,098)
Basic and diluted net income/(loss) per common unit $ 0.45 $ (4.26)

Asset Exchange

In June 2021, we closed on an asset exchange agreement (the "Asset Exchange”) with Inter Pipeline Ltd., through which we acquired additional interests in two straddle plants included in our
NGL segment that we currently operate, in exchange for a pipeline and related storage and truck offload facilities previously included in our Crude Oil segment and cash consideration of $32 million,
including working capital and other adjustments. We recognized a gain of $106 million on the divestiture of the pipeline and related storage and truck offload facilities, which is included in "
(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations, based on the difference between the fair value of the divested assets and their carrying value.

Acquisitions

In February 2020, we acquired Felix Midstream LLC, now known as FM Gathering LLC ("FM Gathering”) from Felix Energy Holdings II, LLC for approximately $300 million, net of working capital
and other adjustments. FM Gathering owns and operates a newly constructed crude oil gathering system in the Delaware Basin, with associated crude oil storage and truck offloading capacity, and is
supported by a long-term acreage dedication. The assets acquired are included in our Crude Oil segment. This acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and the
determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed was determined in accordance with the applicable accounting guidance. The assets acquired primarily consisted of property
and equipment of $115 million and intangible assets of $187 million. The fair value of the tangible assets is a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy and was determined using a cost approach.
The cost approach was based on costs incurred on similar recent construction projects. The fair value of the intangible assets is also a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy and was
determined by applying a discounted cash flow approach. Such approach utilized discount rates varying from 18% to 19%, based on our estimate of the risk that a theoretical market participant would
assign to the respective intangible assets.

During the second quarter of 2019, we acquired a crude oil terminal, including tank bottoms and linefill, in Cushing, Oklahoma for cash consideration of $44 million, which was accounted for as
an asset acquisition.

Divestitures

In August 2021, we sold our Pine Prairie and Southern Pines natural gas storage facilities, which were included in our Crude Oil segment for periods prior to the sale, for net proceeds of
approximately $850 million, including working capital adjustments. Prior to the sale, we classified the assets related to this transaction (primarily "Property and equipment”), valued at the lower of the
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, of approximately $832 million as assets held for sale with approximately $18 million of deferred losses on hedges remaining in other comprehensive income
until the closing of the sale. Upon classification of the assets to held for sale in the second quarter of 2021, we recognized a non-cash impairment loss of $475 million which is included in "(Gains)/losses
on asset sales and asset impairments, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we received cash proceeds of $451 million, primarily from the sale of:
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• certain Los Angeles Basin crude oil terminals previously included in our Crude Oil segment for proceeds of approximately $200 million, subject to certain adjustments;

• certain NGL terminals previously included in our NGL segment for proceeds of approximately $163 million (including $22 million related to a multi-year supply agreement related to the sale),
subject to certain adjustments; and

• a 10% ownership interest in Saddlehorn Pipeline Company, LLC ("Saddlehorn”) for proceeds of approximately $78 million, including working capital adjustments (see Note 9 for additional
information).

We recognized a loss related to these assets sales of $178 million, including non-cash impairments recognized upon classification to assets held for sale, for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Such amount is included in "(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we sold certain non-core assets for total proceeds of $77 million that primarily consisted of a storage terminal in North Dakota, which is reflected in
our Crude Oil segment for the period prior to the sale. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we recognized a net loss related to these asset sales of $16 million, which is comprised of gains of $31 million
and losses of $47 million. Such amounts are included in "(Gains)/losses on asset sales and asset impairments, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Note 8—Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified and separately recognized.

In accordance with FASB guidance, we test goodwill to determine whether an impairment has occurred at least annually (as of June 30) and on an interim basis if it is more likely than not that a
reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value. Goodwill is tested for impairment at a level of reporting referred to as a reporting unit. A reporting unit is an operating segment or one level below
an operating segment for which discrete financial information is available and regularly reviewed by segment management. Our reporting units are our operating segments. FASB guidance provides for a
quantitative approach to testing goodwill for impairment; however, we may first assess certain qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment
test. In the quantitative test, we compare the fair value of the reporting unit with the respective book values, including goodwill, by using an income approach based on a discounted cash flow model.
This approach requires us to make long-term forecasts of future revenues, expenses and other expenditures. Those forecasts require the use of various assumptions and estimates, the most significant
of which are net revenues (total revenues less purchases and related costs), operating expenses, general and administrative expenses and the weighted average cost of capital. Fair value of the reporting
units is determined using significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy. When the fair value is greater than book value, then the reporting unit’s goodwill is not considered
impaired. If the book value is greater than fair value, then goodwill is impaired by the amount by which a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying value of
goodwill.
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During the first quarter of 2020, we recorded impairment losses of $2.515 billion related to goodwill. Our market capitalization declined significantly during the first quarter driven by
macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions that occurred in 2020, including the collapse of oil prices driven by both the decrease in demand caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and excess supply, as
well as changing market conditions and expected lower crude oil production in certain regions, that resulted in expected decreases in future cash flows for certain of our assets, which we concluded was
a triggering event that required us to perform a quantitative impairment test as of March 31, 2020, utilizing a discounted cash flow approach. We applied a discount rate of approximately 14% in the
determination of the fair value of each of our reporting units, which represents our estimate of the cost of capital of a theoretical market participant as of March 31, 2020. The fair values of the reporting
units are Level 3 measurements in the fair value hierarchy and were based on various inputs, as discussed below. The discounted cash flows for each reporting unit were based on six years of projected
cash flows and terminal values that we believe would be applied by a theoretical market participant in similar market transactions. The discounted cash flows for the respective reporting units utilized
various other assumptions, including, but not limited to (i) volumes (based on historical information and estimates of future drilling and completion activity, as well as expectations of future demand
recovery), (ii) tariff and storage rates, (iii) future commodity prices (based on relevant indices and applicable quality and location differentials), and (iv) estimated fixed and variable costs. We used a
range of cash flows for the discounted cash flow calculations based on differing potential market scenarios, but for each of the reporting units, the ultimate outcome of the impairment test was
unchanged by the various points within the range of cash flows. As a result of the impairment test, we concluded that the carrying value of each of our reporting units exceeded their respective fair
values, resulting in a goodwill impairment charge for the entire goodwill balance for each reporting unit. Prior to the year ended December 31, 2020, we did not recognize any impairments of goodwill.

Goodwill by segment and changes in goodwill is reflected in the following table (in millions):

Crude Oil NGL Total
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 2,300 $ 240 $ 2,540 

Acquisitions 2 — 2 
Goodwill, gross $ 2,302 $ 240 $ 2,542 

Impairments (2,287) (228) (2,515)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (15) (12) (27)
Accumulated impairment losses (2,302) (240) (2,542)

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ — $ — $ — 

Note 9—Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

Investments in entities over which we have significant influence but not control are accounted for under the equity method. We do not consolidate any part of the assets or liabilities of our
equity investees. Our share of net income or loss is reflected as one line item on our Consolidated Statements of Operations entitled "Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities” and will increase or
decrease, as applicable, the carrying value of our investments in unconsolidated entities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We evaluate our equity investments for impairment in accordance with
FASB guidance with respect to the equity method of accounting for investments in common stock. An impairment of an equity investment results when factors indicate that the investment’s fair value is
less than its carrying value and the reduction in value is other than temporary in nature.

F-31



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our investments in unconsolidated entities consisted of the following (in millions, except percentage data):

Ownership
Interest at December

31,
2021

Investment Balance
December 31,

Entity Type of Operation 2021 2020
BridgeTex Pipeline Company, LLC ("BridgeTex”) Crude Oil Pipeline 20% $ 406 $ 421 
Cactus II Pipeline LLC ("Cactus II”) Crude Oil Pipeline 65% 737 752 
Capline Pipeline Company LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 54% 531 514 
Diamond Pipeline LLC ("Diamond”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50% 464 480 
Eagle Ford Pipeline LLC ("Eagle Ford Pipeline”) Crude Oil Pipeline 50% 363 372 
Eagle Ford Terminals Corpus Christi LLC ("Eagle Ford Terminals”) Crude Oil Terminal and Dock 50% 120 122 
OMOG JV LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 40% 102 — 
Saddlehorn Crude Oil Pipeline 30% 209 208 
White Cliffs Pipeline, LLC Crude Oil Pipeline 36% 171 192 
Wink to Webster Pipeline LLC ("W2W Pipeline”) Crude Oil Pipeline 16% 345 330 
Other investments 357 373 

Total Investments in Unconsolidated Entities $ 3,805 $ 3,764 

The financial results from these entities are reported in our Crude Oil segment.

The Capline pipeline was out of service during 2020 and a majority of 2021 pending the reversal of the pipeline system. The pipeline reversal project was completed with interim service
beginning in mid-December 2021 and full service beginning in January 2022.

Our ownership in this entity was acquired as part of the assets contributed by Oryx Midstream in the formation of the Permian JV in October 2021. See Note 7 for additional information.

Although we own less than 20% of W2W Pipeline, we use the equity method to account for the investment because we believe we have significant influence over the financial and operating
decisions of the company.

The pipeline system was in partial service during 2021 and another phase of the pipeline construction project was completed in the first quarter of 2022.

Impairments

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized losses as a result of the write-down of certain of our investments in unconsolidated entities, as discussed further below. Such amounts
are reflected in "Gain on/(impairment of) investments in unconsolidated entities, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

STACK. During the third quarter of 2020, we determined that there was an other-than-temporary impairment of our investment in STACK Pipeline LLC as a result of a continued decline of
drilling activity and related volumes of crude oil in its area of operation. We recognized a loss of $91 million related to the write-down of the portion of the carrying amount of our investment that
exceeded its fair value. The estimated fair value (which we consider a Level 3 measurement in the fair value hierarchy) was based on a discounted cash flow approach utilizing various assumptions and
the application of a discount rate of approximately 14%, which represents our estimate of the cost of capital of a theoretical market participant. Such assumptions included (but were not limited to) (i)
volumes (consistent with historical information and estimates of future drilling and completion activity), (ii) tariff rates, (iii) future commodity prices (based on relevant indices and applicable quality and
location differentials), and (iv) estimated fixed and variable costs.

Red Oak . In June 2019, we formed Red Oak Pipeline LLC ("Red Oak”), a joint venture with a subsidiary of Phillips 66 and in which we own a 50% interest, to develop a new crude oil pipeline
project. In 2020, the partners of Red Oak determined that the project would not proceed as previously contemplated. We determined that there was an other-than-temporary impairment of our investment
in Red Oak, and we recognized a loss of $69 million related to the write-down of our investment in Red Oak to the estimated residual value of our share of the net assets during the second quarter of
2020.

(1)

(2)

(3)

 (4) (5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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Other investments. During the first quarter of 2020, we also recognized a loss of $43 million related to the write-down of certain of our investments included in "Other investments” in the table
above due to an other-than-temporary impairment related to a decline in market conditions.

Formations

Capline LLC. During the first quarter of 2019, the owners of the Capline pipeline system contributed their undivided joint interests in the system to a newly formed entity, Capline Pipeline
Company LLC ("Capline LLC”), in exchange for equity interests in such entity. After the contribution, Capline LLC owns 100% of the pipeline system. Each owner’s undivided joint interest in the
Capline pipeline system prior to the transaction is equal to each owner’s equity interest in Capline LLC. Although we own a majority of Capline LLC’s equity, we do not have a controlling financial
interest in Capline LLC because the other members have substantive participating rights. Therefore, we account for our ownership interest in Capline LLC as an equity method investment.

Under applicable accounting rules, the transaction resulted in a "loss of control” of our undivided joint interest, which was derecognized and contributed to Capline LLC. The "loss of control”
required us to measure our equity interest in Capline LLC at fair value. At the time of the transaction, our 54% undivided joint interest in the Capline pipeline system had a carrying value of $175 million,
which primarily related to property and equipment included in our Crude Oil segment. We determined the fair value of our investment in Capline LLC to be approximately $444 million, resulting in the
recognition of a gain of $269 million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Such gain is included in "Gain on/(impairment of) investment in unconsolidated entities, net” on our Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

The fair value of our investment in Capline LLC was based on an income approach utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis. The cash flow forecasts require the use of various assumptions and
estimates which include those related to the timing and amount of capital expenditures, the expected tariff rates and volumes of crude oil, and the terminal value. We probability-weighted various
forecasted cash flow scenarios utilized in the analysis when we considered the possible outcomes. We used a discount rate representing our estimate of the risk adjusted discount rate that would be
used by market participants. If shipper interest varies from the levels assumed in our model, the related cash flows, and thus the fair value of our investment, could be materially impacted. The fair value
of our investment was determined using significant unobservable inputs, or Level 3 inputs in the fair value hierarchy.

Divestitures

Saddlehorn. In February 2020, we sold a 10% ownership interest in Saddlehorn for proceeds of approximately $78 million and have retained a 30% ownership interest. We recorded a gain of
approximately $21 million related to this sale, which is included in "Gain on/(impairment of) investments in unconsolidated entities, net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations. We continue to
account for our remaining interest under the equity method of accounting.

Distributions

Distributions received from unconsolidated entities are classified based on the nature of the distribution approach, which looks to the activity that generated the distribution. We consider
distributions received from unconsolidated entities as a return on investment in those entities to the extent that the distribution was generated through operating results, and therefore classify these
distributions as cash flows from operating activities in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Other distributions received from unconsolidated entities are considered a return of investment and
classified as cash flows from investing activities on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Contributions

We generally fund our portion of development, construction or capital investment projects of our equity method investees through capital contributions. Our contributions to these entities
increase the carrying value of our investments and are reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as cash used in investing activities. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, we made cash contributions of $82 million, $445 million and $504 million, respectively, to certain of our equity method investees. In addition, we capitalized interest of $12 million, $16 million and $20
million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to contributions to unconsolidated entities for projects under development and construction.
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Basis Differences

Our investments in unconsolidated entities exceeded our share of the underlying equity in the net assets of such entities by $223 million and $170 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. Such basis differences are included in the carrying values of our investments on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The portion of the basis differences attributable to depreciable or
amortizable assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related assets, which reduces "Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities” on our Consolidated Statements of
Operations. The portion of the basis differences attributable to goodwill is not amortized. The majority of the basis difference at both December 31, 2021 and 2020 was attributable to goodwill related to
our ownership interest in BridgeTex and Capline LLC with the remaining basis difference primarily related to capitalized interest incurred during construction of the assets of our unconsolidated entities.

Summarized Financial Information of Unconsolidated Entities

Combined summarized financial information for all of our unconsolidated entities is shown in the tables below (in millions). None of our unconsolidated entities have noncontrolling interests.

December 31,
2021 2020

Current assets $ 509 $ 580 
Noncurrent assets $ 8,879 $ 8,769 
Current liabilities $ 366 $ 343 
Noncurrent liabilities $ 15 $ 10 

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenues $ 1,320 $ 1,360 $ 1,469 
Operating income $ 505 $ 828 $ 994 
Net income $ 506 $ 826 $ 995 
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Note 10—Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization, consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Estimated Useful

Lives (Years) Cost
Accumulated
Amortization Net Cost

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer contracts and relationships 3 – 31 $ 2,445 $ (510) $ 1,935 $ 1,291 $ (519) $ 772 
Other agreements 1 – 70 36 (11) 25 63 (30) 33 

Intangible assets $ 2,481 $ (521) $ 1,960 $ 1,354 $ (549) $ 805 

The increase in intangible assets related to Customer contracts and relationships in 2021 is associated with the assets acquired in the formation of the Permian JV. See Note 7 for additional
information.

We include rights-of-way, which are intangible assets, in our pipeline and related facilities amounts within property and equipment. See Note 6 for a discussion of property and equipment.

Intangible assets that have finite lives are tested for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We did not recognize any impairments of
finite-lived intangible assets during the three years ended December 31, 2021.

Amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $122 million, $90 million and $76 million, respectively. We estimate that our
amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets for the next five years will be as follows (in millions):

2022 $ 240 
2023 $ 232 
2024 $ 220 
2025 $ 207 
2026 $ 187 

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Note 11—Debt

Debt consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31,
2021

December 31,
2020

SHORT-TERM DEBT
Commercial paper notes, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 0.7% $ — $ 547 
Senior secured hedged inventory facility, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.2% — 167 
Senior notes:

3.65% senior notes due June 2022 750 — 
Other 72 117 

Total short-term debt 822 831 

LONG-TERM DEBT
Senior notes:

3.65% senior notes due June 2022 — 750 
2.85% senior notes due January 2023 400 400 
3.85% senior notes due October 2023 700 700 
3.60% senior notes due November 2024 750 750 
4.65% senior notes due October 2025 1,000 1,000 
4.50% senior notes due December 2026 750 750 
3.55% senior notes due December 2029 1,000 1,000 
3.80% senior notes due September 2030 750 750 
6.70% senior notes due May 2036 250 250 
6.65% senior notes due January 2037 600 600 
5.15% senior notes due June 2042 499 499 
4.30% senior notes due January 2043 348 348 
4.70% senior notes due June 2044 687 687 
4.90% senior notes due February 2045 649 649 
Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs (54) (62)

Senior notes, net of unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs 8,329 9,071 
Other long-term debt:

GO Zone term loans, net of debt issuance costs of $1, bearing a weighted-average interest rate of 1.3% — 199 
Other 69 112 

Total long-term debt 8,398 9,382 
Total debt $ 9,220 $ 10,213 

We classified these commercial paper notes and credit facility borrowings as short-term as of December 31, 2020, as these notes and borrowings were primarily designated as working capital
borrowings, were required to be repaid within one year and were primarily for hedged NGL and crude oil inventory and NYMEX and ICE margin deposits.

In January 2022, we provided notice of our intention to redeem these senior notes on March 1, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we repurchased $17 million of our outstanding senior notes on the open market and recognized a gain of $3 million on these transactions, which is
included in "Other income/(expense), net” on our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(1)
(1)

(2)

(3)
(3)

(3)
(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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The GO Zone term loans were initially assumed by one of our subsidiaries in connection with the acquisition of the Southern Pines natural gas storage facility. The loans were repaid in August
2021 in connection with the sale of that facility. See Note 7 for additional information.

Our fixed-rate senior notes had a face value of approximately $9.1 billion at both December 31, 2021 and 2020. We estimated the aggregate fair value of these notes to be approximately $9.9
billion at both December 31, 2021 and 2020. Our fixed-rate senior notes are traded among institutions, and these trades are routinely published by a reporting service. Our determination of fair
value is based on reported trading activity near the end of the reporting period. We estimate that the carrying value of outstanding borrowings under our credit facilities, commercial paper
program and GO Zone term loans approximates fair value as interest rates reflect current market rates. The fair value estimates for our senior notes, credit facilities, commercial paper program and
GO Zone term loans are based upon observable market data and are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Commercial Paper Program

We have a commercial paper program under which we may issue (and have outstanding at any time) up to $2.7 billion in the aggregate of privately placed, unsecured commercial paper notes.
Such notes are backstopped by our senior unsecured revolving credit facility and our senior secured hedged inventory facility; as such, any borrowings under our commercial paper program reduce the
available capacity under these facilities.

Credit Agreements

Senior secured hedged inventory facility. In August 2021, we entered into an amended credit agreement which replaced our $1.4 billion senior secured hedged inventory facility scheduled to
mature in August 2022 with a $1.35 billion senior secured hedged inventory facility with an initial maturity date of August 2024. Subject to obtaining additional or increased lender commitments and
other terms and conditions, the committed capacity of the facility may be increased to $1.9 billion. The amended credit agreement provides for the issuance of letters of credit of up to $400 million.
Proceeds from the facility are primarily used to finance purchased or stored hedged inventory, including NYMEX and ICE margin deposits. Such obligations under the committed facility are secured by
the financed inventory and the associated accounts receivable and are repaid from the proceeds of the sale of the financed inventory. Borrowings accrue interest based, at our election, on certain
floating rate indices as defined in the credit agreement, in each case plus a margin based on our credit rating at the applicable time. The amended credit agreement also provides for one or more one-year
extensions, subject to applicable approval and other terms and conditions.

Senior unsecured revolving credit facility. In August 2021, we entered into a new unsecured credit agreement that provides for a senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a committed
borrowing capacity of $1.35 billion, of which $400 million is available for the issuance of letters of credit. The new credit agreement replaced our previous credit agreement that provided for a $1.6 billion
senior unsecured revolving credit facility and was scheduled to mature in August 2024. Subject to obtaining additional or increased lender commitments and other terms and conditions, the committed
capacity may be increased to $2.1 billion. Borrowings accrue interest based, at our election, on certain floating rate indices as defined in the credit agreement, in each case plus a margin based on our
credit rating at the applicable time. The new credit agreement has an initial maturity date of August 2026 and provides for one or more one-year extensions, subject to applicable approval and other terms
and conditions.

GO Zone term loans.  In August 2018, we entered into an agreement for two $100 million term loans (the "GO Zone term loans”) from the remarketing of our $100 million Mississippi Business
Finance Corporation Gulf Opportunity Zone Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. Project), Series 2009 and our $100 million Mississippi Business Finance Corporation
Gulf Opportunity Zone Industrial Development Revenue Bonds (PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. Project), Series 2010 (collectively, the "GO Bonds”). The GO Zone term loans accrued interest, based on
certain floating rate indices, in accordance with the interest payable on the related GO Bonds as provided in the GO Bonds Indenture pursuant to which such GO Bonds are issued and governed. The
GO Zone term loans were repaid in August 2021 in connection with the sale of the Southern Pines natural gas storage facility. See Note 7 for additional information.

(4)

(5)
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Senior Notes

Our senior notes are co-issued, jointly and severally, by Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and a 100%-owned consolidated finance subsidiary (neither of which have independent assets or
operations) and are unsecured senior obligations of such entities and rank equally in right of payment with existing and future senior indebtedness of the issuers. We may, at our option, redeem any
series of senior notes at any time in whole or from time to time in part, prior to maturity, at the redemption prices described in the indentures governing the senior notes. Our senior notes are not
guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries.

Senior Notes Issuances. The table below summarizes our issuances of senior unsecured notes during the three years ended December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Year Description Maturity Face Value Interest Payment Dates
2020 3.80% Senior Notes issued at 99.794% of face value September 2030 $ 750 March 15 and September 15

2019 3.55% Senior Notes issued at 99.801% of face value December 2029 $ 1,000 June 15 and December 15

Senior Notes Repayments. During the three years ended December 31, 2021, we repaid the following senior unsecured notes in full (in millions):

Year Description Repayment Date
2020 $600 million 5.00% Senior Notes due February 2021 November 2020

2019 $500 million 2.60% Senior Notes due December 2019 November 2019
2019 $500 million 5.75% Senior Notes due January 2020 December 2019

We repaid these senior notes with proceeds from our 3.80% senior notes issued in June 2020 and cash on hand.

We repaid these senior notes with proceeds from our 3.55% senior notes issued in September 2019 and cash on hand.

Maturities

The weighted average maturity of our senior notes outstanding at December 31, 2021 was approximately 10 years. The following table presents the aggregate contractually scheduled maturities
of such senior notes for the next five years and thereafter. The amounts presented exclude unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs.

Calendar Year
Payment

(in millions)
2022 $ 750 
2023 $ 1,100 
2024 $ 750 
2025 $ 1,000 
2026 $ 750 
Thereafter $ 4,783 

(1)

(2)
(2)

(1)

(2)
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Covenants and Compliance

The credit agreements for our revolving credit facilities (which impact our ability to access our commercial paper program because they provide the financial backstop that supports our short-
term credit ratings) and the indentures governing our senior notes contain cross-default provisions. Our credit agreements prohibit declaration or payments of distributions on, or purchases or
redemptions of, units if any default or event of default is continuing. In addition, the agreements contain various covenants limiting our ability to, among other things:

• grant liens on certain property;

• incur indebtedness, including finance leases;

• sell substantially all of our assets or enter into a merger or consolidation;

• engage in certain transactions with affiliates; and

• enter into certain burdensome agreements.

The credit agreements for our senior unsecured revolving credit facility and senior secured hedged inventory facility treat a change of control as an event of default and also require us to
maintain a debt-to-EBITDA coverage ratio that, on a trailing four-quarter basis, will not be greater than 5.00 to 1.00 (or 5.50 to 1.00 on all outstanding debt during an acquisition period (generally, the
period consisting of three fiscal quarters following an acquisition greater than $150 million)). For covenant compliance purposes, Consolidated EBITDA may include certain adjustments, including those
for material projects and certain non-recurring expenses. Additionally, letters of credit and borrowings to fund hedged inventory and margin requirements are excluded when calculating the debt
coverage ratio.

A default under our credit agreements or indentures would permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the outstanding debt. As long as we are in compliance with the provisions contained
in our credit agreements, our ability to make distributions of available cash is not restricted. As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with the covenants contained in our credit agreements and
indentures.

Borrowings and Repayments

Total borrowings under our credit facilities and commercial paper program for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $32.5 billion, $29.3 billion and $13.3 billion,
respectively. Total repayments under our credit facilities and commercial paper program were approximately $33.2 billion, $29.0 billion and $12.9 billion for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. The variance in total gross borrowings and repayments is impacted by various business and financial factors including, but not limited to, the timing, average term and method of
general partnership borrowing activities.

Letters of Credit

In connection with our merchant activities, we provide certain suppliers with irrevocable standby letters of credit to secure our obligation for the purchase and transportation of crude oil and
NGL. These letters of credit are issued under our senior unsecured revolving credit facility and our senior secured hedged inventory facility, and our liabilities with respect to these purchase obligations
are recorded in accounts payable on our balance sheet in the month the crude oil or NGL is purchased. Generally, these letters of credit are issued for periods of up to seventy days and are terminated
upon completion of each transaction. Additionally, we issue letters of credit to support insurance programs, derivative transactions, including hedging-related margin obligations, and construction
activities. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had outstanding letters of credit of $98 million and $129 million, respectively.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs incurred in connection with the issuance of senior notes are recorded as a direct deduction from the related debt liability and are amortized using the straight-line method over the term of
the related debt. Use of the straight-line method does not differ materially from the "effective interest” method of amortization.
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Note 12—Partners’ Capital and Distributions

Units Outstanding

At December 31, 2021, partners’ capital consisted of outstanding common units and Series A and Series B preferred units, which represent limited partner interests in us, which give the holders
thereof the right to participate in distributions and to exercise the other rights or privileges as outlined in our partnership agreement. Our general partner has a non-economic interest in us.

Series A Preferred Units

Our Series A preferred units were issued in a private placement in 2016 at a price of $26.25 per unit (the "Issue Price”). The Series A preferred units represent limited partner interests in us, rank
pari passu with our Series B preferred units, and senior to our common units and to each other class or series of our equity securities with respect to distribution rights and rights upon liquidation. The
holders of the Series A preferred units receive cumulative quarterly distributions, subject to customary antidilution adjustments, equal to $0.525 per unit ($2.10 per unit annualized).

The holders may convert their Series A preferred units into common units, generally on a one-for-one basis and subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, at any time, in whole or in part,
subject to certain minimum conversion amounts (and not more often than once per quarter). We may convert the Series A preferred units into common units at any time (but not more often than once per
quarter), in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum conversion amounts, if the closing price of our common units is greater than 150% of the Issue Price for the preceding 20 trading days. The Series
A preferred units vote on an as-converted basis with our common units and have certain other class voting rights with respect to any amendment to our partnership agreement that would adversely
affect any rights, preferences or privileges of the Series A preferred units. In addition, upon certain events involving a change of control, the holders of the Series A preferred units may elect, among
other potential elections, to convert the Series A preferred units into common units at the then applicable conversion rate.

For a period of 30 days following (a) the fifth anniversary of the January 28, 2016 issuance date (the "Issuance Date”) of the Series A preferred units and (b) each subsequent anniversary of the
Issuance Date, the holders of the Series A preferred units, acting by majority vote, may make a one-time election to reset the Series A preferred unit distribution rate to equal the then applicable rate of
ten-year U.S. Treasury Securities plus 5.85% (the "Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option”). The Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option is accounted for as an embedded derivative. See Note 13 for
additional information. If the holders of the Series A preferred units have exercised the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option, then, at any time following 30 days after the sixth anniversary of the
Issuance Date, we may redeem all or any portion of the outstanding Series A preferred units in exchange for cash, common units (valued at 95% of the volume-weighted average price of our common
units for a trading day period specified in our partnership agreement) or a combination of cash and common units at a redemption price equal to 110% of the Issue Price, plus any accrued and unpaid
distributions.

Series B Preferred Units

Our Series B Fixed-to-Floating Rate Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Units representing limited partner interests in us (the "Series B preferred units”) were issued in 2017 at a price to
the public of $1,000 per unit. Our Series B preferred units represent perpetual equity interests in us, and they have no stated maturity or mandatory redemption date and are not redeemable at the option
of the holders under any circumstances. Holders of the Series B preferred units generally have no voting rights, except for limited voting rights with respect to (i) potential amendments to our
partnership agreement that would have a material adverse effect on the existing preferences, rights, powers or duties of the Series B preferred units, (ii) the creation or issuance of any parity securities if
the cumulative distributions payable on then outstanding Series B preferred units are in arrears, (iii) the creation or issuance of any senior securities and (iv) the payment of distributions to our common
unitholders out of capital surplus. The Series B preferred units rank, as to the payment of distributions and amounts payable on a liquidation event, pari passu with our outstanding Series A preferred
units and senior to our common units.
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The Series B preferred units have a liquidation preference of $1,000 per unit. Holders of our Series B preferred units are entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by our general partner out of
legally available funds for such purpose, cumulative semiannual or quarterly cash distributions, as applicable. Distributions on the Series B preferred units accrue and are cumulative from October 10,
2017, the date of original issue, and are payable semiannually in arrears on the 15th day of May and November through and including November 15, 2022, and after November 15, 2022, quarterly in
arrears on the 15th day of February, May, August and November of each year. The initial distribution rate for the Series B preferred units from and including October 10, 2017 to, but not including,
November 15, 2022 is 6.125% per year of the liquidation preference per unit (equal to $61.25 per unit per year). On and after November 15, 2022, distributions on the Series B preferred units will
accumulate for each distribution period at a percentage of the liquidation preference equal to the Series B Three-Month LIBOR (as defined in and calculated pursuant to our Seventh Amended and
Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership) plus a spread of 4.11%.

Upon the occurrence of certain rating agency events, we may redeem the Series B preferred units, in whole but not in part, at a price of $1,020 (102% of the liquidation preference) per Series B
preferred unit plus an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid distributions thereon to, but not including, the date of redemption, whether or not declared. In addition, at any time on or after
November 15, 2022, we may redeem the Series B preferred units, at our option, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of $1,000 per Series B preferred unit plus an amount equal to all accumulated and
unpaid distributions thereon to, but not including, the date of redemption, whether or not declared.

The following table presents the activity for our preferred and common units:

Limited Partners
Series A

Preferred Units
Series B

Preferred Units Common Units
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 71,090,468 800,000 726,361,924 

Issuances of common units under equity-indexed compensation plans — — 1,666,652 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 71,090,468 800,000 728,028,576 

Repurchase and cancellation of common units under the Common Equity Repurchase Program — — (6,222,748)
Issuances of common units under equity-indexed compensation plans — — 574,588 

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 71,090,468 800,000 722,380,416 
Repurchase and cancellation of common units under the Common Equity Repurchase Program — — (18,061,583)
Issuances of common units under equity-indexed compensation plans — — 672,707 

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 71,090,468 800,000 704,991,540 

Common Equity Repurchase Program. In November 2020, the board of directors of PAGP GP approved a $500 million common equity repurchase program (the "Program”) to be utilized as an
additional method of returning capital to investors. The Program authorizes the repurchase from time to time of up to $500 million of our common units and/or PAGP Class A shares via open market
purchases or negotiated transactions conducted in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements. No time limit has been set for completion of the Program, and the Program may be suspended or
discontinued at any time. The Program does not obligate us or PAGP to acquire a particular number of common units or PAGP Class A shares. Any common units or PAGP Class A shares that are
repurchased will be canceled. PAGP Class C shares held by us associated with any publicly held common units that are repurchased will also be canceled. See Note 17 for additional information
regarding our ownership of PAGP Class C shares.

We repurchased 18,061,583 and 6,222,748 common units under the Program through open market purchases that settled during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
total purchase price of these units was $178 million and $50 million, respectively, including commissions and fees. The repurchased common units were canceled immediately upon acquisition, as were
the PAGP Class C shares held by us associated with the repurchased common units. At December 31, 2021, the remaining available capacity under the Program was $272 million.
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Income Allocation

We allocate net income for partners’ capital presentation purposes by applying the allocation methodology in our partnership agreement. Net income is allocated 100% to our common
unitholders, after giving effect to income allocations for cash distributions to our Series A preferred unitholders and guaranteed payments attributable to our Series B preferred unitholders. In
accordance with our partnership agreement, our Series A preferred unitholders are not allocated income for paid-in-kind distributions for partners’ capital presentation purposes.

For purposes of determining basic and diluted net income per common unit, income is allocated as prescribed in FASB guidance for calculating earnings per unit, including a deduction to
income available to common unitholders for distributions attributable to the period (whether paid in cash or in-kind) on our Series A and Series B preferred units. See Note 4 for additional information.

Distributions to Unitholders

In accordance with our partnership agreement, after making distributions to holders of our outstanding preferred units, we distribute the remainder of our available cash to common unitholders
of record within 45 days following the end of each quarter. Available cash is generally defined as all of our cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of each quarter, less reserves established in the
discretion of our general partner for future requirements. Our available cash also includes cash on hand resulting from borrowings made after the end of the quarter.

Preferred Unit Distributions

The following table details distributions paid to our preferred unitholders during the years presented (in millions, except unit data):

Cash Distributions
Year Series A Preferred Unitholders Series B Preferred Unitholders
2021 $ 149 $ 49 
2020 $ 149 $ 49 
2019 $ 149 $ 49 

On February 14, 2022, we paid a cash distribution of $37 million to our Series A preferred unitholders. At December 31, 2021, such amount was accrued as distributions payable in "Other current
liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. At December 31, 2021, approximately $6 million of accrued distributions payable to our Series B preferred unitholders was included in "Other current
liabilities” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Common Unit Distributions

The following table details distributions paid to common unitholders during the years presented (in millions, except per unit data):

Distributions Paid Distributions per
common unitYear Public AAP Total

2021 $ 341 $ 176 $ 517 $ 0.72 
2020 $ 432 $ 223 $ 655 $ 0.90 
2019 $ 632 $ 372 $ 1,004 $ 1.38 

On January 10, 2022, we declared a cash distribution of $0.18 per unit on our outstanding common units. The total distribution of $127 million was paid on February 14, 2022 to unitholders of
record at the close of business on January 31, 2022, for the period from October 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021. Of this amount, approximately $43 million was paid to AAP.
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Noncontrolling Interests in Subsidiaries

As of December 31, 2021, noncontrolling interests in our subsidiaries consisted of (i) a 35% interest in the Permian JV and (ii) a 33% interest in Red River Pipeline Company LLC ("Red River
LLC”). The transactions resulting in the recognition of such noncontrolling interests are described below.

In October 2021, we formed a joint venture, the Permian JV, with Oryx Midstream. We own 65% of the Permian JV and consolidate based on control, with Oryx Midstream’s 35% interest
accounted for as a noncontrolling interest. This transaction resulted in the recognition of partners’ capital attributable to noncontrolling interests of approximately $2.7 billion and an increase to our
partners’ capital excluding noncontrolling interests of approximately $605 million. See Note 7 for more details regarding this transaction.

In May 2019, we formed a joint venture, Red River LLC, with Delek Logistics Partners, LP ("Delek”) on our Red River pipeline system. We received approximately $128 million for Delek’s 33%
interest in Red River LLC. We consolidate Red River LLC based on control, with Delek’s 33% interest accounted for as a noncontrolling interest.

Noncontrolling Interest Contributions and Distributions

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, we received contributions from noncontrolling interests in Red River LLC of $1 million and $12 million, respectively, related to the Red River
pipeline capacity expansion.

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we paid distributions of $14 million, $10 million and $6 million, respectively, to noncontrolling interests in Red River LLC.

The initial distribution from the Permian JV was paid during the first quarter of 2022, with approximately $54 million paid to noncontrolling interests. Subsequent distributions will be allocated
based on the MSA. See Note 7 for additional information.

Note 13—Derivatives and Risk Management Activities

We identify the risks that underlie our core business activities and use risk management strategies to mitigate those risks when we determine that there is value in doing so. We use various
derivative instruments to optimize our profits while managing our exposure to (i) commodity price risk, (ii) interest rate risk and (iii) currency exchange rate risk. Our commodity price risk management
policies and procedures are designed to help ensure that our hedging activities address our risks by monitoring our derivative positions, as well as physical volumes, grades, locations, delivery
schedules and storage capacity. Our interest rate and currency exchange rate risk management policies and procedures are designed to monitor our derivative positions and ensure that those positions
are consistent with our objectives and approved strategies. Our policy is to use derivative instruments for risk management purposes and not for the purpose of speculating on changes in commodity
prices, interest rates or currency exchange rates. When we apply hedge accounting, our policy is to formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our
risk management objectives for undertaking the hedge. This process includes specific identification of the hedging instrument and the hedged transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how
the hedging instrument’s effectiveness will be assessed. At the inception of the hedging relationship, we assess whether the derivatives employed are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash
flows of anticipated hedged transactions. Throughout the hedging relationship, retrospective and prospective hedge effectiveness is assessed on a qualitative basis.

We record all open derivatives on the balance sheet as either assets or liabilities measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized currently in earnings unless
specific hedge accounting criteria are met. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value are deferred in AOCI and recognized in earnings in the periods during which the
underlying hedged transactions are recognized in earnings. Derivatives that are not designated in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes are recognized in earnings each period. Cash
settlements associated with our derivative activities are classified within the same category as the related hedged item in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Our financial derivatives, used for hedging risk, are governed through ISDA master agreements and clearing brokerage agreements. These agreements include stipulations regarding the right of
set off in the event that we or our counterparty default on performance obligations. If a default were to occur, both parties have the right to net amounts payable and receivable into a single net
settlement between parties.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, none of our outstanding derivatives contained credit-risk related contingent features that would result in a material adverse impact to us upon any change in our
credit ratings. Although we may be required to post margin on our exchange-traded derivatives transacted through a clearing brokerage account, as described below, we do not require our non-cleared
derivative counterparties to post collateral with us.

Commodity Price Risk Hedging

Our core business activities involve certain commodity price-related risks that we manage in various ways, including through the use of derivative instruments. Our policy is to (i) only purchase
inventory for which we have a sales market, (ii) structure our sales contracts so that price fluctuations do not materially affect our operating income and (iii) not acquire and hold material physical
inventory or derivatives for the purpose of speculating on commodity price changes. The material commodity-related risks inherent in our business activities can be divided into the following general
categories:

Commodity Purchases and Sales — In the normal course of our operations, we purchase and sell commodities. We use derivatives to manage the associated risks and to optimize profits. As of
December 31, 2021, net derivative positions related to these activities included:

• A net long position of 8.4 million barrels associated with our crude oil purchases, which was unwound ratably during January 2022 to match monthly average pricing.

• A net short time spread position of 5.7 million barrels, which hedges a portion of our anticipated crude oil lease gathering purchases through December 2022.

• A net crude oil basis spread position of 7.3 million barrels at multiple locations through December 2022. These derivatives allow us to lock in grade and location basis differentials.

• A net short position of 19.2 million barrels through December 2023 related to anticipated net sales of crude oil and NGL inventory.

Natural Gas Processing/NGL Fractionation — We purchase natural gas for processing and operational needs. Additionally, we purchase NGL mix for fractionation and sell the resulting
individual specification products (including ethane, propane, butane and condensate). In conjunction with these activities, we hedge the price risk associated with the purchase of the natural gas and
the subsequent sale of the individual specification products. The following table summarizes our open derivative positions utilized to hedge the price risk associated with anticipated purchases and
sales related to our natural gas processing and NGL fractionation activities as of December 31, 2021.

Notional Volume
(Short)/Long Remaining Tenor

Natural gas purchases 73.4 Bcf December 2023
Propane sales (13.7) MMbls December 2023
Butane sales (3.3) MMbls December 2023
Condensate sales (1.5) MMbls December 2023
Fuel gas requirements 7.5 Bcf December 2022
Power supply requirements 0.6 TWh December 2023

Positions to hedge a portion of our power supply and fuel gas requirements at our Canadian natural gas processing and fractionation plants.

Physical commodity contracts that meet the definition of a derivative but are ineligible, or not designated, for the normal purchases and normal sales scope exception are recorded on the
balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. We have determined that substantially all of our physical commodity contracts qualify for the normal purchases and normal
sales scope exception.

(1)
(1)

(1)
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Our commodity derivatives are not designated in a hedging relationship for accounting purposes; as such, changes in the fair value are reported in earnings. The following table summarizes the
impact of our commodity derivatives recognized in earnings (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Product sales revenues $ (710) $ (302) $ 310 
Field operating costs 71 5 14 

Net gain/(loss) from commodity derivative activity $ (639) $ (297) $ 324 

Our accounting policy is to offset derivative assets and liabilities executed with the same counterparty when a master netting arrangement exists. Accordingly, we also offset derivative assets
and liabilities with amounts associated with cash margin. Our exchange-traded derivatives are transacted through clearing brokerage accounts and are subject to margin requirements as established by
the respective exchange. On a daily basis, our account equity (consisting of the sum of our cash balance and the fair value of our open derivatives) is compared to our initial margin requirement resulting
in the payment or return of variation margin. The following table provides the components of our net broker receivable/(payable) (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020

Initial margin $ 133 $ 91 
Variation margin posted/(returned) 173 290 
Letters of credit (47) (63)

Net broker receivable/(payable) $ 259 $ 318 

The following table reflects the Consolidated Balance Sheet line items that include the fair values of our commodity derivative assets and liabilities and the effect of the collateral netting. Such
amounts are presented on a gross basis, before the effects of counterparty netting. However, we have elected to present our commodity derivative assets and liabilities with the same counterparty on a
net basis on our Consolidated Balance Sheet when the legal right of offset exists. Amounts in the table below are presented in millions.

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Effect of
Collateral

Netting

Net Carrying
Value Presented
on the Balance

Sheet

Effect of
Collateral

Netting

Net Carrying
Value Presented
on the Balance

Sheet
Commodity Derivatives Commodity Derivatives

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivative Assets
Other current assets $ 90 $ (210) $ 259 $ 139 $ 71 $ (314) $ 318 $ 75 
Other long-term assets, net 3 — — 3 5 — — 5 
Derivative Liabilities
Other current liabilities 4 (24) — (20) 9 (40) — (31)
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits 3 (9) — (6) — (32) — (32)

Total $ 100 $ (243) $ 259 $ 116 $ 85 $ (386) $ 318 $ 17 
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Interest Rate Risk Hedging

We use interest rate derivatives to hedge the benchmark interest rate associated with interest payments occurring as a result of debt issuances. The derivative instruments we use to manage
this risk consist of forward starting interest rate swaps and treasury locks. These derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges. As such, changes in fair value are deferred in AOCI and are reclassified
to interest expense as we incur the interest expense associated with the underlying debt. 

The following table summarizes the terms of our outstanding interest rate derivatives as of December 31, 2021 (notional amounts in millions):

Hedged Transaction
Number and Types of
Derivatives Employed

Notional
Amount

Expected
Termination Date

Average Rate
Locked

Accounting
Treatment

Anticipated interest payments 8 forward starting swaps
(30-year)

$ 200 6/15/2023 1.38 % Cash flow hedge

Anticipated interest payments 8 forward starting swaps
(30-year)

$ 200 6/14/2024 0.73 % Cash flow hedge

As of December 31, 2021, there was a net loss of $208 million deferred in AOCI. The deferred net loss recorded in AOCI is expected to be reclassified to future earnings contemporaneously with
interest expense accruals associated with underlying debt instruments. We estimate that substantially all of the remaining deferred loss will be reclassified to earnings through 2054 as the underlying
hedged transactions impact earnings. A portion of these amounts is based on market prices as of December 31, 2021; thus, actual amounts to be reclassified will differ and could vary materially as a
result of changes in market conditions.

The following table summarizes the net unrealized gain/(loss) recognized in AOCI for derivatives (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Interest rate derivatives, net $ 19 $ (10) $ (91)

At December 31, 2021, the net fair value of our interest rate hedges, which were included in "Other long-term assets, net” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet, totaled $65 million. At December
31, 2020, the net fair value of these hedges totaled $46 million and was included in "Other long-term assets, net.”

Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option
 

A derivative feature embedded in a contract that does not meet the definition of a derivative in its entirety must be bifurcated and accounted for separately if the economic characteristics and
risks of the embedded derivative are not clearly and closely related to those of the host contract. The Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option of our Series A preferred units is an embedded derivative
that must be bifurcated from the related host contract, our partnership agreement, and recorded at fair value on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. This embedded derivative is not designated in a
hedging relationship for accounting purposes and corresponding changes in fair value are recognized in "Other income/(expense), net” in our Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 we recognized net gains of $14 million, $20 million and $2 million, respectively. The fair value of the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option, which was included in
"Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, totaled less than $1 million and $14 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. See Note 12 for additional
information regarding our Series A preferred units and the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option.
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Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following table sets forth by level within the fair value hierarchy our financial assets and liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis (in millions):

Fair Value as of December 31, 2021 Fair Value as of December 31, 2020
Recurring Fair Value Measures Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Commodity derivatives $ (17) $ (124) $ (2) $ (143) $ (143) $ (143) $ (15) $ (301)
Interest rate derivatives — 65 — 65 — 46 — 46 
Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option and Other — — — — — 2 (14) (12)

Total net derivative asset/(liability) $ (17) $ (59) $ (2) $ (78) $ (143) $ (95) $ (29) $ (267)

Derivative assets and liabilities are presented above on a net basis but do not include related cash margin deposits.

Level 1

Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy includes exchange-traded commodity derivatives and over-the-counter commodity contracts such as futures and swaps. The fair value of exchange-traded
commodity derivatives and over-the-counter commodity contracts is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2

Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy includes exchange-cleared commodity derivatives and over-the-counter commodity, interest rate and foreign currency derivatives that are traded in observable
markets with less volume and transaction frequency than active markets. In addition, it includes certain physical commodity contracts. The fair values of these derivatives are corroborated with
market observable inputs.

Level 3

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy includes certain physical commodity and other contracts, over-the-counter options and the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option contained in our
partnership agreement which is classified as an embedded derivative.

The fair values of our Level 3 physical commodity and other contracts and over-the-counter options are based on valuation models utilizing significant timing estimates, which involve
management judgment, and pricing inputs from observable and unobservable markets with less volume and transaction frequency than active markets. Significant deviations from these
estimates and inputs could result in a material change in fair value. We report unrealized gains and losses associated with these contracts in our Consolidated Statements of Operations as
Product sales revenues.

The fair value of the embedded derivative feature contained in our partnership agreement is based on a valuation model that estimates the fair value of the Series A preferred units with and
without the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option. This model contains inputs, including our common unit price, ten-year U.S. Treasury rates, default probabilities and timing estimates, some
of which involve management judgment. A significant change in these inputs could result in a material change in fair value to this embedded derivative feature.

(1)

(1)
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Rollforward of Level 3 Net Asset/(Liability)

The following table provides a reconciliation of changes in fair value of the beginning and ending balances for our derivatives classified as Level 3 (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Beginning Balance $ (29) $ (51)
Net gains/(losses) for the period included in earnings 15 12 
Settlements 12 10 

Ending Balance $ (2) $ (29)

Change in unrealized gains/(losses) included in earnings relating to Level 3 derivatives still held at the end of the period $ 15 $ 12 

Note 14—Leases

Lessee
We evaluate all agreements entered into or modified that convey to us the use of property or equipment for a term to determine whether the agreement is or contains a lease. Significant

judgment is required when determining whether we obtain the right to direct the use of identified property or equipment. We lease certain property and equipment under noncancelable and cancelable
operating and finance leases. Our operating leases primarily relate to railcars, office space, land, vehicles, and storage tanks, and our finance leases primarily relate to tractor trailers, land, storage tanks
and vehicles. One of our finance leases is for storage tanks owned by an equity method investee, in which we own a 50% interest. For leases with an initial term of greater than 12 months, we recognize a
right-of-use asset and lease liability on the balance sheet. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. We have elected the non-lease component separation
practical expedient for certain classes of assets where we are the lessee. Our lease agreements have remaining lease terms ranging from one year to approximately 59 years. When applicable, this range
includes additional terms associated with leases for which we are reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew and such renewal options are recognized as part of our right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities. We have renewal options for leases with terms ranging from one year to 25 years that are not recognized as part of our right-of-use assets or lease liabilities as we have determined we are not
reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew.

Certain of our leases have variable lease payments, many of which are based on changes in market indices such as the Consumer Price Index. Our lease agreements for our tractor trailers
contain residual value guarantees equal to the fair market value of the tractor trailers at the end of the lease term in the event that we elect not to purchase the asset for an amount equal to the fair value.
Our lease agreements do not contain any material restrictive covenants.

For determining the present value of lease payments, we use the discount rate implicit in the lease when readily determinable; however, such rate is not readily determinable for most of our
leases. For those leases for which the discount rate is not readily determinable, we utilize incremental borrowing rates that reflect collateralized borrowing with payments and terms that mirror our lease
portfolio to discount the lease payments based on information available at the lease commencement date.
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The following table presents components of lease cost, including both amounts recognized in income and amounts capitalized (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
Lease Cost 2021 2020 2019
Operating lease cost $ 96 $ 111 $ 125 
Short-term lease cost 19 31 35 
Other 14 8 — 

Total lease cost $ 129 $ 150 $ 160 

Includes finance lease costs, variable lease costs and sublease income.

Includes approximately $8 million and $6 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, associated with leased storage tanks owned by an equity method investee, in
which we own a 50% interest.

The following table presents information related to cash flows arising from lease transactions (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 91 $ 108 $ 116 
Operating cash flows for finance leases $ 7 $ 5 $ 1 
Financing cash flows for finance leases $ 11 $ 19 $ 18 

Non-cash change in lease liabilities arising from obtaining new right-of-use assets or modifications:
Operating leases $ 94 $ 5 $ 77 
Finance leases $ 1 $ 32 $ 27 

Includes $25 million and $12 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, associated with leased storage tanks owned by an equity method investee, in which we own a
50% interest.

Information related to the weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate is presented in the table below:

December 31,
2021 2020

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating leases 11 12
Finance leases 9 9

Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases 4.2 % 4.5 %
Finance leases 11.6 % 11.1 %

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)

 (1)

(1)
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The following table presents the amount and location of our operating and finance lease right-of-use assets and liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets (in millions):

December 31,
Leases Balance Sheet Location 2021 2020
Assets

Operating lease right-of-use assets Long-term operating lease right-of-use assets, net $ 393 $ 378 

Finance lease right-of-use assets Property and equipment $ 136 $ 141 
Accumulated depreciation (37) (27)

Property and equipment, net $ 99 $ 114 

Total lease right-of-use assets $ 492 $ 492 

Liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

Current Other current liabilities $ 77 $ 78 
Noncurrent Long-term operating lease liabilities 339 317 

Total operating lease liabilities $ 416 $ 395 

Finance lease liabilities 
Current Short-term debt $ 12 $ 11 
Noncurrent Other long-term debt, net 59 70 

Total finance lease liabilities $ 71 $ 81 

Total lease liabilities $ 487 $ 476 

Includes right-of-use assets of $33 million and $35 million and lease liabilities of $35 million and $36 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, associated with leased storage tanks
owned by an equity method investee, in which we own a 50% interest.

The following table presents the maturity of undiscounted cash flows for future minimum lease payments under noncancelable leases as of December 31, 2021 reconciled to our lease liabilities
on our Consolidated Balance Sheet (amounts in millions):

Operating Finance 
Future minimum lease payments :

2022 $ 92 $ 18 
2023 75 15 
2024 63 14 
2025 50 12 
2026 38 7 
Thereafter 252 60 

Total 570 126 
Less: Present value discount (154) (55)
Lease liabilities $ 416 $ 71 

 (1)

(1)

(1)

(2)

 (1)
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Excludes future minimum payments for short-term and other immaterial leases not included on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Includes payments of approximately $6 million for each of the years ending 2022 through 2026 and approximately $58 million thereafter associated with leased storage tanks owned by an equity
method investee, in which we own a 50% interest.

Lessor

We evaluate all agreements entered into or modified that convey to others the use of property or equipment for a term to determine whether the agreement is or contains a lease. Significant
judgment is required when determining whether a customer obtains the right to direct the use of identified property or equipment. The underlying assets associated with these agreements are evaluated
for future use beyond the lease term. We have elected the non-lease component separation practical expedient for all classes of assets where we are the lessor.

We enter into agreements to conduct activities associated with (i) providing storage services primarily for crude oil and NGL and (ii) transporting crude oil and NGL. Certain of these agreements
convey counterparties the right to direct the operation of physically distinct assets. Such agreements include (i) fixed consideration, which is measured based on an available capacity during the period
multiplied by the rate in the agreement, or (ii) a fixed monthly fee and variable consideration based on usage. These agreements often include options to extend or terminate the lease, with advance
notice. These agreements are operating leases.

The following table presents our lease revenue for the periods indicated (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Operating lease revenue $ 28 $ 19 $ 17 

These amounts are included in "Services revenues” on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The table below presents the maturity of lease payments for operating lease agreements in effect as of December 31, 2021. This presentation includes minimum fixed lease payments and does
not include an estimate of variable lease consideration. These agreements have remaining lease terms ranging from one year to 20 years. The following table presents the undiscounted cash flows
expected to be received related to these agreements (in millions):

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter
Future minimum lease revenue $ 29 $ 22 $ 20 $ 20 $ 20 $ 197 

Note 15—Income Taxes

Income tax expense is estimated using the tax rate in effect or to be in effect during the relevant periods in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for temporary differences between the basis of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually
paid or recovered. To the extent we do not consider it more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, a valuation allowance is established. Changes in tax legislation are included in the
relevant computations in the period in which such changes are effective. We review contingent tax liabilities for estimated exposures on a more likely than not standard related to our current tax
positions.

Pursuant to FASB guidance related to accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, we may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the tax position and also the past administrative practices and precedents of the taxing authority.
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had not recognized any material amounts in connection with uncertainty in income taxes.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(1)
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U.S. Federal and State Taxes

As an MLP, we are not subject to U.S. federal income taxes; rather the tax effect of our operations is passed through to our unitholders. Although we are subject to state income taxes in some
states, the impact to the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was immaterial.

Canadian Federal and Provincial Taxes

All of our Canadian operations are conducted by entities that are treated as corporations for Canadian tax purposes (flow through for U.S. income tax purposes) and that are subject to Canadian
federal and provincial taxes. Additionally, payments of interest and dividends from our Canadian entities to other Plains entities are subject to Canadian withholding tax that is treated as income tax
expense.

Tax Components

Components of income tax expense are as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Current income tax expense:
State income tax $ 2 $ — $ 3 
Canadian federal and provincial income tax 48 51 109 

Total current income tax expense $ 50 $ 51 $ 112 

Deferred income tax expense/(benefit):
Canadian federal and provincial income tax $ 23 $ (70) $ (46)

Total deferred income tax expense/(benefit) $ 23 $ (70) $ (46)
Total income tax expense/(benefit) $ 73 $ (19) $ 66 

The difference between income tax expense based on the statutory federal income tax rate and our effective income tax expense is summarized as follows (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Income/(loss) before tax $ 721 $ (2,599) $ 2,246
Partnership (earnings)/loss not subject to current Canadian tax (370) 2,221 (1,769)

$ 351 $ (378) $ 477
Canadian federal and provincial corporate tax rate 24% 24% 26%
Income tax expense/(benefit) at statutory rate $ 84 $ (91) $ 124

Canadian permanent differences and rate changes $ (13) $ 72 $ (61)
State income tax 2 — 3

Total income tax expense/(benefit) $ 73 $ (19) $ 66

The Canadian permanent differences and rate changes for the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily related to an impairment of goodwill that was recognized during the year. A portion of the
goodwill that was impaired had no basis for Canadian income tax purposes and thus was not a deductible expense in determining taxable income, resulting in a permanent difference for Canadian tax
purposes. See Note 8 for additional information regarding this impairment.
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During the second quarter of 2019, the Alberta government enacted legislation that reduces the Alberta provincial corporate income tax rate from 12% to 8% over the period from July 1, 2019
through January 1, 2022. As a result, during the second quarter of 2019, we recognized a reduction of our deferred income tax liability of approximately $60 million and a corresponding deferred tax
benefit. In the fourth quarter of 2020, the Alberta government changed the timing of the rate reduction to decrease the corporate income tax rate to 8% starting July 1, 2020.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are aggregated by the applicable tax paying entity and jurisdiction and result from the following (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred tax assets:
Derivative instruments $ 39 $ 45 
Lease liabilities 48 39 
Net operating losses 2 2 
Other 17 16 

Total deferred tax assets 106 102 

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment in excess of tax values (531) (475)
Lease assets (47) (38)
Other (3) (3)

Total deferred tax liabilities (581) (516)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (475) $ (414)

Balance sheet classification of deferred tax assets/(liabilities):
Other long-term assets, net $ 2 $ 2 
Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits (477) (416)

$ (475) $ (414)

As of December 31, 2021, we had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $9 million, which will expire beginning in 2034.

Generally, tax returns for our Canadian entities are open to audit from 2017 through 2021. Our U.S. and state tax years are generally open to examination from 2018 to 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, in reference to tax years 2008 to 2016, we had received notices of reassessment ("notices”) from the Canada Revenue Agency and the Alberta Tax and Revenue
Administration (the "Canadian Tax Authorities”) related primarily to transfer pricing associated with cross-border intercompany financing transactions. These notices include assessments, including
penalties and interest, associated with these transfer pricing matters totaling approximately $120 million (based on the exchange rate as of December 31, 2021). Payment of a portion of the assessment is
required in order to file a notice of objection to dispute the reassessment. Accordingly, we have remitted approximately $101 million (based on the exchange rate as of December 31, 2021) related to the
assessments, which is included in "Other long-term assets, net,” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We disagree with these notices and have contested the reassessments. We intend to vigorously
defend our position, and we plan to pursue all remedies available to us to successfully resolve these matters, including administrative remedies with the Canadian Tax Authorities, and judicial remedies,
if necessary. As of December 31, 2021, we believe that our tax position associated with these matters is "more likely than not” to be sustained and have not recognized any amounts for uncertainty in
income taxes related to these notices.
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Note 16—Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

ExxonMobil Corporation and its subsidiaries accounted for 15%, 12% and 12% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Marathon Petroleum
Corporation and its subsidiaries accounted for 12%, 13% and 12% of our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. BP p.l.c. and its subsidiaries accounted for 10% of
our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2021. Phillips 66 Company and its subsidiaries accounted for 11% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2019. No other customers accounted for
10% or more of our revenues during any of the three years ended December 31, 2021. The majority of revenues from these customers pertain to our Crude Oil segment merchant activities, and sales to
these customers occur at multiple locations. If we were to lose one or more of these customers, there is risk that we would not be able to identify and access a replacement market at a comparable margin.

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade receivables. Our accounts receivable are primarily from purchasers and shippers of
crude oil and, to a lesser extent, purchasers of NGL. This industry concentration has the potential to impact our overall exposure to credit risk in that the customers may be similarly affected by changes
in economic, industry or other conditions. We review credit exposure and financial information of our counterparties and generally require letters of credit for receivables from customers that are not
considered creditworthy, unless the credit risk can otherwise be reduced. See Note 3 for additional discussion of our accounts receivable and our review of credit exposure.

Note 17—Related Party Transactions

Ownership of PAGP Class C Shares

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we owned 534,596,831 and 547,717,762, respectively, Class C shares of PAGP. Each Class C share represents a non-economic limited partner interest in PAGP.
The number of Class C shares that we own is equal to the number of outstanding common units and Series A preferred units that are entitled to vote, pro rata with the holders of PAGP Class A and
Class B shares, for the election of eligible PAGP GP directors. The Class C shares function as a "pass-through” voting mechanism through which we vote at the direction of and as proxy for our common
unitholders and Series A preferred unitholders in such director elections. Common units held by AAP and Series B preferred units are not entitled to vote in the election of directors.

Reimbursement of Our General Partner and its Affiliates

Our general partner provides services necessary to manage and operate our business, properties and assets, including employing or retaining personnel. We do not pay our general partner a
management fee, but we do reimburse our general partner for all direct and indirect costs it incurs or payments it makes on our behalf, including the costs of employee, officer and director compensation
and benefits allocable to us as well as all other expenses necessary or appropriate to the conduct of our business. We record these costs on the accrual basis in the period in which our general partner
incurs them. Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will determine the expenses that are allocable to us in any reasonable manner determined by our general partner in its sole
discretion. Total costs reimbursed by us to our general partner for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $467 million, $553 million and $580 million, respectively.

Omnibus Agreement

The Plains Entities entered into an Omnibus Agreement on November 15, 2016, which provides for the following:

• that we will pay all direct or indirect expenses of any of the PAGP Entities, other than income taxes (including, but not limited to, (i) compensation for the directors of PAGP GP, (ii) director and
officer liability insurance, (iii) listing exchange fees, (iv) investor relations expenses and (v) fees related to legal, tax, financial advisory and accounting services). We paid $5 million, $5 million
and $4 million during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively;

• the ability of PAGP to issue additional Class A shares and use the net proceeds therefrom to purchase a like number of AAP units from AAP, and the corresponding ability of AAP to use the
net proceeds therefrom to purchase a like number of our common units from us; and
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• the ability of PAGP to lend proceeds of any future indebtedness incurred by it to AAP, and AAP’s corresponding ability to lend such proceeds to us, in each case on substantially the same
terms as incurred by PAGP.

Transactions with Other Related Parties

Our other related parties include (i) principal owners and their affiliated entities and (ii) entities in which we hold investments and account for under the equity method of accounting (see Note 9
for information regarding such entities). We recognize as our principal owners entities that have a designated representative on the board of directors of PAGP GP and/or own greater than 10% of the
limited partner interests in AAP. Such limited partner interests in AAP translate into a significantly smaller indirect ownership interest in PAA. We also consider subsidiaries or funds identified as
affiliated with principal owners to be related parties. As of December 31, 2021, no entities met the criteria to be recognized as a principal owner.

Through various transactions by an affiliate of The Energy & Minerals Group ("EMG”) in May 2019, EMG’s limited partner interest in AAP was significantly reduced, which caused EMG to
lose its right to designate a representative on the board of directors of PAGP GP. Additionally, as a result of various transactions by Occidental Petroleum Corporation or its subsidiaries ("Oxy”) in
September 2019, Oxy no longer holds a limited partner interest in AAP and lost its right to designate a representative on the board of directors of PAGP GP. Following these transactions, we no longer
recognize EMG or Oxy as a principal owner.

In August 2021, the board of directors of PAGP GP approved and adopted an amendment to PAGP GP’s limited liability company agreement (the "Amendment”) which eliminated all previously
negotiated "director designation” rights and requires that all directors be subject to public election, including Kayne Anderson Capital Advisors, L.P.’s ("Kayne Anderson”) legacy contractual right to
designate an individual to serve on the PAGP GP board without being subject to public election. The Amendment also eliminated all previously negotiated rights, including Kayne Anderson’s right, to
appoint a PAGP GP board observer under certain circumstances. As a result of these changes, we no longer recognize Kayne Anderson and its affiliates as related parties.

During the three years ended December 31, 2021, we recognized sales and transportation revenues, purchased petroleum products and utilized transportation and storage services from our
related parties. These transactions were conducted at posted tariff rates or prices that we believe approximate market.

The impact to our Consolidated Statements of Operations from these transactions is included below (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenues from related parties $ 33 $ 46 $ 692 

Purchases and related costs from related parties $ 385 $ 451 $ 223 

Crude oil purchases that are part of inventory exchanges under buy/sell transactions are netted with the related sales, with any margin presented in "Purchases and related costs” in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Our receivable and payable amounts with these related parties as reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets were as follows (in millions):

December 31,
2021 2020

Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net from related parties $ 41 $ 34 

Trade accounts payable to related parties $ 72 $ 88 

Includes amounts related to crude oil purchases and sales, transportation and storage services and amounts owed to us or advanced to us related to investment capital projects of equity
method investees where we serve as construction manager.

(1)

 (1)

(1)

(1)

(1) (2)

(1)
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We have agreements to store crude oil at facilities and transport crude oil or utilize capacity on pipelines that are owned by equity method investees. A portion of our commitment to transport
is supported by crude oil buy/sell or other agreements with third parties with commensurate quantities.

Note 18—Equity-Indexed Compensation Plans

Our equity-indexed compensation plans primarily include LTIPs. Although other types of awards are contemplated under certain of the LTIPs, currently outstanding awards are limited to
"phantom units,” which mature into the right to receive common units of PAA (or cash equivalent) upon vesting, and "tracking units,” which, upon vesting, represent the right to receive a cash
payment in an amount based upon the market value of a PAA common unit at the time of vesting. Some awards also include DERs, which, subject to applicable vesting criteria, entitle the grantee to a
cash payment equal to the cash distribution paid on an outstanding PAA common unit. The DERs terminate with the vesting or forfeiture of the underlying LTIP award.

Plains All American 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan. In May 2021, PAA unitholders approved the Plains All American 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan, which amends, restates, and renames
the Plains All American 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan and authorizes an incremental 20 million PAA common units deliverable upon vesting of awards granted under the plan.

Our LTIP awards include both liability-classified and equity-classified awards. In accordance with FASB guidance regarding share-based payments, the fair value of liability-classified LTIP
awards is calculated based on the closing market price of the underlying PAA unit at each balance sheet date and adjusted for the present value of any distributions that are estimated to occur on the
underlying units over the vesting period that will not be received by the award recipients. The fair value for equity-classified awards is calculated in a similar manner on the respective grant dates. These
fair values are recognized as compensation expense over the service period. We have elected to recognize forfeitures of awards when they occur.

Our LTIP awards contain (i) time-based vesting criteria, (ii) performance conditions, (iii) market conditions or (iv) a combination of time-based vesting criteria and performance conditions. For
awards with performance conditions, expense is accrued over the service period only if the performance condition is considered probable of occurring. When awards with performance conditions that
were previously considered improbable become probable, we incur additional expense in the period that the probability assessment changes. This is necessary to bring the accrued obligation associated
with these awards up to the level it would have been if we had been accruing for these awards since the grant date. For awards with market conditions, the probable outcomes are determined on the
respective dates that the fair values are calculated, and the resulting expense is accrued over the service period.

The following is a summary of the awards authorized under our LTIPs as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

LTIP
LTIP 

Awards Authorized
Plains All American 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan 28.8 
Plains All American PNG Successor Long-Term Incentive Plan 1.3 
Plains All American GP LLC 2006 Long-Term Incentive Tracking Unit Plan 13.4 

Total 43.5 

Of the 43.5 million total awards authorized, 22.7 million awards are currently available. The remaining balance has already vested or is currently outstanding.

As of December 31, 2021, 10.7 million LTIP awards were outstanding. Of the awards outstanding, 7.6 million include associated DERs. At December 31, 2021, certain of the outstanding LTIP
awards were considered probable of vesting and such awards are expected to vest at various dates between January 2022 and August 2026. As of December 31, 2021, the outstanding awards that are
considered probable of vesting have a remaining unrecognized fair value of approximately $44 million.

(2)

(1)

(1)
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Note 19—Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

We have commitments, some of which are leases, related to real property, equipment and operating facilities. We also incur costs associated with leased land, rights-of-way, permits and
regulatory fees. Future noncancelable commitments related to these items at December 31, 2021 are summarized below (in millions):

2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Thereafter Total
Leases $ 110 $ 90 $ 77 $ 62 $ 45 $ 312 $ 696 
Other commitments 327 307 298 282 211 624 2,049 
Total $ 437 $ 397 $ 375 $ 344 $ 256 $ 936 $ 2,745 

Includes both operating and finance leases as defined by FASB guidance. Leases are primarily for (i) railcars, (ii) office space, (iii) land, (iv) vehicles, (v) storage tanks and (vi) tractor trailers.
See Note 14 for additional information.

Primarily includes storage, transportation and pipeline throughput agreements, as well as certain rights-of-way easements. Expense associated with our storage, transportation and pipeline
throughput agreements was approximately $270 million, $265 million and $236 million for 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. A majority of the storage, transportation and pipeline throughput
commitments are associated with agreements to store crude oil at facilities and transport crude oil on pipelines owned by equity method investees, in which we own a 50% interest, at posted
tariff rates or prices that we believe approximate market. A portion of our commitment to transport is supported by crude oil buy/sell or other agreements with third parties with commensurate
quantities.

Loss Contingencies — General

To the extent we are able to assess the likelihood of a negative outcome for a contingency, our assessments of such likelihood range from remote to probable. If we determine that a negative
outcome is probable and the amount of loss is reasonably estimable, we accrue an undiscounted liability equal to the estimated amount. If a range of probable loss amounts can be reasonably estimated
and no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, then we accrue an undiscounted liability equal to the minimum amount in the range. In addition, we estimate legal fees that we
expect to incur associated with loss contingencies and accrue those costs when they are material and probable of being incurred.

We do not record a contingent liability when the likelihood of loss is probable but the amount cannot be reasonably estimated or when the likelihood of loss is believed to be only reasonably
possible or remote. For contingencies where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and the impact would be material to our consolidated financial statements, we disclose the nature of the
contingency and, where feasible, an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss.

Legal Proceedings — General

In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various legal proceedings, including those arising from regulatory and environmental matters. In connection with determining the
probability of loss associated with such legal proceedings and whether any potential losses associated therewith are estimable, we take into account what we believe to be all relevant known facts and
circumstances, and what we believe to be reasonable assumptions regarding the application of those facts and circumstances to existing agreements, laws and regulations. Although we are insured
against various risks to the extent we believe it is prudent, there is no assurance that the nature and amount of such insurance will be adequate, in every case, to fully protect us from losses arising from
current or future legal proceedings.

Accordingly, we can provide no assurance that the outcome of the various legal proceedings that we are currently involved in, or will become involved with in the future, will not, individually
or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

(1)
(2)

(1)

(2)
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Environmental — General

We currently own or lease, and in the past have owned and leased, properties where hazardous liquids, including hydrocarbons, are or have been handled. These properties and the hazardous
liquids or associated wastes disposed thereon may be subject to the U.S. federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as amended, and the U.S. federal Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, as well as state and Canadian federal and provincial laws and regulations. Under such laws and regulations, we could be required to remove or remediate
hazardous liquids or associated wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or operators) and to clean up contaminated property (including contaminated groundwater). Assets we
have acquired or will acquire in the future may have environmental remediation liabilities for which we are not indemnified.

Although we have made significant investments in our maintenance and integrity programs, we have experienced (and likely will experience future) releases of hydrocarbon products into the
environment from our pipeline, rail, storage and other facility operations. These releases can result from accidents or from unpredictable man-made or natural forces and may reach surface water bodies,
groundwater aquifers or other sensitive environments. We also may discover environmental impacts from past releases that were previously unidentified. Damages and liabilities associated with any
such releases from our existing or future assets could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

We record environmental liabilities when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. Generally, our recording of these
accruals coincides with our completion of a feasibility study or our commitment to a formal plan of action. We do not discount our environmental remediation liabilities to present value. We also record
environmental liabilities assumed in business combinations based on the estimated fair value of the environmental obligations caused by past operations of the acquired company. We record
receivables for amounts we believe are recoverable from insurance or from third parties under indemnification agreements in the period that we determine the costs are probable of recovery.
 

Environmental expenditures that pertain to current operations or to future revenues are expensed or capitalized consistent with our capitalization policy for property and equipment.
Expenditures that result from the remediation of an existing condition caused by past operations and that do not contribute to current or future profitability are expensed.

At December 31, 2021, our estimated undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities (excluding liabilities related to the Line 901 incident, as discussed further below) totaled $57 million, of
which $11 million was classified as short-term and $46 million was classified as long-term. At December 31, 2020, our estimated undiscounted reserve for environmental liabilities (excluding liabilities
related to the Line 901 incident) totaled $55 million, of which $8 million was classified as short-term and $47 million was classified as long-term. Such short-term liabilities are reflected in "Other current
liabilities” and long-term liabilities are reflected in "Other long-term liabilities and deferred credits” on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2021 and 2020, we had recorded receivables
(excluding receivables related to the Line 901 incident) totaling $11 million and $6 million, respectively, for amounts probable of recovery under insurance and from third parties under indemnification
agreements, $1 million of which for each period is reflected in "Other long-term assets, net” and the remainder is reflected in "Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net” on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

In some cases, the actual cash expenditures associated with these liabilities may not occur for three years or longer. Our estimates used in determining these reserves are based on information
currently available to us and our assessment of the ultimate outcome. Among the many uncertainties that impact our estimates are the necessary regulatory approvals for, and potential modification of,
our remediation plans, the limited amount of data available upon initial assessment of the impact of soil or water contamination, changes in costs associated with environmental remediation services and
equipment and the possibility of existing or future legal claims giving rise to additional liabilities. Therefore, although we believe that the reserve is adequate, actual costs incurred (which may ultimately
include costs for contingencies that are currently not reasonably estimable or costs for contingencies where the likelihood of loss is currently believed to be only reasonably possible or remote) may be
in excess of the reserve and may potentially have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Specific Legal, Environmental or Regulatory Matters

Line 901 Incident. In May 2015, we experienced a crude oil release from our Las Flores to Gaviota Pipeline (Line 901) in Santa Barbara County, California. A portion of the released crude oil
reached the Pacific Ocean at Refugio State Beach through a drainage culvert. Following the release, we shut down the pipeline and initiated our emergency response plan. A Unified Command, which
included the United States Coast Guard, the EPA, the State of California Department of Fish and Wildlife ("CDFW”), the California Office of Spill Prevention and Response and the Santa Barbara Office
of Emergency Management, was established for the response effort. Clean-up and remediation operations with respect to impacted shoreline and other areas has been determined by the Unified
Command to be complete, and the Unified Command has been dissolved. Our estimate of the amount of oil spilled, based on relevant facts, data and information, and as set forth in the Consent Decree
described below, is approximately 2,934 barrels; of this amount, we estimate that 598 barrels reached the Pacific Ocean.

As a result of the Line 901 incident, several governmental agencies and regulators initiated investigations into the Line 901 incident, various claims have been made against us and a number of
lawsuits have been filed against us, the majority of which have been resolved. Set forth below is a brief summary of actions and matters that are currently pending or recently resolved:
     

As the "responsible party” for the Line 901 incident we are liable for various costs and for certain natural resource damages under the Oil Pollution Act. In this regard, following the Line 901
incident, we entered into a cooperative Natural Resource Damage Assessment ("NRDA”) process with the federal and state agencies designated or authorized by law to act as trustees for the natural
resources of the United States and the State of California (collectively, the "Trustees”). Additionally, various government agencies sought to collect civil fines and penalties under applicable state and
federal regulations. On March 13, 2020, the United States and the People of the State of California filed a civil complaint against Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and Plains Pipeline L.P. along with a pre-
negotiated settlement agreement in the form of a Consent Decree (the "Consent Decree”) that was signed by the United States Department of Justice, Environmental and Natural Resources Division, the
United States Department of Transportation, Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration, the EPA, CDFW, the California Department of Parks and Recreation, the California State Lands
Commission, the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection’s Office of the State Fire Marshal, Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board, and Regents of the University of
California. The Consent Decree was approved and entered by the Federal District Court for the Central District of California on October 14, 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the Consent Decree, Plains paid
$24 million in civil penalties and $22.325 million as compensation for injuries to, destruction of, loss of, or loss of use of natural resources resulting from the Line 901 incident. The Consent Decree also
contains requirements for implementing certain agreed-upon injunctive relief, as well as requirements for potentially restarting Line 901 and the Sisquoc to Pentland portion of Line 903. The Consent
Decree resolved all regulatory claims related to the incident.

Following an investigation and grand jury proceedings, in May of 2016, PAA was charged by a California state grand jury, pursuant to an indictment filed in California Superior Court, Santa
Barbara County (the "May 2016 Indictment”), with alleged violations of California law in connection with the Line 901 incident. Fifteen charges from the May 2016 Indictment were the subject of a jury
trial in California Superior Court in Santa Barbara County, and the jury returned a verdict on September 7, 2018, pursuant to which we were (i) found guilty on one felony discharge count and eight
misdemeanor counts (which included one reporting count, one strict liability discharge count and six strict liability animal takings counts) and (ii) found not guilty on one strict liability animal takings
count. The remaining counts were subsequently dismissed by the Court. On April 25, 2019, PAA was sentenced to pay fines and penalties in the aggregate amount of just under $3.35 million for the
convictions covered by the September 2018 jury verdict (the "2019 Sentence”). The fines and penalties imposed in connection with the 2019 Sentence have been paid. In September 2021, the Superior
Court concluded a series of hearings on the issue of whether there were any "direct victims” of the spill that are entitled to restitution under applicable criminal law. Through a series of final orders
issued at the trial court level and without affecting any rights of the claimants under civil law, the Court dismissed the vast majority of the claims and ruled that the claimants were not entitled to
restitution under applicable criminal laws. The Court did award an aggregate amount of less than $150,000 to a handful of claimants and we settled with approximately 40 claimants before the hearings for
aggregate consideration that is not material. The prosecution has appealed the Court’s rulings.
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Shortly following the Line 901 incident, we established a claims line and encouraged any parties that were damaged by the release to contact us to discuss their damage claims. We received a
number of claims through the claims line and we have processed those claims and made payments as appropriate. Nine class action lawsuits were filed against us; however, after various claims were
either dismissed or consolidated, two proceedings remain pending in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. In the first proceeding, the plaintiffs claim two different classes
of claimants were damaged by the release: (i) commercial fishermen who landed fish in certain specified fishing blocks in the waters off the coast of Southern California or persons or businesses who
resold commercial seafood caught in those areas; and (ii) owners and lessees of residential beachfront properties, or properties with a private easement to a beach, where plaintiffs claim oil from the spill
washed up. We are vigorously defending against those claims. This case is set for trial to begin in June of 2022. In the second proceeding, the plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that Plains’ right-of-
way agreements would not allow Plains to lay a new pipeline to replace Line 901 and/or the non-operating segment of Line 903 without paying additional compensation. No trial date has been set in that
action.

In addition, four unitholder derivative lawsuits were filed by certain purported investors in the Partnership against PAGP and certain of the Partnership’s affiliates, officers and directors. After
various claims were either dismissed or consolidated, one proceeding against PAGP remains pending in Delaware Chancery Court. Generally, the plaintiffs claim that PAGP failed to exercise proper
oversight over the Partnership’s pipeline integrity efforts. We will continue to vigorously defend against the claim. No trial date has been set in this action.

We have also received several other individual lawsuits and claims from companies, governmental agencies and individuals alleging damages arising out of the Line 901 incident. These
lawsuits and claims generally seek restitution, compensatory and punitive damages, and/or injunctive relief. The majority of these lawsuits have been settled or dismissed by the court. Remaining claims
include claims for lost revenue or profit asserted by a former oil producer that declared bankruptcy and shut in its offshore production platform following the Line 901 incident, a state agency that
received royalties on oil produced from that platform until it was abandoned by its owner, and various companies and individuals who provided labor, goods, or services associated with oil production
activities they claim were disrupted following the Line 901 incident. We are vigorously defending these suits. We may be subject to additional claims and lawsuits, which could materially impact the
liabilities and costs we currently expect to incur as a result of the Line 901 incident.

Taking the foregoing into account, as of December 31, 2021, we estimate that the aggregate total costs we have incurred or will incur with respect to the Line 901 incident will be approximately
$495 million, which includes actual and projected emergency response and clean-up costs, natural resource damage assessments, fines and penalties payable pursuant to the Consent Decree and certain
third-party claims settlements, as well as estimates for certain legal fees. We accrue such estimates of aggregate total costs to "Field operating costs” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. This
estimate considers our prior experience in environmental investigation and remediation matters and available data from, and in consultation with, our environmental and other specialists, as well as
currently available facts and presently enacted laws and regulations. We have made assumptions for (i) the resolution of certain third-party claims and lawsuits, but excluding claims and lawsuits with
respect to which losses are not probable and reasonably estimable, and excluding future claims and lawsuits and (ii) the nature, extent and cost of legal services that will be required in connection with
all lawsuits, claims and other matters requiring legal or expert advice associated with the Line 901 incident. Our estimate does not include any lost revenue associated with the shutdown of Line 901 or
903 and does not include any liabilities or costs that are not reasonably estimable at this time or that relate to contingencies where we currently regard the likelihood of loss as being only reasonably
possible or remote. We believe we have accrued adequate amounts for all probable and reasonably estimable costs; however, this estimate is subject to uncertainties associated with the assumptions
that we have made. For example, with respect to potential losses that we regard as only reasonably possible or remote, we have made assumptions regarding the strength of our legal position based on
our assessment of the relevant facts and applicable law and precedent; if our assumptions regarding such matters turn out to be inaccurate (i.e., we are found to be liable under circumstances where we
regard the likelihood of loss as being only reasonably possible or remote), we could be responsible for significant costs and expenses that are not currently included in our estimates and accruals. In
addition, for any potential losses that we regard as probable and for which we have accrued an estimate of the potential losses, our estimates regarding damages, legal fees, court costs and interest
could turn out to be inaccurate and the actual losses we incur could be significantly higher than the amounts included in our estimates and accruals. Also, the amount of time it takes for us to resolve all
of the current and future lawsuits and claims that relate to the Line 901 incident could turn out to be significantly longer than we have assumed, and as a result the costs we incur for legal services could
be significantly higher than we have estimated. Accordingly, our assumptions and estimates may turn out to be inaccurate and our total costs could turn out to be materially higher; therefore, we can
provide no assurance that we will not have to accrue significant additional costs in the future with respect to the Line 901 incident.
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As of December 31, 2021, we had a remaining undiscounted gross liability of $103 million related to this event, which is reflected in "Trade accounts payable” and "Other current liabilities” on
our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We maintain insurance coverage, which is subject to certain exclusions and deductibles, in the event of such environmental liabilities. Subject to such exclusions and
deductibles, we believe that our coverage is adequate to cover the current estimated total emergency response and clean-up costs, claims settlement costs and remediation costs and we believe that this
coverage is also adequate to cover any potential increase in the estimates for these costs that exceed the amounts currently identified. Through December 31, 2021, we had collected, subject to
customary reservations, $250 million out of the approximate $355 million of release costs that we believe are probable of recovery from insurance carriers, net of deductibles. Therefore, as of
December 31, 2021, we have recognized a receivable of approximately $105 million for the portion of the release costs that we believe is probable of recovery from insurance, net of deductibles and
amounts already collected. Such amount is recognized as a current asset in "Trade accounts receivable and other receivables, net” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We have completed the required
clean-up and remediation work as determined by the Unified Command and the Unified Command has been dissolved; however, we expect to make payments for additional costs associated with
restoration of the impacted areas, as well as legal, professional and regulatory costs during future periods.

Insurance

Pipelines, terminals, trucks or other facilities or equipment may experience damage as a result of an accident, natural disaster, terrorist attack, cyber event or other event. These hazards can
cause personal injury and loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, pollution or environmental damage and suspension of operations. Consistent with insurance
coverage generally available in the industry, in certain circumstances our insurance policies provide limited coverage for losses or liabilities relating to gradual pollution, with broader coverage for
sudden and accidental occurrences. We maintain various types and varying levels of insurance coverage to cover our operations and properties, and we self-insure certain risks, including gradual
pollution, cybersecurity and named windstorms. However, such insurance does not cover every potential risk that might occur, associated with operating pipelines, terminals and other facilities and
equipment, including the potential loss of significant revenues and cash flows.

The occurrence of a significant event not fully insured, indemnified or reserved against, or the failure of a party to meet its indemnification obligations, could materially and adversely affect our
operations and financial condition. We believe that we maintain adequate insurance coverage, although insurance will not cover many types of interruptions that might occur, will not cover amounts up
to applicable deductibles and will not cover all risks associated with certain of our assets and operations. With respect to our insurance coverage, our policies are subject to deductibles and retention
levels that we consider reasonable and not excessive. Additionally, no assurance can be given that we will be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable. As a
result, we may elect to self-insure or utilize higher deductibles in certain other insurance programs. In addition, although we believe that we have established adequate reserves and liquidity to the extent
such risks are not insured, costs incurred in excess of these reserves may be higher or we may not receive insurance proceeds in a timely manner, which may potentially have a material adverse effect on
our financial conditions, results of operations or cash flows.
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Note 20—Segment Information

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we effected changes in the primary financial information provided to our CODM (our Chief Executive Officer) for assessing performance and allocating
resources to present two operating segments, Crude Oil and NGL. Prior to the fourth quarter of 2021, this information was organized into three operating segments: Transportation, Facilities and Supply
and Logistics. The change in our segments is reflective of a change in how our CODM views our business and stems primarily from (i) a multi-year transition in the midstream energy industry driven by
increased competition that has reduced the stand alone earnings opportunities of our supply and logistics activities such that those activities now primarily support our effort to increase the utilization
of our Crude Oil and NGL assets and (ii) internal changes regarding the oversight and reporting of our assets and related results of operations. All segment data and related disclosures for earlier periods
presented herein have been recast to reflect the new segment reporting structure.

Our operating segments, which are also our reportable segments, are organized by product as our Crude Oil and NGL businesses are generally impacted by different market fundamentals and
require the use of different assets and business strategies. The Crude Oil segment includes our crude oil pipelines, crude oil storage and marine terminals and related crude oil marketing activities. The
NGL segment includes our NGL pipelines, NGL storage, natural gas processing and NGL fractionation facilities and related NGL marketing activities. In our historical segment reporting, our marketing
activities were presented separately from our other operating activities. Our crude oil and NGL marketing activities are now included in the respective reporting segments as their primary purpose is to
support the utilization of our assets by entering into transactions that facilitate increased volumes handled by our assets, resulting in additional earnings for each of our segments.

Our CODM evaluates segment performance based on measures including Segment Adjusted EBITDA (as defined below) and maintenance capital. The measure of Segment Adjusted EBITDA
forms the basis of our internal financial reporting and is the primary performance measure used by our CODM in assessing performance and allocating resources among our operating segments. We
define Segment Adjusted EBITDA as revenues and equity earnings in unconsolidated entities less (a) purchases and related costs, (b) field operating costs and (c) segment general and administrative
expenses, plus (d) our proportionate share of the depreciation and amortization expense of unconsolidated entities, further adjusted (e) for certain selected items including (i) gains and losses on
derivative instruments that are related to underlying activities in another period (or the reversal of such adjustments from a prior period), gains and losses on derivatives that are related to investing
activities (such as the purchase of linefill) and inventory valuation adjustments, as applicable, (ii) long-term inventory costing adjustments, (iii) charges for obligations that are expected to be settled
with the issuance of equity instruments, (iv) amounts related to deficiencies associated with minimum volume commitments, net of the applicable amounts subsequently recognized into revenue and (v)
other items that our CODM believes are integral to understanding our core segment operating performance and (f) to exclude the portion of all preceding items that is attributable to noncontrolling
interests ("Adjusted EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests”).

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we modified our definition of Segment Adjusted EBITDA to exclude amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests. In connection with the Permian JV
formation in October 2021, our CODM determined this modification resulted in amounts that were more meaningful to evaluate segment performance. Amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests for
periods prior have been recast to reflect this modification.

Segment Adjusted EBITDA excludes depreciation and amortization. As an MLP, we make quarterly distributions of our "available cash” (as defined in our partnership agreement) to our
unitholders. We look at each period’s earnings before non-cash depreciation and amortization as an important measure of segment performance. The exclusion of depreciation and amortization expense
could be viewed as limiting the usefulness of Segment Adjusted EBITDA as a performance measure because it does not account in current periods for the implied reduction in value of our capital assets,
such as pipelines and facilities, caused by age-related decline and wear and tear. We compensate for this limitation by recognizing that depreciation and amortization are largely offset by repair and
maintenance investments, which act to partially offset the aging and wear and tear in the value of our principal fixed assets. These maintenance investments are a component of field operating costs
included in Segment Adjusted EBITDA or in maintenance capital, depending on the nature of the cost. Capital expenditures made to expand the existing operating and/or earnings capacity of our assets
are classified as investment capital. Capital expenditures for the replacement and/or refurbishment of partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our
existing assets are classified as maintenance capital, which is deducted in determining "available cash.” Repair and maintenance expenditures incurred in order to maintain the day to day operation of our
existing assets are charged to expense as incurred. Assets are not reviewed by our CODM on a segmented basis; therefore, such information is not presented.
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The following tables reflect certain financial data for each segment (in millions):

Crude Oil NGL
Intersegment Revenues

Elimination Total
Year Ended December 31, 2021
Revenues :

Product sales $ 39,395 $ 1,829 $ (341) $ 40,883 
Services 1,075 139 (19) 1,195 
Total revenues $ 40,470 $ 1,968 $ (360) $ 42,078 

Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 274 $ — $ 274 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,909 $ 285 $ 2,194 

Investment and acquisition capital expenditures $ 212 $ 57 $ 269 

Maintenance capital expenditures $ 100 $ 68 $ 168 

As of December 31, 2021
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 3,805 $ — $ 3,805 

Crude Oil NGL
Intersegment Revenues

Elimination Total
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Revenues :

Product sales $ 21,089 $ 1,218 $ (249) $ 22,058 
Services 1,110 142 (20) 1,232 
Total revenues $ 22,199 $ 1,360 $ (269) $ 23,290 

Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 355 $ — $ 355 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,216 $ 327 $ 2,543 

Investment and acquisition capital expenditures $ 1,182 $ 49 $ 1,231 

Maintenance capital expenditures $ 171 $ 45 $ 216 

As of December 31, 2020
Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 3,764 $ — $ 3,764 

Crude Oil NGL
Intersegment Revenues

Elimination Total
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Revenues :

Product sales $ 30,375 $ 2,302 $ (405) $ 32,272 
Services 1,280 137 (20) 1,397 
Total revenues $ 31,655 $ 2,439 $ (425) $ 33,669 

Equity earnings in unconsolidated entities $ 388 $ — $ 388 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,753 $ 467 $ 3,220 

Investment and acquisition capital expenditures $ 1,332 $ 58 $ 1,390 

Maintenance capital expenditures $ 248 $ 39 $ 287 

As of December 31, 2019
   

Investments in unconsolidated entities $ 3,683 $ — $ 3,683 

(1)

(2) (3)

(3)

(1)

(2) (3)

(3)

(1)

(2) (3)

(3)
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Segment revenues include intersegment amounts that are eliminated in Purchases and related costs. Intersegment activities are conducted at posted tariff rates where applicable, or otherwise at
rates similar to those charged to third parties or rates that we believe approximate market at the time the agreement is executed or renegotiated.

Investment and acquisition capital expenditures, including investments in unconsolidated entities.

These amounts combined represent total capital expenditures.

Segment Adjusted EBITDA Reconciliation

The following table reconciles Segment Adjusted EBITDA to Net income/(loss) attributable to PAA (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Segment Adjusted EBITDA $ 2,194 $ 2,543 $ 3,220 
Adjustments :

Depreciation and amortization of unconsolidated entities (123) (73) (62)
Gains/(losses) from derivative activities and inventory valuation adjustments 271 (480) (160)
Long-term inventory costing adjustments 94 (44) 20 
Deficiencies under minimum volume commitments, net 7 (74) 18 
Equity-indexed compensation expense (19) (19) (17)
Net gain/(loss) on foreign currency revaluation 4 3 (14)
Line 901 incident (15) — (10)
Significant transaction-related expenses (16) (3) — 
Adjusted EBITDA attributable to noncontrolling interests 94 14 10 

Depreciation and amortization (774) (653) (601)
Gains/(losses) on asset sales and asset impairments, net (592) (719) (28)
Goodwill impairment losses — (2,515) — 
Gain on/(impairment of) investments in unconsolidated entities, net 2 (182) 271 
Interest expense, net (425) (436) (425)
Other income, net 19 39 24 
Income/(loss) before tax 721 (2,599) 2,246 
Income tax (expense)/benefit (73) 19 (66)
Net income/(loss) 648 (2,580) 2,180 

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (55) (10) (9)
Net income/(loss) attributable to PAA $ 593 $ (2,590) $ 2,171 

Represents adjustments utilized by our CODM in the evaluation of segment results.

Includes our proportionate share of the depreciation and amortization expense (including write-downs related to cancelled projects) of unconsolidated entities.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)
(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)
(8)

(9)
(10)

(1)

(2)
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We use derivative instruments for risk management purposes and our related processes include specific identification of hedging instruments to an underlying hedged transaction. Although
we identify an underlying transaction for each derivative instrument we enter into, there may not be an accounting hedge relationship between the instrument and the underlying transaction. In
the course of evaluating our results, we identify differences in the timing of earnings from the derivative instruments and the underlying transactions and exclude the related gains and losses in
determining Segment Adjusted EBITDA such that the earnings from the derivative instruments and the underlying transactions impact Segment Adjusted EBITDA in the same period. In
addition, we exclude gains and losses on derivatives that are related to investing activities, such as the purchase of linefill. We also exclude the impact of corresponding inventory valuation
adjustments, as applicable.

We carry crude oil and NGL inventory that is comprised of minimum working inventory requirements in third-party assets and other working inventory that is needed for our commercial
operations. We consider this inventory necessary to conduct our operations and we intend to carry this inventory for the foreseeable future. Therefore, we classify this inventory as long-term
on our balance sheet and do not hedge the inventory with derivative instruments (similar to linefill in our own assets). We exclude the impact of changes in the average cost of the long-term
inventory (that result from fluctuations in market prices) and write-downs of such inventory that result from price declines from Segment Adjusted EBITDA.

We, and certain of our equity method investments, have certain agreements that require counterparties to deliver, transport or throughput a minimum volume over an agreed upon period.
Substantially all of such agreements were entered into with counterparties to economically support the return on our capital expenditure necessary to construct the related asset. Some of these
agreements include make-up rights if the minimum volume is not met. We record a receivable from the counterparty in the period that services are provided or when the transaction occurs,
including amounts for deficiency obligations from counterparties associated with minimum volume commitments. If a counterparty has a make-up right associated with a deficiency, we defer the
revenue attributable to the counterparty’s make-up right and subsequently recognize the revenue at the earlier of when the deficiency volume is delivered or shipped, when the make-up right
expires or when it is determined that the counterparty’s ability to utilize the make-up right is remote. We include the impact of amounts billed to counterparties for their deficiency obligation, net
of applicable amounts subsequently recognized into revenue, as a selected item impacting comparability. Our CODM views the inclusion of the contractually committed revenues associated
with that period as meaningful to Segment Adjusted EBITDA as the related asset has been constructed, is standing ready to provide the committed service and the fixed operating costs are
included in the current period results.

Our total equity-indexed compensation expense includes expense associated with awards that will be settled in units and awards that will be settled in cash. The awards that will be settled in
units are included in our diluted net income per unit calculation when the applicable performance criteria have been met. We exclude compensation expense associated with these awards in
determining Segment Adjusted EBITDA as the dilutive impact of the outstanding awards is included in our diluted net income per unit calculation, as applicable. The portion of compensation
expense associated with awards that will settle in cash is not excluded in determining Segment Adjusted EBITDA. See Note 18 for information regarding our equity-indexed compensation plans.

During the periods presented, there were fluctuations in the value of CAD to USD, resulting in the realization of foreign exchange gains and losses on the settlement of foreign currency
transactions as well as the revaluation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency. These gains and losses are not integral to our core operating performance and were
therefore excluded in determining Segment Adjusted EBITDA.

Includes costs recognized during the period related to the Line 901 incident that occurred in May 2015, net of amounts we believe are probable of recovery from insurance. See Note 19 for
additional information regarding the Line 901 incident.

Includes expenses associated with the Permian JV transaction in 2021 and the Felix Midstream LLC acquisition in 2020. See Note 7 for additional discussion. An adjustment for these non-
recurring expenses is included in the calculation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 as our CODM does not view such expenses as integral to
understanding our core segment operating performance.

Reflects amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests in the Permian JV (beginning October 2021) and Red River LLC.
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Geographic Data

We have operations in the United States and Canada. Set forth below are revenues and long-lived assets attributable to these geographic areas (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,
Revenues 2021 2020 2019
United States $ 34,458 $ 17,942 $ 27,162 
Canada 7,620 5,348 6,507 

$ 42,078 $ 23,290 $ 33,669 

Revenues are primarily attributed to each region based on where the services are provided or the product is shipped.

December 31,
Long-Lived Assets 2021 2020
United States $ 18,273 $ 16,887 
Canada 4,094 3,892 

$ 22,367 $ 20,779 

Excludes long-term derivative assets, long-term deferred tax assets and goodwill.

 (1)

(1)

(1)
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F-66



Execut i on Ver s i on FOURTH AM ENDED AND RESTATED LI M I TED LI ABI LI TY COM PANY AGREEM ENT OF PAA GP HOLDI NGS LLC ef f ec t i ve  as  of  Augus t  19,  2021 Exhi bi t  3. 21



 

i  TABLE OF CONTENTS Page  ARTI CLE I   DEFI NI TI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1  ARTI CLE I I   GENERAL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7  2. 1  FORM ATI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7  2. 2  PRI NCI PAL OFFI CE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7  2. 3  REGI STERED OFFI CE AND REGI STERED AGENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7  2. 4  PURPOSE OF THE COM PANY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7  2. 5  DATE OF DI SSOLUTI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  2. 6  QUALI FI CATI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  2. 7 
M EM BERS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  2. 8  RELI ANCE BY THI RD PARTI ES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  ARTI CLE I I I   CAPI TALI ZATI ON OF THE COM PANY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  3. 1  CAPI TAL CONTRI BUTI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  3. 2  ADDI TI ONAL CAPI TAL CONTRI BUTI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8  3. 3  SPLI TS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  ARTI CLE I V  DI STRI BUTI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  4. 1  DI STRI BUTI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  4. 2  PERSONS ENTI TLED TO DI STRI BUTI ONS

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  ARTI CLE V  M EM BERS’  M EETI NGS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  5. 1  M EETI NGS OF M EM BERS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  5. 2  QUORUM ;  VOTI NG REQUI REM ENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  5. 3  PROXI ES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9  5. 4  ACTI ON W I THOUT M EETI NG . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10  5. 5  NOTI CE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10  5. 6  W AI VER OF NOTI CE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10  ARTI CLE VI   M ANAGEM ENT AND CONTROL
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10  6. 1  BOARD OF DI RECTORS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10  6. 2  CLASSI FI CATI ON OF THE BOARD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  15  6. 3  M EETI NGS OF THE BOARD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16  6. 4  QUORUM  AND ACTS OF THE BOARD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16  6. 5  COM M UNI CATI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16  6. 6  COM M I TTEES OF DI RECTORS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17  6. 7  COM PENSATI ON OF DI RECTORS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17  6. 8  DI RECTORS AS AGENTS

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17  6. 9  OFFI CERS;  AGENTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  17  ARTI CLE VI I   LI ABI LI TY AND I NDEM NI FI CATI ON. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  18  7. 1  LI M I TATI ON ON LI ABI LI TY OF M EM BERS,  DI RECTORS AND OFFI CERS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  18  7. 2  I NDEM NI FI CATI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19 



 

i i  ARTI CLE VI I I   TRANSFERS OF UNI TS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  20  8. 1  GENERAL RESTRI CTI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  20  8. 2  SUBSTI TUTE M EM BERS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  21  8. 3  EFFECT OF ADM I SSI ON AS A SUBSTI TUTE M EM BER . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  21  8. 4  CONSENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  21  8. 5  NO DI SSOLUTI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22  8. 6  ADDI TI ONAL M EM BERS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22  ARTI CLE I X  DI SSOLUTI ON AND TERM I NATI ON. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22  9. 1  EVENTS CAUSI NG DI SSOLUTI ON
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22  9. 2  FI NAL ACCOUNTI NG . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22  9. 3  DI STRI BUTI ONS FOLLOW I NG DI SSOLUTI ON AND TERM I NATI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22  9. 4  TERM I NATI ON OF THE COM PANY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  23  9. 5  NO ACTI ON FOR DI SSOLUTI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  23  ARTI CLE X  ACCOUNTI NG;  BOOKS AND RECORDS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  23  10. 1  FI SCAL YEAR AND ACCOUNTI NG M ETHOD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  23  10. 2  BOOKS AND RECORDS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  23  10. 3  DELI VERY TO M EM BERS;  I NSPECTI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  24  10. 4  NON- DI SCLOSURE

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  24  ARTI CLE XI   NON- COM PETI TI ON AND NON- SOLI CI TATI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  24  11. 1  NON- COM PETI TI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  24  11. 2  NON- SOLI CI TATI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  25  11. 3  DAM AGES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  25  11. 4  LI M I TATI ONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26  ARTI CLE XI I   M I SCELLANEOUS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26  12. 1  W AI VER OF DEFAULT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26  12. 2  AM ENDM ENT
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  26  12. 3  NO THI RD PARTY RI GHTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 4  SEVERABI LI TY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 5  NATURE OF I NTEREST I N THE COM PANY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 6  BI NDI NG AGREEM ENT . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 7  HEADI NGS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 8  W ORD M EANI NGS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 9  COUNTERPARTS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 10    ENTI RE

AGREEM ENT. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 11    PARTI TI ON . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  27  12. 12    GOVERNI NG LAW ;  CONSENT TO J URI SDI CTI ON AND VENUE . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28 



 

1 FOURTH AM ENDED AND RESTATED LI M I TED LI ABI LI TY COM PANY AGREEM ENT OF PAA GP HOLDI NGS LLC THI S FOURTH AM ENDED AND RESTATED LI M I TED LI ABI LI TY COM PANY AGREEM ENT ( t hi s  " Agr eem ent ” )  of  PAA GP Hol di ngs  LLC,  a  Del awar e  l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany ( t he  " Com pany”) ,  i s  m ade  and ent e r ed i nt o t hi s  25t h day of  Febr uar y,  2022 t o be  e f f ec t i ve  f or  a l l  pur pos es  as  of  Augus t  19,  2021 by t he  Com pany and i s  bi ndi ng on t hos e  Per s ons  t ha t  a r e  cur r ent l y,  or  t ha t  m ay her eaf t e r  becom e,  m em ber s  of  t he  Com pany ( s uch Per s ons  r e f e r r ed t o col l ec t i ve l y as  t he  " M em ber s ”  or ,  i ndi vi dua l l y,  a s  a  " M em ber ”) .  W HEREAS,  t he  Com pany was  f or m ed on J ul y 17,  2013 as  a  l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany under  t he  Act  ( as  def i ned be l ow)  by t he  f i l i ng of  a  ce r t i f i ca t e  of  f or m at i on of  t he  Com pany wi t h t he  Del awar e  Secr e t a r y of  St a t e ;  and W HEREAS,  t he  Boar d adopt ed t he  Thi r d Am ended and Res t a t ed Li m i t ed Li abi l i t y Com pany Agr eem ent  of  PAA GP Hol di ngs  LLC on Febr uar y 16,  2017 ( t he  " Thi r d A& R LLC Agr eem ent ” ) ;  and W HEREAS,  t he  Boar d adopt ed am endm ent s  t o t he
Thi r d A& R LLC Agr eem ent  on Oct ober  1,  2018,  Decem ber  10,  2018,  Novem ber  21,  2019 ( e f f ec t i ve  J anuar y 1,  2020) ,  Febr uar y 25,  2021 and Augus t  19,  2021 ( col l ec t i ve l y,  t he  " Am endm ent s ” ) ;  and W HEREAS,  t he  Boar d has  aut hor i zed t he  Com pany t o am end and r es t a t e  t he  Thi r d A& R LLC Agr eem ent  i n i t s  ent i r e t y t o r e f l ec t  and cons ol i da t e  t he  Am endm ent s  and has  appr oved t hi s  Agr eem ent .  NOW ,  THEREFORE,  i n cons i der a t i on of  t he  pr em i s es  and t he  m ut ua l  agr eem ent s  cont a i ned her e i n,  t he  par t i es  agr ee  as  f ol l ows :  ARTI CLE I  DEFI NI TI ONS As  us ed her e i n,  t he  f ol l owi ng t e r m s  s ha l l  have  t he  f ol l owi ng m eani ngs ,  unl es s  t he  cont ext  ot her wi s e  r equi r es :  " AAP” m eans  Pl a i ns  AAP,  L. P. ,  a  De l awar e  l i m i t ed par t ner s hi p.  " AAP Cl as s  A Uni t s ”  m eans  t he  Cl as s  A Uni t s  of  AAP,  havi ng t he  r i ght s  and obl i ga t i ons  s pec i f i ed i n t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " AAP Cl as s  B Uni t s ”  m eans  t he  Cl as s  B Uni t s  of  AAP,  havi ng t he  r i ght s  and obl i ga t i ons  s pec i f i ed i n t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ”  m eans  t he  Ei ght h Am ended and Res t a t ed Li m i t ed

Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ,  da t ed as  of  Novem ber  15,  2016,  as  s uch m ay be  f ur t her  am ended,  m odi f i ed,  s uppl em ent ed or  r es t a t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  t her eof .



 

2 " AAP Redem pt i on”  m eans  a  r edem pt i on i n accor dance  wi t h Sec t i on 7. 11 of  t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " Act ”  m eans  t he  Del awar e  Li m i t ed Li abi l i t y Com pany Act ,  6 Del .  C.  Sec t i on 18- 101,  e t  s eq. ,  a s  am ended f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e .  " Af f i l i a t e”  m eans ,  wi t h r es pec t  t o any s pec i f i ed Per s on,  any ot her  Per s on t ha t  di r ec t l y,  or  i ndi r ec t l y t hr ough one  or  m or e  i nt e r m edi a r i es ,  cont r ol s ,  i s  cont r ol l ed by,  or  i s  under  com m on cont r ol  wi t h,  s uch s pec i f i ed Per s on.  As  us ed her e i n,  t he  t e r m  " cont r ol ”  m eans  t he  pos s es s i on,  di r ec t  or  i ndi r ec t ,  of  t he  power  t o di r ec t  or  caus e  t he  di r ec t i on of  t he  m anagem ent  and pol i c i es  of  a  Per s on,  whe t her  t hr ough owner s hi p of  vot i ng s ecur i t i e s ,  by cont r ac t  or  ot her wi s e ;  pr ovi ded t ha t  t he  de t e r m i na t i on as  t o whe t her  a  Per s on,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y t hr ough one  or  m or e  i nt e r m edi a r i es ,  cont r ol s ,  i s  cont r ol l ed by or  under  com m on cont r ol  wi t h anot her  Per s on s ha l l  be  m ade  t aki ng i nt o account ,  a t  t he  t i m e  of  s uch de t e r m i na t i on,  t he  cont ext  and c i r cum s t ances  s ur r oundi ng s uch de t e r m i na t i on,  i nc l udi ng any
known agr eem ent s  or  under s t andi ngs  t ha t  m ay i m pac t  s uch Per s on’ s  pos s es s i on,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  of  t he  power  t o di r ec t  or  caus e  t he  di r ec t i on of  t he  m anagem ent  or  pol i c i es  of  s uch ot her  Per s on.  For  pur pos es  of  t he  f or egoi ng:  ( a )  any i ndi vi dua l  who i s  an of f i ce r  or  di r ec t or  of  t he  Com pany or  any Gr oup M em ber  ( exc l udi ng t he  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r  and Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d)  s ha l l  not  be  cons i der ed t o be  an Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany or  any Gr oup M em ber  by vi r t ue  of  s uch Per s on’ s  s t a t us  as  an of f i ce r  or  di r ec t or  and t he  pos s es s i on of  t he  power s  t ha t  a r e  wi t hi n t he  s cope  of  t he  des i gna t ed or  de l ega t ed aut hor i t y of  s uch of f i ce r  or  di r ec t or ;  ( b)  any Per s on t ha t ,  a l one  or  t oge t her  wi t h any Af f i l i a t e  Gr oup of  whi ch s uch Per s on i s  a  pa r t ,  owns  l es s  t han 50%  of  t he  t ot a l  num ber  of  out s t andi ng Com pany Uni t s  s ha l l  not  be  cons i der ed t o be  an Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany or  any Gr oup M em ber  by vi r t ue  of  t he  owner s hi p by s uch Per s on ( and Af f i l i a t e  Gr oup,  i f  appl i cabl e )  of  s uch Com pany Uni t s ;  and ( c )  any Per s on t ha t ,  a l one  or  t oge t her

wi t h any Af f i l i a t e  Gr oup of  whi ch s uch Per s on i s  a  pa r t ,  owns  l es s  t han 50%  of  t he  t ot a l  " Par t ner s hi p I nt e r es t s ”  ( as  s uch t e r m  i s  de f i ned i n t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent )  he l d by a l l  pa r t ner s  of  AAP,  s ha l l  not  be  cons i der ed t o be  an Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany or  any Gr oup M em ber  by vi r t ue  of  t he  owner s hi p by s uch Per s on ( and Af f i l i a t e  Gr oup,  i f  appl i cabl e )  of  s uch i nt e r es t s .  For  t he  avoi dance  of  doubt ,  f or  pur pos es  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  a s  of  t he  da t e  her eof  ( but  s ubj ec t  t o r ede t e r m i na t i on upon changed c i r cum s t ances )  ( i )  each of  KAFU Hol di ngs ,  L. P. ,  KAFU Hol di ngs  ( QP) ,  L. P. ,  Kayne  Ander s on M LP I nves t m ent  Com pany,  Kayne  Ander s on Ener gy Deve l opm ent  Com pany,  Kayne  Ander s on M i ds t r eam / Ener gy Fund,  I nc .  and KAFU Hol di ngs  I I ,  L. P.  i s  an Af f i l i a t e  of  each ot her ,  and ( i i )  each of  EM G I nves t m ent ,  LLC and Lynx Hol di ngs  I ,  LLC i s  an Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  ot her .  " Af f i l i a t e  Gr oup”  m eans  a  Per s on t ha t  wi t h or  t hr ough any of  i t s  Af f i l i a t es  has  any agr eem ent ,  a r r angem ent ,  under s t andi ng or  r e l a t i ons hi p f or  t he  pur pos e  of  acqui r i ng,  hol di ng,
vot i ng ( except  vot i ng pur s uant  t o a  r evocabl e  pr oxy or  cons ent  gi ven t o s uch Per s on i n r es pons e  t o a  pr oxy or  cons ent  s ol i c i t a t i on m ade  t o 10 or  m or e  Per s ons ) ,  exer c i s i ng i nves t m ent  power  or  di s pos i ng of  any Com pany Uni t s  or  " Par t ner s hi p I nt e r es t s ”  ( as  t ha t  t e r m  i s  de f i ned i n t he  AAP



 

3 Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent )  wi t h any ot her  Per s on t ha t  benef i c i a l l y owns ,  or  whos e  Af f i l i a t es  benef i c i a l l y own,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  Com pany Uni t s .  " Agr eem ent ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t he  pr eam bl e  her eof ,  a s  s uch m ay be  am ended,  s uppl em ent ed or  r es t a t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e .  " Am endm ent s ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t he  r ec i t a l s  he r eof .  " Audi t  Com m i t t ee”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 6( c ) .  " Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 5. 3.  " Boar d”  m eans  t he  Boar d of  Di r ec t or s  of  t he  Com pany.  " Bus i nes s  Day”  m eans  M onday t hr ough Fr i day of  each week,  except  t ha t  a  l ega l  hol i day r ecogni zed as  s uch by t he  gover nm ent  of  t he  Uni t ed St a t es  of  Am er i ca  or  t he  St a t es  of  New Yor k or  Texas  s ha l l  not  be  r egar ded as  a  Bus i nes s  Day.  " Caus e”  m eans  ( i )  wi t h r es pec t  t o any Di r ec t or ,  gr os s  m i s conduc t  or  negl ec t ,  f a l s e  or  f r audul ent  m i s r epr es ent a t i on r egar di ng s uch di r ec t or ’ s  qua l i f i ca t i ons  or  c r edent i a l s ,  unaut hor i zed di s c l os ur e  of  m at e r i a l  conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on concer ni ng t he  Com pany and i t s
Subs i di a r i es ,  conver s i on of  cor por a t e  f unds ,  ac t s  i nvol vi ng m or a l  t ur pi t ude ,  m at e r i a l  vi ol a t i on of  any code  of  conduc t  adopt ed by t he  Com pany or  PAGP or  s i m i l a r  ac t s  de t r i m ent a l  t o t he  Com pany or  ( i i )  wi t h r es pec t  t o any I ndependent  Di r ec t or ,  t he  occur r ence  of  an event  or  a  change  i n c i r cum s t ances  t ha t  caus es  s uch I ndependent  Di r ec t or  t o f a i l  t o s a t i s f y t he  appl i cabl e  " br i ght - l i ne”  i ndependence  r equi r em ent s  ( i . e . ,  t hos e  r es ul t i ng i n aut om at i c  di s qua l i f i ca t i on)  of  t he  Com m i s s i on and any Nat i ona l  Secur i t i e s  Exchange  on whi ch t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  or  M LP Com m on Uni t s  a r e  l i s t ed or  adm i t t ed f or  t r adi ng,  pr ovi ded t ha t  s uch f a i l ur e  r es ul t s  i n t he  Com pany ceas i ng t o have  t he  m i ni m um  num ber  of  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s  r equi r ed under  appl i cabl e  r ul es ,  l aws  or  r es t r i c t i ons  of  t he  Com m i s s i on and any Nat i ona l  Secur i t i e s  Exchange  on whi ch t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  or  M LP Com m on Uni t s  a r e  l i s t ed or  adm i t t ed f or  t r adi ng.  " Cer t i f i ca t e”  m eans  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  of  For m at i on of  t he  Com pany f i l ed wi t h t he  Secr e t a r y of  St a t e  of

Del awar e ,  as  am ended or  r es t a t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e .  " Cl as s ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 2( a ) .  " Code”  m eans  t he  Uni t ed St a t es  I nt e r na l  Revenue  Code  of  1986,  as  am ended.  " Com m i s s i on”  m eans  t he  Uni t ed St a t es  Secur i t i e s  and Exchange  Com m i s s i on.  " Com pany”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t he  pr eam bl e  her eof .  " Com pany Gr oup”  m eans  t he  Com pany and i t s  Subs i di a r i es  t r ea t ed as  a  s i ngl e  cons ol i da t ed ent i t y,  but  exc l udi ng t he  M LP and i t s  Subs i di a r i es .  " Com pany Uni t ”  m eans  a  f r ac t i ona l  pa r t  of  t he  M em ber s hi p I nt e r es t  havi ng t he  r i ght s  and pr e f e r ences  s pec i f i ed wi t h r es pec t  t o t he  M em ber s hi p I nt e r es t .



 

4 " Com pet i t or ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 1( b) .  " Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 6( b) .  " Des i gna t i on Ri ght  Ter m i na t i on Event ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 1( d) .  " Di r ec t or s ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 1( a ) .  " El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or s ”  m eans  any Di r ec t or  who i s  not  a  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or .  " EM G” s ha l l  have  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 11. 1.  " Em pl oyees ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 11. 2.  " Encum br ance”  m eans  any s ecur i t y i nt e r es t ,  pl edge ,  m or t gage ,  l i en ( i nc l udi ng,  wi t hout  l i m i t a t i on,  envi r onm ent a l  and t ax l i ens ) ,  char ge ,  encum br ance ,  adver s e  c l a i m ,  any def ec t  or  i m per f ec t i on i n t i t l e ,  pr e f e r ent i a l  a r r angem ent  or  r es t r i c t i on,  r i ght  t o pur chas e ,  r i ght  of  f i r s t  r e f us a l  or  ot her  bur den or  encum br ance  of  any ki nd,  ot her  t han t hos e  i m pos ed by t hi s  Agr eem ent .  " Exchange  Act ”  m eans  t he  Secur i t i e s  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  as  am ended,  and t he  r ul es  and r egul a t i ons  pr om ul ga t ed t he r eunder .  " Exi s t i ng Owner s ”  m eans  t he  Or i gi na l  M em ber s  l i s t ed on Schedul e  1
a t t ached her e t o,  exc l udi ng PAGP.  " Gr oup M em ber ”  m eans  a  m em ber  of  t he  Com pany Gr oup.  " I ndem ni t ee”  m eans  ( a )  any Exi s t i ng Owner ,  ( b)  any Per s on who i s  or  was  an Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany or  any Exi s t i ng Owner ,  ( c )  any Per s on who i s  or  was  a  m anagi ng m em ber ,  m anager ,  gener a l  pa r t ner ,  s har ehol der ,  di r ec t or ,  of f i ce r ,  f i duc i a r y,  agent  or  t r us t ee  of  t he  Com pany,  any Exi s t i ng Owner  or  any Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany or  any Exi s t i ng Owner ,  ( d)  any Per s on who i s  or  was  s e r vi ng a t  t he  r eques t  of  t he  Com pany,  any Exi s t i ng Owner  or  any Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany or  any Exi s t i ng Owner  as  a  m em ber ,  m anager ,  pa r t ner ,  di r ec t or ,  of f i ce r ,  f i duc i a r y,  agent  or  t r us t ee  of  anot her  Per s on i n f ur t her ance  of  t he  bus i nes s  or  a f f a i r s  of  any Gr oup M em ber ;  pr ovi ded,  t ha t  a  Per s on s ha l l  not  be  an I ndem ni t ee  by r eas on of  pr ovi di ng,  on a  f ee - f or - s e r vi ces  bas i s ,  t r us t ee ,  f i duc i a r y or  cus t odi a l  s e r vi ces ,  and ( e )  any Per s on t he  Boar d des i gna t es  as  an " I ndem ni t ee”  f or  pur pos es  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent .  " I ndependent  Di r ec t or ”  m eans  a  Di r ec t or  who m ee t s  t he

i ndependence  r equi r em ent s  of  t he  Nat i ona l  Secur i t i e s  Exchange  on whi ch PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  or  M LP Com m on Uni t s  a r e  l i s t ed or  adm i t t ed f or  t r adi ng.  " I ni t i a l  Of f e r i ng”  m eans  t he  i ni t i a l  of f e r i ng and s a l e  of  t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  t o t he  publ i c ,  a s  des c r i bed i n t he  Regi s t r a t i on St a t em ent .  " I ns t i t ut i ona l  I nves t m ent s ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 11. 1.  " Kayne  Ander s on”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 11. 1.



 

5 " Lead Di r ec t or ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 1( a ) .  " M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t ”  m eans ,  wi t h r es pec t  t o t he  M em ber s ,  M em ber s  owni ng m or e  t han f i f t y per cent  ( 50% )  of  t he  out s t andi ng Com pany Uni t s .  " M em ber ”  or  " M em ber s ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t he  pr eam bl e  her eof .  " M em ber s hi p I nt e r es t ”  m eans  a  M em ber ’ s  l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany i nt e r es t  i n t he  Com pany whi ch r e f e r s  t o a l l  of  a  M em ber ’ s  r i ght s  and i nt e r es t s  i n t he  Com pany i n s uch M em ber ’ s  capac i t y as  a  M em ber ,  a l l  a s  pr ovi ded i n t hi s  Agr eem ent  and t he  Act .  " M em ber s hi p Tr ans f e r ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 8. 1( a ) .  " M LP” m eans  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can Pi pe l i ne ,  L. P. ,  a  De l awar e  l i m i t ed par t ner s hi p.  " M LP Com m on Uni t s ”  has  t he  m eani ng gi ven t o " Com m on Uni t s ”  i n t he  M LP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " M LP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ”  m eans  t he  Sevent h Am ended and Res t a t ed Agr eem ent  of  Li m i t ed Par t ner s hi p of  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can Pi pe l i ne ,  L. P. ,  da t ed as  of  Oc t ober  10,  2017,  as  s uch m ay be  f ur t her  am ended,  m odi f i ed,  s uppl em ent ed or  r es t a t ed
f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  t her eof .  " M LP Redem pt i on Uni t s ”  m eans  M LP Com m on Uni t s  r ece i ved by a  M em ber  upon an AAP Redem pt i on.  " Nat i ona l  Secur i t i e s  Exchange”  m eans  an exchange  r egi s t e r ed wi t h t he  Com m i s s i on under  Sec t i on 6( a )  of  t he  Secur i t i e s  Exchange  Act  or  any s ucces s or  t o s uch s t a t ut e .  " Non- M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s ”  m eans  t he  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s  and any Di r ec t or  who i s  not  cur r ent l y s e r vi ng as  an Of f i ce r  of  t he  Com pany or  of  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC.  " Not i ce”  m eans  a  wr i t i ng,  cont a i ni ng t he  i nf or m at i on r equi r ed by t hi s  Agr eem ent  t o be  com m uni ca t ed t o a  par t y,  and s ha l l  be  deem ed t o have  been r ece i ved ( a )  when per s ona l l y de l i ve r ed or  s ent  by f acs i m i l e ,  ( b)  one  day f ol l owi ng de l i ver y by over ni ght  de l i ve r y cour i e r ,  wi t h a l l  de l i ve r y char ges  pr e - pa i d,  or  ( c )  on t he  t hi r d Bus i nes s  Day f ol l owi ng t he  da t e  on whi ch i t  was  s ent  by Uni t ed St a t es  m ai l ,  pos t age  pr epa i d,  t o s uch par t y a t  t he  addr es s  or  f ax num ber ,  a s  t he  cas e  m ay be ,  of  s uch par t y as  s hown on t he  r ecor ds  of  t he  Com pany.  " Of f i ce r s ”

has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 9.  " Or i gi na l  Agr eem ent ”  m eans  t he  Am ended and Res t a t ed Li m i t ed Li abi l i t y Com pany Agr eem ent  of  t he  Com pany,  da t ed as  of  Oc t ober  21,  2013.  " Or i gi na l  M em ber s ”  m eans  each of  t he  owner s  of  l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany i nt e r es t s  i n t he  Com pany as  of  t he  da t e  of  t he  Or i gi na l  Agr eem ent  as  s e t  f or t h i n Schedul e  1 a t t ached her e t o.



 

6 " PAA GP LLC Agr eem ent ”  m eans  t he  Sevent h Am ended and Res t a t ed Li m i t ed Li abi l i t y Com pany Agr eem ent  of  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC,  da t ed as  of  Novem ber  15,  2016,  as  s uch m ay be  f ur t her  am ended,  m odi f i ed,  s uppl em ent ed or  r es t a t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  t her eof .  " PAGP” m eans  Pl a i ns  GP Hol di ngs ,  L. P. ,  a  De l awar e  l i m i t ed par t ner s hi p.  " PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es ”  m eans  t he  Cl as s  A s har es  i n PAGP,  havi ng t he  r i ght s  and obl i ga t i ons  s pec i f i ed i n t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " PAGP Cl as s  B Shar es ”  m eans  t he  Cl as s  B s har es  i n PAGP,  havi ng t he  r i ght s  and obl i ga t i ons  s pec i f i ed i n t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " PAGP Cl as s  C Shar es ”  m eans  t he  Cl as s  C s har es  i n PAGP,  havi ng t he  r i ght s  and obl i ga t i ons  s pec i f i ed i n t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " PAGP Li m i t ed Par t ner s ”  m eans  t he  Li m i t ed Par t ner s  of  PAGP as  s uch t e r m  i s  gi ven m eani ng i n t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  " PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ”  m eans  t he  Second Am ended and Res t a t ed Agr eem ent  of  Li m i t ed Par t ner s hi p of  PAGP,  da t ed as  of  Novem ber  15,
2016,  as  s uch m ay be  f ur t her  am ended,  m odi f i ed,  s uppl em ent ed or  r es t a t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  t her eof .  " PAGP Rever s e  St ock Spl i t ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t ha t  ce r t a i n Si m pl i f i ca t i on Agr eem ent ,  da t ed as  of  J ul y 11,  2016,  by and am ong t he  Com pany,  PAGP,  AAP,  t he  M LP,  PAA GP LLC and Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC.  " Per m i t t ed Tr ans f e r ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 8. 1( a ) .  " Per m i t t ed Tr ans f e r ee”  m eans  any Per s on who s ha l l  have  acqui r ed and who s ha l l  hol d a  Com pany Uni t  pur s uant  t o a  Per m i t t ed Tr ans f e r .  " Per s on”  m eans  any i ndi vi dua l ,  pa r t ner s hi p,  cor por a t i on,  l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany,  t r us t ,  i ncor por a t ed or  uni ncor por a t ed or gani za t i on or  ot her  l ega l  ent i t y of  any ki nd.  " Pr oper t y”  m eans  a l l  a s s e t s ,  r ea l  or  i nt angi bl e ,  t ha t  t he  Com pany m ay own or  ot her wi s e  have  an i nt e r es t  i n f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e .  " Regi s t r a t i on St a t em ent ”  m eans  t he  Regi s t r a t i on St a t em ent  on For m  S- 1 ( Regi s t r a t i on No.  333- 190227)  as  i t  has  been or  as  i t  m ay be  am ended or  s uppl em ent ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e ,  f i l ed

by PAGP wi t h t he  Com m i s s i on under  t he  Secur i t i e s  Act  t o r egi s t e r  t he  of f e r i ng and s a l e  of  t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  i n t he  I ni t i a l  Of f e r i ng.  " Repr es ent a t i ves ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 10. 4.  " Second A& R LLC Agr eem ent ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t he  pr eam bl e  her eof .



 

7 " Secur i t i e s  Act ”  m eans  t he  Secur i t i e s  Act  of  1933,  as  am ended,  s uppl em ent ed or  r es t a t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  and any s ucces s or  t o s uch s t a t ut e .  " Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 6. 1( b) .  " Subs i di a r y”  m eans ,  wi t h r es pec t  t o any Per s on,  ( a )  a  cor por a t i on of  whi ch m or e  t han 50%  of  t he  vot i ng power  of  s har es  ent i t l ed ( wi t hout  r egar d t o t he  occur r ence  of  any cont i ngency)  t o vot e  i n t he  e l ec t i on of  di r ec t or s  or  ot her  gover ni ng body of  s uch cor por a t i on i s  owned,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  a t  t he  da t e  of  de t e r m i na t i on,  by s uch Per s on,  by one  or  m or e  Subs i di a r i es  of  s uch Per s on or  a  com bi na t i on t he r eof ,  ( b)  a  pa r t ner s hi p ( whe t her  gener a l  or  l i m i t ed)  i n whi ch s uch Per s on or  a  Subs i di a r y of  s uch Per s on i s ,  a t  t he  da t e  of  de t e r m i na t i on,  a  gener a l  pa r t ner  of  s uch par t ner s hi p,  but  onl y i f  s uch Per s on,  di r ec t l y or  by one  or  m or e  Subs i di a r i es  of  s uch Per s on,  or  a  com bi na t i on t her eof ,  cont r ol s  s uch par t ner s hi p on t he  da t e  of  de t e r m i na t i on or  ( c )  any ot her  Per s on i n whi ch s uch Per s on,  one  or  m or e  Subs i di a r i es
of  s uch Per s on,  or  a  com bi na t i on t he r eof ,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  a t  t he  da t e  of  de t e r m i na t i on,  has  ( i )  a t  l eas t  a  m aj or i t y owner s hi p i nt e r es t  or  ( i i )  t he  power  t o e l ec t  or  di r ec t  t he  e l ec t i on of  a  m aj or i t y of  t he  di r ec t or s  or  ot her  gover ni ng body of  s uch Per s on.  " Thi r d A& R LLC Agr eem ent ”  has  t he  m eani ng s e t  f or t h i n t he  r ec i t a l s  he r eof .  " Tr ans f e r ”  or  " Tr ans f e r r ed”  m eans  t o gi ve ,  s e l l ,  exchange ,  as s i gn,  t r ans f e r ,  pl edge ,  hypot heca t e ,  bequea t h,  devi s e  or  ot her wi s e  di s pos e  of  or  encum ber ,  vol unt a r i l y or  i nvol unt a r i l y,  by oper a t i on of  l aw or  ot her wi s e .  W hen r e f e r r i ng t o a  Com pany Uni t ,  " Tr ans f e r ”  s ha l l  m ean t he  Tr ans f e r  of  s uch Com pany Uni t  whe t her  of  r ecor d,  benef i c i a l l y,  by par t i c i pa t i on or  ot her wi s e .  ARTI CLE I I  GENERAL 2. 1 For m at i on.  The  nam e of  t he  Com pany i s  PAA GP Hol di ngs  LLC.  The  r i ght s  and l i abi l i t i e s  of  t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  be  as  pr ovi ded i n t he  Act  f or  M em ber s  except  as  pr ovi ded her e i n.  To t he  ext ent  t ha t  t he  r i ght s  or  obl i ga t i ons  of  any M em ber  a r e  di f f e r ent  by r eas on of  any pr ovi s i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  t han t hey

woul d be  under  appl i cabl e  l aw i n t he  abs ence  of  s uch pr ovi s i on,  t o t he  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by t he  Act ,  t hi s  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  cont r ol .  2. 2 Pr i nc i pa l  Of f i ce .  The  pr i nc i pa l  of f i ce  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  l oca t ed a t  333 Cl ay St r ee t ,  Sui t e  1600,  Hous t on,  Texas  77002 or  a t  s uch ot her  pl ace( s )  as  t he  Boar d m ay de t e r m i ne  f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e .  2. 3 Regi s t e r ed Of f i ce  and Regi s t e r ed Agent .  The  l oca t i on of  t he  r egi s t e r ed of f i ce  and t he  nam e of  t he  r egi s t e r ed agent  of  t he  Com pany i n t he  St a t e  of  De l awar e  s ha l l  be  as  s t a t ed i n t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  or  as  de t e r m i ned f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  by t he  Boar d.  2. 4 Pur pos e  of  t he  Com pany.  The  Com pany’ s  pur pos es ,  and t he  na t ur e  of  t he  bus i nes s  t o be  conduc t ed and pr om ot ed by t he  Com pany,  a r e  ( a )  t o ac t  as  t he  gener a l  pa r t ner  of  PAGP i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  of  t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent  and ( b)  t o engage  i n any and a l l  ac t i vi t i e s  neces s a r y,  advi s abl e ,  conveni ent  or  i nc i dent a l  t o t he  f or egoi ng.



 

8 2. 5 Dat e  of  Di s s ol ut i on.  The  Com pany s ha l l  have  per pe t ua l  exi s t ence  unl es s  t he  Com pany i s  di s s ol ved pur s uant  t o Ar t i c l e  9 her eof .  The  exi s t ence  of  t he  Com pany as  a  s epar a t e  l ega l  ent i t y s ha l l  cont i nue  unt i l  cance l l a t i on of  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  i n t he  m anner  r equi r ed by t he  Act .  2. 6 Qua l i f i ca t i on.  The  Pr es i dent ,  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r ,  any Vi ce  Pr es i dent ,  t he  Secr e t a r y and any As s i s t ant  Secr e t a r y of  t he  Com pany i s  he r eby aut hor i zed t o qua l i f y t he  Com pany t o do bus i nes s  as  a  f or e i gn l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany i n any j ur i s di c t i on i n whi ch t he  Com pany m ay wi s h t o conduc t  bus i nes s  and each i s  he r eby des i gna t ed as  an aut hor i zed per s on,  wi t hi n t he  m eani ng of  t he  Act  ( or  as  a  " m anager ”  f or  s uch l i m i t ed pur pos es  onl y,  i f  s i gna t ur e  of  a  m anager  i s  r equi r ed under  r e l evant  s t a t e  r egul a t i ons )  t o execut e ,  de l i ve r  and f i l e  any am endm ent s  or  r es t a t em ent s  of  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  and any ot her  ce r t i f i ca t es  and any am endm ent s  or  r es t a t em ent s  t he r eof  neces s a r y f or  t he  Com pany t o s o qua l i f y t o do bus i nes s  i n any s uch s t a t e  or  t e r r i t or y.  2. 7
M em ber s .  ( a )  Power s  of  M em ber s .  Except  t o t he  ext ent  wa i ved or  l i m i t ed i n a  s epar a t e  wr i t t en agr eem ent  execut ed by a  M em ber ,  t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  have  t he  power  t o exer c i s e  any and a l l  r i ght s  or  power s  gr ant ed t o t he  M em ber s  pur s uant  t o t he  expr es s  t e r m s  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent .  Except  as  expr es s l y pr ovi ded her e i n,  t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  have  no power  t o bi nd t he  Com pany and no aut hor i t y t o ac t  on beha l f  of  t he  Com pany.  ( b)  Res i gna t i on.  Except  upon a  Tr ans f e r  of  a l l  of  i t s  Com pany Uni t s  i n accor dance  wi t h t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  a  M em ber  m ay not  r es i gn f r om  t he  Com pany pr i or  t o t he  di s s ol ut i on and wi ndi ng up of  t he  Com pany.  A M em ber  ceas es  t o be  a  M em ber  onl y upon s uch M em ber  hol di ng no Com pany Uni t s  f ol l owi ng:  ( i )  a  Per m i t t ed Tr ans f e r  of  a l l  of  s uch M em ber ’ s  Com pany Uni t s  ( ot her  t han a  " Per m i t t ed Tr ans f e r ”  pur s uant  t o c l aus e  ( a )  of  t he  def i ni t i on of  s uch t e r m  i n t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent )  and t he  t r ans f e r ee’ s  adm i s s i on as  a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber ,  a l l  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  or  ( i i )  com pl e t i on

of  di s s ol ut i on and wi ndi ng up of  t he  Com pany pur s uant  t o Ar t i c l e  I X.  ( c )  Owner s hi p.  Each Com pany Uni t  s ha l l  cor r es pond t o a  " l i m i t ed l i abi l i t y com pany i nt e r es t ”  as  i s  pr ovi ded i n t he  Act .  The  Com pany s ha l l  be  t he  owner  of  t he  Pr oper t y.  No M em ber  s ha l l  have  any owner s hi p i nt e r es t  or  r i ght  i n any Pr oper t y,  i nc l udi ng any Pr oper t y conveyed by a  M em ber  t o t he  Com pany,  except  i ndi r ec t l y by vi r t ue  of  a  M em ber ’ s  owner s hi p of  a  Com pany Uni t .  2. 8 Re l i ance  by Thi r d Par t i es .  Per s ons  dea l i ng wi t h t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  ent i t l ed t o r e l y conc l us i ve l y upon t he  power  and aut hor i t y of  an Of f i ce r .  ARTI CLE I I I  CAPI TALI ZATI ON OF THE COM PANY 3. 1 Capi t a l  Cont r i but i ons .  No capi t a l  was  cont r i but ed t o t he  Com pany i n connec t i on wi t h i t s  f or m at i on.  3. 2 Addi t i ona l  Capi t a l  Cont r i but i ons .  No M em ber  s ha l l  be  r equi r ed t o m ake  any capi t a l  cont r i but i on t o t he  Com pany.



 

9 3. 3 Spl i t s .  Any di s t r i but i on,  s ubdi vi s i on or  com bi na t i on of  t he  Com pany Uni t s  s ha l l  be  accom pani ed by a  s i m ul t aneous  and pr opor t i ona t e  di s t r i but i on,  s ubdi vi s i on or  com bi na t i on of  t he  AAP Cl as s  A Uni t s  and AAP Cl as s  B Uni t s  pur s uant  t o t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent  and t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es ,  PAGP Cl as s  B Shar es  and PAGP Cl as s  C Shar es  pur s uant  t o t he  PAGP LP Agr eem ent ,  and vi ce  ver s a .  Thi s  pr ovi s i on s ha l l  not  be  am ended unl es s  cor r es pondi ng changes  a r e  m ade  t o t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent  and t he  PAGP LP Agr eem ent .  ARTI CLE I V DI STRI BUTI ONS 4. 1 Di s t r i but i ons .  The  Boar d s ha l l  have  s ol e  di s c r e t i on t o de t e r m i ne  t he  t i m i ng,  am ount  and m anner  of  any di s t r i but i on of  cas h or  pr oper t y of  t he  Com pany.  Any di s t r i but i on dec l a r ed by t he  Boar d s ha l l  be  pa i d t o t he  M em ber s  i n pr opor t i on t o t he i r  Com pany Uni t s .  4. 2 Per s ons  Ent i t l ed t o Di s t r i but i ons .  Any di s t r i but i ons  t o M em ber s  pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 4. 1 s ha l l  be  m ade  t o t he  M em ber s  s hown on t he  r ecor ds  of  t he  Com pany t o be  ent i t l ed t he r e t o as  of  t he  r ecor d da t e  f or  any s uch
di s t r i but i ons  es t abl i s hed by t he  Boar d.  Not wi t hs t andi ng any pr ovi s i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  t o t he  cont r a r y,  no di s t r i but i on her eunder  s ha l l  be  per m i t t ed i f  s uch di s t r i but i on woul d vi ol a t e  Sec t i on 18- 607 of  t he  Act  or  ot her  appl i cabl e  l aw.  ARTI CLE V M EM BERS’  M EETI NGS 5. 1 M eet i ngs  of  M em ber s .  M ee t i ngs  of  t he  M em ber s  m ay be  he l d on an annua l  bas i s  or  as  ot her wi s e  de t e r m i ned by a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t .  Spec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  M em ber s  m ay be  he l d f or  any pur pos e  or  pur pos es ,  unl es s  ot her wi s e  pr ohi bi t ed by l aw,  and m ay be  ca l l ed by t he  Boar d or  by a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t .  Al l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  be  he l d wi t hi n or  out s i de  t he  St a t e  of  De l awar e  as  des i gna t ed f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  by t he  Boar d or  by a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t  and s t a t ed i n t he  Not i ce  of  t he  m ee t i ng or  i n a  dul y execut ed wai ver  of  t he  Not i ce  t he r eof .  M em ber s  and Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ves  m ay par t i c i pa t e  i n a  m ee t i ng of  t he  M em ber s  by m eans  of  conf e r ence  t e l ephone  or  ot her  s i m i l a r  com m uni ca t i on equi pm ent  wher eby a l l  M em ber s  or  Aut hor i zed

Repr es ent a t i ves  par t i c i pa t i ng i n t he  m ee t i ng can hear  each ot her ,  and s uch par t i c i pa t i on i n a  m ee t i ng s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  pr es ence  i n per s on a t  t he  m ee t i ng,  except  when a  M em ber  or  Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve  par t i c i pa t es  f or  t he  expr es s  pur pos e  of  obj ec t i ng t o t he  t r ans ac t i on of  any bus i nes s  on t he  gr ound t ha t  t he  m ee t i ng was  not  l awf ul l y ca l l ed or  convened.  5. 2 Quor um ;  Vot i ng Requi r em ent .  The  pr es ence ,  i n per s on or  by pr oxy,  of  a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t  of  t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  a  quor um  f or  t he  t r ans ac t i on of  bus i nes s  by t he  M em ber s .  The  a f f i r m at i ve  vot e  of  a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t  s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  a  va l i d dec i s i on of  t he  M em ber s ,  except  wher e  a  di f f e r ent  vot e  i s  r equi r ed by t he  Act  or  t hi s  Agr eem ent .  5. 3 Pr oxi es .  Any M em ber  ent i t l ed t o vot e  but  expec t i ng t o be  abs ent  f r om  a  m ee t i ng s ha l l  be  ent i t l ed t o des i gna t e  i n wr i t i ng ( or  or a l l y;  pr ovi ded,  t ha t  s uch or a l  des i gna t i on i s  l a t e r  conf i r m ed i n wr i t i ng)  a  pr oxy ( an " Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve”)  t o ac t  on beha l f  of  s uch M em ber  wi t h r es pec t  t o s uch m ee t i ng ( t o t he
s am e ext ent  and wi t h t he  s am e f or ce  and e f f ec t  as  t he  M em ber  who has  des i gna t ed s uch Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve ) .  Such Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve  s ha l l  have



 

10 f ul l  power  and aut hor i t y t o ac t  and t ake  ac t i ons  or  r e f r a i n f r om  t aki ng ac t i ons  as  t he  M em ber  by whom  s uch Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve  has  been des i gna t ed.  5. 4 Act i on W i t hout  M eet i ng.  Any ac t i on r equi r ed or  pe r m i t t ed t o be  t aken a t  any m ee t i ng of  M em ber s  of  t he  Com pany m ay be  t aken wi t hout  a  m ee t i ng,  wi t hout  pr i or  Not i ce  and wi t hout  a  vot e  i f  a  cons ent  i n wr i t i ng s e t t i ng f or t h t he  ac t i on s o t aken i s  s i gned by a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t ,  except  wher e  a  di f f e r ent  vot e  i s  r equi r ed by t he  Act  or  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  i n whi ch cas e  s uch cons ent  m us t  be  s i gned by t he  M em ber s  as  woul d be  neces s a r y t o aut hor i ze  or  t ake  s uch ac t i on a t  a  m ee t i ng of  t he  M em ber s .  Pr om pt  Not i ce  of  t he  t aki ng of  any ac t i on t aken pur s uant  t o t hi s  Sec t i on 5. 4 by l es s  t han t he  unani m ous  wr i t t en cons ent  of  t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  be  gi ven t o t hos e  M em ber s  who have  not  cons ent ed i n wr i t i ng.  A cons ent  t r ans m i t t ed by e l ec t r oni c  t r ans m i s s i on by a  M em ber  s ha l l  be  deem ed t o be  wr i t t en and s i gned.  5. 5 Not i ce .  Not i ce  s t a t i ng t he  pl ace ,  day and hour  of  t he  m ee t i ng
of  M em ber s  and t he  pur pos e  f or  whi ch t he  m ee t i ng i s  ca l l ed s ha l l  be  de l i ve r ed per s ona l l y or  s ent  by m ai l  or  by f acs i m i l e  or  em ai l  not  l e s s  t han one  Bus i nes s  Day nor  m or e  t han 60 days  bef or e  t he  da t e  of  t he  m ee t i ng by or  a t  t he  di r ec t i on of  t he  Boar d or  a  r epr es ent a t i ve  of  a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t  ca l l i ng t he  m ee t i ng,  t o each M em ber  ent i t l ed t o vot e  a t  s uch m ee t i ng.  5. 6 W ai ver  of  Not i ce .  W hen any Not i ce  i s  r equi r ed t o be  gi ven t o any M em ber  her eunder ,  a  wa i ver  t he r eof  i n wr i t i ng s i gned by t he  M em ber  or  i t s  Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve ,  whe t her  bef or e ,  a t  or  a f t e r  t he  t i m e  s t a t ed t he r e i n,  s ha l l  be  equi va l ent  t o t he  gi vi ng of  s uch Not i ce .  At t endance  a t  a  m ee t i ng wi l l  be  deem ed a  wai ver  of  Not i ce ,  except  when a  M em ber  or  Aut hor i zed Repr es ent a t i ve  par t i c i pa t es  f or  t he  expr es s  pur pos e  of  obj ec t i ng t o t he  t r ans ac t i on of  any bus i nes s  on t he  gr ound t ha t  t he  m ee t i ng was  not  l awf ul l y ca l l ed or  convened.  ARTI CLE VI  M ANAGEM ENT AND CONTROL 6. 1 Boar d of  Di r ec t or s .  ( a )  Except  as  ot her wi s e  pr ovi ded her eunder ,  t he  bus i nes s  and a f f a i r s
of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  m anaged by or  under  t he  di r ec t i on of  t he  Boar d,  whi ch s ha l l ,  s ubj ec t  t o t hi s  Sec t i on 6. 1( a )  and Sec t i on 6. 2( b) ,  cons i s t  of  up t o t hi r t een ( pl us  up t o one  addi t i ona l  Di r ec t or  whi ch m ay be  appoi nt ed by t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 6. 1( b) )  i ndi vi dua l s  des i gna t ed as  di r ec t or s  of  t he  Com pany ( t he  " Di r ec t or s ” ) .  One  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d s ha l l  be  des i gna t ed t o s e r ve  as  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d and wi l l  have  t he  dut i es  des c r i bed i n Sec t i on 6. 1( f )  be l ow.  I n t he  event  t ha t  t he  r ol es  of  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r  of  t he  Com pany and Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d a r e  he l d by t he  s am e per s on,  t he  Non-  M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s  wi l l  a l s o des i gna t e  an I ndependent  Di r ec t or  t o s e r ve  as  Lead Di r ec t or  ( t he  " Lead Di r ec t or ” ) ,  who wi l l  have  t he  dut i es  des cr i bed i n Sec t i on 6. 1( g)  be l ow,  as  appl i cabl e .  Except  as  ot her wi s e  expr es s l y pr ovi ded her e i n,  t he  power  and aut hor i t y gr ant ed t o t he  Boar d her eunder  s ha l l  i nc l ude  a l l  t hos e  neces s a r y or  conveni ent  f or  t he  f ur t her ance  of  t he  pur pos es  of  t he  Com pany and s ha l l  i nc l ude  t he

power  t o m ake  or  de l ega t e  t o Of f i ce r s  a l l  dec i s i ons  wi t h r egar d t o t he  m anagem ent ,  oper a t i ons ,  a s s e t s ,  f i nanc i ng and capi t a l i za t i on of  t he  Com pany.  The  Boar d wi l l  be  com pos ed i n accor dance  wi t h t he  f ol l owi ng pr ovi s i ons  s ubj ec t ,  wher e  appl i cabl e ,  t o Sec t i on 6. 2:



 

11 ( i )  Subj ec t  t o Sec t i on 6. 2,  t he  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  a  Di r ec t or .  Unl es s  ot her wi s e  r equi r ed pur s uant  t o t he  Exchange  Act  and t he  r ul es  and r egul a t i ons  of  t he  Com m i s s i on t her eunder  and by t he  pr i nc i pa l  Na t i ona l  Secur i t i e s  Exchange  on whi ch t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  or  M LP Com m on Uni t s  a r e  l i s t ed,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  i nc l ude  a t  l eas t  a  m aj or i t y of  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s ;  pr ovi ded,  however ,  t ha t  i f  a t  any t i m e  t her e  s ha l l  be  f ewer  t han t he  r equi r ed num ber  of  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s ,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  t ake  s uch ac t i ons  as  m ay be  neces s a r y t o caus e  t he  Boar d t o r e - es t abl i s h t he  r equi r ed num ber  of  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s ;  pr ovi ded,  f ur t her ,  t ha t  i f  a t  any t i m e  t her e  s ha l l  be  f ewer  t han t wo I ndependent  Di r ec t or s  qua l i f i ed t o s e r ve  on t he  Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee  of  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC,  t he  Boar d m ay t ake  s uch ac t i ons  as  m ay be  neces s a r y t o caus e  t he  Boar d t o have  a t  l eas t  t wo I ndependent  Di r ec t or s  qua l i f i ed t o s e r ve  on s uch Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee  of  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC.  I n connec t i on t he r ewi t h,  t he  Boar d
m ay exer c i s e  i t s  Di r ec t or  r em oval  and appoi nt m ent  r i ght s  he r eunder  and m ay,  t o t he  ext ent  r equi r ed,  i nc r eas e  t he  s i ze  of  t he  Boar d and appoi nt  one  or  m or e  new I ndependent  Di r ec t or s  t o f i l l  t he  r es ul t i ng vacanc i es .  Each Di r ec t or  s ha l l  hol d of f i ce  unt i l  hi s  or  he r  s ucces s or  i s  e l ec t ed pur s uant  t o t hi s  Ar t i c l e  VI  or  unt i l  hi s  or  he r  ea r l i e r  dea t h,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval .  ( i i )  I n t he  event  of  t he  dea t h,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval  of  a  Di r ec t or  or  any vacancy r e l a t i ng t o a  Di r ec t or ,  i nc l udi ng a  vacancy t ha t  a r i s es  by vi r t ue  of  t he  expi r a t i on of  t he  t e r m  of  a  Di r ec t or ,  a  m aj or i t y of  t he  r em ai ni ng Di r ec t or s  m ay des i gna t e  a  r epl acem ent  Di r ec t or .  I n t he  event  a  Di r ec t or  s e r vi ng as  an Of f i ce r  of  t he  Com pany no l onger  hol ds  s uch of f i ce  f or  any r eas on,  s uch i ndi vi dua l  s ha l l  be  aut om at i ca l l y r em oved as  a  Di r ec t or  and ( i )  i n t he  cas e  of  t he  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r ,  t he  s ucces s or  t o s uch i ndi vi dua l  as  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l ,  by vi r t ue  of  s uch appoi nt m ent ,  be  des i gna t ed t o r epl ace  s uch i ndi vi dua l  as  a  Di r ec t or ,  and ( i i )

i n t he  cas e  of  any ot her  Of f i ce r ,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  f i l l  t he  vacancy by a  m aj or i t y vot e  of  t he  r em ai ni ng Di r ec t or s  ( i t  be i ng under s t ood t ha t  s uch f or m er  Of f i ce r  s ha l l  be  e l i gi bl e  f or  r e - appoi nt m ent  t o t he  Boar d by s uch m aj or i t y vot e ) .  I n t he  event  of  t he  dea t h,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval  of  a  Di r ec t or  s e r vi ng as  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d or  Lead Di r ec t or  ( or  t he  expi r a t i on of  s uch Di r ec t or ’ s  t e r m  wi t hout  r eappoi nt m ent ) ,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  des i gna t e  a  new Chai r m an and t he  Non-  M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s  s ha l l  des i gna t e  a  new Lead Di r ec t or ,  who m ay or  m ay not  be  t he  s am e i ndi vi dua l  des i gna t ed t o f i l l  t he  Boar d vacancy r es ul t i ng f r om  s uch dea t h,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval .  ( b)  I f  a  Ser i es  A Tr i gger  Event  ( as  s uch t e r m  i s  de f i ned i n t he  M LP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent )  occur s ,  t hen t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  ( as  s uch t e r m  i s  de f i ned i n t he  M LP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent )  s ha l l  have  t he  r i ght ,  upon wr i t t en not i ce ,  t o appoi nt  one  r epr es ent a t i ve  t o t he  Boar d,  as  s e t  f or t h i n t he  M LP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ,  but  s uch r i ght  s ha l l  be  s ubj ec t  t o t he
t e r m s  s e t  f or t h i n t hi s  Agr eem ent .  The  Boar d r epr es ent a t i ve  i dent i f i ed i n t he  not i ce  de l i ve r ed by t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  s ha l l  be  r e f e r r ed t o her e i n as  t he  " Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or . ”  The  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  m us t ,  i n t he  r eas onabl e  j udgm ent  of  t he  Boar d,  ( i )  have  t he  r equi s i t e  s ki l l  and exper i ence  t o s e r ve  as  a  di r ec t or  of  a  publ i c  com pany i n t he  ener gy s ec t or ,  ( i i )  not  be  pr ohi bi t ed f r om  s e r vi ng as  a  di r ec t or  pur s uant  t o any r ul e  or  r egul a t i on of  t he  Com m i s s i on or  t he  Nat i ona l  Secur i t i e s



 

12 Exchange  on whi ch t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  or  M LP Com m on Uni t s  a r e  l i s t ed or  adm i t t ed t o t r adi ng,  and ( i i i )  not  be  an em pl oyee  or  a  di r ec t or  of  any Com pet i t or  ( as  def i ned be l ow) ;  pr ovi ded,  t ha t  an i ndi vi dua l  em pl oyed by a  f i nanc i a l  i ns t i t ut i on,  f und or  i nves t m ent  vehi c l e ,  who s e r ves  as  a  di r ec t or  of  a  por t f ol i o com pany of  s uch i ns t i t ut i on,  whi ch por t f ol i o com pany i s  a  Com pet i t or ,  s ha l l  not  be  exc l uded f r om  s e r vi ng as  a  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ol e l y by vi r t ue  of  s uch r ol e  as  a  di r ec t or  of  s uch por t f ol i o com pany.  For  pur pos es  of  t he  i m m edi a t e l y pr ecedi ng s ent ence  t he  t e r m  " Com pet i t or ”  s ha l l  m ean any ent i t y t ha t  ( a )  i s  an oper a t i ng com pany ( and not  a  f i nanc i a l  i ns t i t ut i on)  and ( b)  com pet es  wi t h t he  M LP i n t he  t r ans por t a t i on,  s t or age ,  t e r m i na l i ng or  m ar ke t i ng of  c r ude  oi l  or  na t ur a l  gas  l i qui ds  i n t he  Uni t ed St a t es  or  Canada .  I f  t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  exer c i s e  t he i r  r i ght  t o appoi nt  a  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or ,  s uch Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ha l l  be  a  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d unt i l  s uch Ser i es  A
Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  i s  r em oved pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 6. 1( c )  or  Sec t i on 6. 1( d) .  Any Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ha l l  have  a l l  t he  r i ght s  and dut i es  of  a  Di r ec t or  ot her wi s e  s e r vi ng her eunder .  ( c )  Pr i or  t o a  Des i gna t i on Ri ght  Ter m i na t i on Event  ( as  def i ned be l ow) ,  t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  m ay be  r em oved or  r epl aced by t he  Ser i es  A Pur chas er s  ( as  def i ned i n t he  M LP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent )  a t  any t i m e  f or  any r eas on or  by m aj or i t y vot e  of  t he  ot her  Di r ec t or s  f or  " caus e”  ( as  def i ned be l ow) ;  and any vacancy occur r i ng by r eas on of  t he  dea t h,  di s abi l i t y,  r es i gna t i on,  r em oval  or  ot her  ces s a t i on of  a  pe r s on s e r vi ng as  a  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ha l l  be  f i l l ed by a  vot e  of  t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  hol di ng a  m aj or i t y of  t he  t hen out s t andi ng Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t s  and t he  s ubs equent  de l i ve r y of  wr i t t en not i ce  t o t he  Com pany.  As  us ed her e i n,  " caus e”  m eans  t ha t  t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  ( i )  i s  pr ohi bi t ed f r om  s e r vi ng as  a  di r ec t or  under  any r ul e  or  r egul a t i on of  t he  Com m i s s i on or  t he  Nat i ona l  Secur i t i es

Exchange  on whi ch t he  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  or  M LP Com m on Uni t s  a r e  l i s t ed;  ( i i )  whi l e  s e r vi ng as  t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or ,  i s  convi c t ed by a  cour t  of  com pet ent  j ur i s di c t i on of  a  f e l ony;  ( i i i )  a  cour t  of  com pet ent  j ur i s di c t i on has  ent e r ed a  f i na l ,  non- appea l abl e  j udgm ent  f i ndi ng t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  l i abl e  f or  ac t ua l  f r aud or  wi l l f ul  m i s conduc t  aga i ns t  PAGP or  t he  M LP ( i nc l udi ng,  but  not  l i m i t ed t o,  i nt ent i ona l l y or  wi l l f ul l y f a i l i ng t o obs er ve  any obl i ga t i ons  of  conf i dent i a l i t y t o PAGP or  t he  M LP) ;  ( i v)  i s  de t e r m i ned t o have  ac t ed i nt ent i ona l l y or  i n bad f a i t h i n a  m anner  t ha t  r es ul t s  i n a  m at e r i a l  de t r i m ent  t o t he  as s e t s ,  bus i nes s  or  pr os pec t s  of  PAGP or  t he  M LP;  or  ( v)  i s  t e r m i na t ed,  r em oved or  r es i gns  f or  any r eas on f r om  hi s  or  he r  pos i t i on,  i f  any,  wi t h any s uch Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der  a t  whi ch t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  was  em pl oyed a t  t he  t i m e  of  hi s  or  he r  appoi nt m ent  as  t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or .  Any ac t i on by t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  t o des i gna t e ,  r em ove  or
r epl ace  a  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ha l l  be  evi denced i n wr i t i ng f ur ni s hed t o t he  Com pany,  s ha l l  i nc l ude  a  s t a t em ent  t ha t  t he  ac t i on has  been appr oved by a  vot e  of  t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  hol di ng a  m aj or i t y of  t he  t hen out s t andi ng Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t s  and s ha l l  be  execut ed by or  on beha l f  of  t he  Ser i es  A Uni t hol der s .  ( d)  Upon paym ent  by t he  M LP t o t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  of  a l l  acc r ued but  unpa i d di s t r i but i ons  on t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t s  t hen out s t andi ng f ol l owi ng a  Ser i es  A Tr i gger  Event  ( a  " Des i gna t i on Ri ght  Ter m i na t i on Event ” ) ,  t he  r i ght  of  t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  t o des i gna t e  a  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ha l l  aut om at i ca l l y t e r m i na t e  ( unl es s  and unt i l  anot her  Ser i es  A Tr i gger  Event  s ha l l  have  occur r ed)  and t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  t hen s e r vi ng as  a  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d



 

13 s ha l l ,  pr om pt l y upon ( and i n any event  wi t hi n t wo ( 2)  Bus i nes s  Days  f ol l owi ng)  r ece i pt  of  a  wr i t t en r eques t  f r om  t he  Boar d,  r es i gn as  a  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d.  I f  t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  does  not  r es i gn upon s uch r eques t ,  t hen a  m aj or i t y of  t he  ot her  Di r ec t or s  t hen s e r vi ng on t he  Boar d m ay r em ove  t he  Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  as  a  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d.  ( e )  Not wi t hs t andi ng anyt hi ng her e i n t o t he  cont r a r y,  whi l e  a  Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee  of  Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC i s  em pane l ed,  each I ndependent  Di r ec t or  s e r vi ng on s uch conf l i c t s  com m i t t ee  s ha l l  abs t a i n f r om  a l l  dec i s i on- m aki ng ac t i vi t i e s  of  t he  Boar d wi t h r es pec t  t o m at t e r s  be i ng cons i der ed by,  or  t ha t  have  been as s i gned t o,  s uch conf l i c t s  com m i t t ee .  ( f )  The  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d wi l l  pr ovi de  l eader s hi p t o t he  Boar d and coor di na t e  t he  ac t i vi t i e s  of  t he  Boar d.  Spec i f i c  r es pons i bi l i t i e s  of  t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d wi l l  va r y as  f ol l ows  dependi ng on whet her  t he  r ol es  of  CEO and Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d a r e  he l d by t he  s am e per s on:  ( i )  I f  and f or  s o l ong as  t he
r ol es  of  CEO and Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d a r e  he l d by t he  s am e per s on,  t he  r es pons i bi l i t i e s  of  t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d wi l l  i nc l ude  t he  f ol l owi ng:  ( A)  pr es i di ng a t  r egul a r  and s pec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Boar d,  and a t  annua l  and s pec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  equi t y hol der s ;  ( B)  wor ki ng wi t h t he  Gover nance  Com m i t t ee  t o ens ur e  t he  per pe t ua t i on of  a  s t r ong Boar d and e f f ec t i ve  gover nance  s t r uc t ur e ;  ( C)  i n cons ul t a t i on wi t h t he  Lead Di r ec t or ,  deve l opi ng and com m uni ca t i ng Boar d m ee t i ng s chedul es  and agendas ;  ( D)  wor ki ng wi t h t he  Lead Di r ec t or  t o es t abl i s h par am et e r s  f or  t he  qua l i t y,  am ount  and t i m el i nes s  of  t he  i nf or m at i on f l ow be t ween m anagem ent  and t he  Boar d ( i t  be i ng under s t ood t ha t  m anagem ent  i s  r es pons i bl e  f or  t he  pr epar a t i ons  of  m at e r i a l s  f or  t he  Boar d cons i s t ent  wi t h t hes e  par am et e r s ) ;  ( E)  conf e r r i ng wi t h t he  Lead Di r ec t or  r egar di ng t he  deve l opm ent ,  i m pl em ent a t i on and m oni t or i ng of  near -  and l ong- t e r m  s t r a t egi c  pl ans  and m aj or  ac t i vi t i es  of  t he  Com pany and conf i r m i ng wi t h t he  Lead Di r ec t or  t ha t  Boar d dec i s i ons  and pol i c i es

have  been i m pl em ent ed;  and ( F)  wor ki ng cooper a t i ve l y and col l abor a t i ve l y wi t h t he  Lead Di r ec t or  as  neces s a r y t o s uppor t  and f ac i l i t a t e  t he  di s char ge  by t he  Lead Di r ec t or  of  hi s  or  he r  dut i es  as  out l i ned i n Sec t i on 6. 1( g)  be l ow;  and



 

14 ( i i )  I f  and f or  s o l ong as  t he  r ol es  of  CEO and Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d a r e  not  he l d by t he  s am e per s on,  t he  r es pons i bi l i t i e s  of  t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d wi l l  i nc l ude  t he  f ol l owi ng:  ( A)  pr es i di ng a t  r egul a r  and s pec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Boar d,  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Non- M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s ,  and a t  annua l  and s pec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  equi t y hol der s ;  ( B)  wor ki ng wi t h t he  Gover nance  Com m i t t ee  t o ens ur e  t he  per pe t ua t i on of  a  s t r ong Boar d and e f f ec t i ve  gover nance  s t r uc t ur e ;  ( C)  i n cons ul t a t i on wi t h t he  CEO,  deve l opi ng and com m uni ca t i ng Boar d m ee t i ng s chedul es  and agendas ;  ( D)  ac t i ng as  a  l i a i s on be t ween m anagem ent  and t he  Boar d;  ( E)  pr ovi di ng advi ce  and couns e l  t o t he  CEO on var i ous  cor por a t e  i s s ues ;  ( F)  es t abl i s hi ng par am et e r s  f or  t he  qua l i t y,  am ount  and t i m el i nes s  of  t he  i nf or m at i on f l ow be t ween m anagem ent  and t he  Boar d ( i t  be i ng under s t ood t ha t  m anagem ent  i s  r es pons i bl e  f or  t he  pr epar a t i ons  of  m at e r i a l s  f or  t he  Boar d cons i s t ent  wi t h t hes e  par am et e r s ) ;  ( G)  conf e r r i ng wi t h t he  CEO r egar di ng t he  deve l opm ent ,  i m pl em ent a t i on and
m oni t or i ng of  near -  and l ong- t e r m  s t r a t egi c  pl ans  and m aj or  ac t i vi t i e s  of  t he  Com pany and conf i r m i ng wi t h t he  CEO t ha t  Boar d dec i s i ons  and pol i c i es  have  been i m pl em ent ed;  ( H)  as s ur i ng t ha t  t he  Boar d pr ovi des  r es our ces  t o bot h t he  CEO and m anagem ent  t o achi eve  t he  Com pany’ s  s t a t ed goa l s ;  ( I )  gui di ng t he  Boar d i n di s char gi ng i t s  r es pons i bi l i t i e s  ( i nc l udi ng wi t h r es pec t  t o t he  r e t ent i on of  out s i de  advi s or s  wher e  needed)  and di r ec t i ng t he  Boar d t owar d Boar d m at t e r s  and away f r om  m anagem ent  m at t e r s  t ha t  a r e  c l ea r l y t he  r es pons i bi l i t y of  t he  CEO;  and ( J )  s uppor t i ng and pr om ot i ng bus i nes s  r e l a t i ons hi ps  as  appr opr i a t e l y r eques t ed by m anagem ent .  ( g)  I f  and f or  s o l ong as  a  Lead Di r ec t or  i s  s e r vi ng,  hi s  or  he r  s pec i f i c  r es pons i bi l i t i e s  wi l l  i nc l ude  t he  f ol l owi ng:  ( i )  pr es i di ng a t  r egul a r  and s pec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Boar d when t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d i s  not  pr es ent  or  abl e  t o do s o,  and ca l l i ng and/ or  pr es i di ng a t  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Non- M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s  ( and br i e f i ng t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d on di s cus s i ons ) ;



 

15 ( i i )  deve l opi ng and com m uni ca t i ng t he  agenda  f or  execut i ve  s es s i ons  of  t he  Boar d and m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Non- M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s ;  ( i i i )  col l abor a t i ng wi t h t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d on Boar d m ee t i ng s chedul es  and agendas ;  ( i v)  wor ki ng wi t h t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d t o es t abl i s h par am et e r s  f or  t he  qua l i t y,  am ount  and t i m el i nes s  of  t he  i nf or m at i on f l ow be t ween m anagem ent  and t he  Boar d ( i t  be i ng under s t ood t ha t  m anagem ent  i s  r es pons i bl e  f or  t he  pr epar a t i ons  of  m at e r i a l s  f or  t he  Boar d cons i s t ent  wi t h t hes e  par am et e r s )  ( v)  ens ur i ng t ha t  t he  Non- M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s  have  pr oper  i nput  i nt o m ee t i ng agendas  and m at e r i a l s  s ent  t o t he  Boar d;  ( vi )  ac t i ng as  a  l i a i s on be t ween t he  Non- M anagem ent  Di r ec t or s  and t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d;  ( vi i )  pr ovi di ng advi ce  and couns e l  t o t he  CEO on var i ous  cor por a t e  i s s ues ;  ( vi i i )  conf e r r i ng wi t h t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d r egar di ng t he  deve l opm ent ,  i m pl em ent a t i on and m oni t or i ng of  near -  and l ong- t e r m  s t r a t egi c  pl ans  and m aj or  ac t i vi t i e s  of  t he  Com pany and conf i r m i ng wi t h t he  Cha i r m an
of  t he  Boar d t ha t  Boar d dec i s i ons  and pol i c i es  have  been i m pl em ent ed;  ( i x)  t oge t her  wi t h t he  cha i r m an of  t he  Gover nance  Com m i t t ee  ( i f  s epar a t e ) ,  gui di ng t he  annua l  boar d s e l f - as s es s m ent  pr oces s ;  ( x)  gui di ng t he  CEO s ucces s i on pl anni ng pr oces s  and t he  Boar d’ s  cons i der a t i on of  CEO com pens a t i on;  and ( xi )  pe r f or m i ng any ot her  f unc t i on as  t he  Boar d m ay di r ec t  or  r eques t ,  t o t he  ext ent  cons i s t ent  wi t h t he  f or egoi ng.  6. 2 Cl as s i f i ca t i on of  t he  Boar d.  ( a )  The  El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or s  s ha l l  be  di vi ded i nt o t hr ee  c l as s es  denom i na t ed as  Cl as s  I ,  Cl as s  I I  and Cl as s  I I I  ( each be i ng r e f e r r ed t o her e i n as  a  " Cl as s ” ) .  I f  t he  s i ze  of  t he  Boar d i s  i nc r eas ed or  decr eas ed i n accor dance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  or  i f  a  Di r ec t or  becom es  an El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or  and i s  not  ot her wi s e  as s i gned t o a  Cl as s  by vi r t ue  of  t he  i m m edi a t e l y pr ecedi ng s ent ence ,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  adj us t  t he  m akeup of  t he  Cl as s es  s uch t ha t  Di r ec t or s  a r e  as  evenl y di s t r i but ed am ong Cl as s es  as  pos s i bl e .  ( b)  Any Ser i es  A Des i gna t ed Di r ec t or  s ha l l  cont i nue  t o be  a  Di r ec t or  unt i l  hi s

or  he r  r em oval  or  r epl acem ent  i n accor dance  wi t h Sec t i on 6. 1( c )  or  Sec t i on 6. 1( d) .  Each El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or  s ha l l  s e r ve  f or  a  t e r m  of  t hr ee  year s  f ol l owi ng t he  m os t  r ecent  annua l  m ee t i ng a t  whi ch s uch El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or  was  e l ec t ed,  s ubj ec t  t o ea r l i e r  dea t h,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval  as  pr ovi ded her e i n.  At  each annua l  m ee t i ng of  PAGP Li m i t ed Par t ner s ,



 

16 s ucces s or s  t o t he  c l as s  of  Di r ec t or s  whos e  t e r m  expi r es  a t  t ha t  annua l  m ee t i ng s ha l l  be  e l ec t ed or  des i gna t ed f or  a  t hr ee - year  t e r m .  ( c )  An El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or  m ay be  r em oved wi t h or  wi t hout  Caus e  upon a  vot e  of  a  m aj or i t y of  t he  r em ai ni ng Di r ec t or s  t hen i n of f i ce .  ( d)  I ndi vi dua l s  s ha l l  be  nom i na t ed f or  e l ec t i on as  El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or s ,  and t he  e l ec t i on of  El i gi bl e  Di r ec t or s  s ha l l  be  conduc t ed,  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  6. 3 M eet i ngs  of  t he  Boar d.  The  Boar d m ay hol d m ee t i ngs ,  bot h r egul a r  and s pec i a l ,  wi t hi n or  out s i de  t he  St a t e  of  De l awar e .  Regul a r  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Boar d m ay be  ca l l ed by t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d,  t he  Lead Di r ec t or  ( as  appr opr i a t e ) ,  t he  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r  or  t wo or  m or e  of  t he  Di r ec t or s  upon de l i ver y of  wr i t t en Not i ce  t o t he  r em ai nder  of  t he  Boar d a t  l eas t  f i ve  days  pr i or  t o t he  da t e  of  s uch m ee t i ng.  Spec i a l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Boar d m ay be  ca l l ed a t  t he  r eques t  of  t he  Cha i r m an of  t he  Boar d,  t he  Lead Di r ec t or  ( as  appr opr i a t e ) ,  t he  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r  or  any
t wo or  m or e  of  t he  Di r ec t or s  upon de l i ver y of  wr i t t en Not i ce  s ent  t o each ot her  Di r ec t or  by t he  m eans  m os t  l i ke l y t o r each s uch Di r ec t or  as  m ay be  de t e r m i ned by t he  Secr e t a r y i n hi s  or  he r  bes t  j udgm ent  s o as  t o be  r ece i ved a t  l eas t  24 hour s  pr i or  t o t he  t i m e  of  s uch m ee t i ng.  Not wi t hs t andi ng anyt hi ng cont a i ned her e i n t o t he  cont r a r y,  s uch Not i ce  m ay be  t e l ephoni c  i f  no ot her  r eas onabl e  m eans  a r e  ava i l abl e .  Such Not i ces  s ha l l  be  accom pani ed by a  pr opos ed agenda  or  gener a l  s t a t em ent  of  pur pos e .  Advance  not i ce  of  a  m ee t i ng m ay be  wai ved and a t t endance  or  pa r t i c i pa t i on i n a  m ee t i ng s ha l l  be  deem ed t o cons t i t ut e  wai ver  of  any advance  not i ce  r equi r em ent  f or  s uch m ee t i ng,  unl es s  t he  r eas on f or  s uch par t i c i pa t i on or  a t t endance  i s  f or  t he  expr es s  pur pos e  of  obj ec t i ng t o t he  t r ans ac t i on of  any bus i nes s  on t he  bas i s  t ha t  t he  m ee t i ng was  not  l awf ul l y ca l l ed or  convened.  6. 4 Quor um  and Act s  of  t he  Boar d.  A m aj or i t y of  t he  Di r ec t or s  s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  a  quor um  f or  t he  t r ans ac t i on of  bus i nes s  a t  a l l  m ee t i ngs  of  t he  Boar d,  and,  except

as  ot her wi s e  pr ovi ded i n t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  t he  ac t  of  a  m aj or i t y of  t he  Di r ec t or s  pr es ent  a t  any m ee t i ng a t  whi ch t he r e  i s  a  quor um  s ha l l  be  t he  ac t  of  t he  Boar d.  I f  a  quor um  s ha l l  not  be  pr es ent  a t  any m ee t i ng of  t he  Boar d,  t he  Di r ec t or s  pr es ent  t he r ea t  m ay adj our n t he  m ee t i ng f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e ,  wi t hout  not i ce  ot her  t han announcem ent  a t  t he  m ee t i ng,  unt i l  a  quor um  s ha l l  be  pr es ent .  Any ac t i on r equi r ed or  pe r m i t t ed t o be  t aken a t  any m ee t i ng of  t he  Boar d or  of  any com m i t t ee  t he r eof  m ay be  t aken wi t hout  a  m ee t i ng,  i f  a l l  m em ber s  of  t he  Boar d or  com m i t t ee ,  a s  t he  cas e  m ay be ,  cons ent  t he r e t o i n wr i t i ng ( i nc l udi ng by e l ec t r oni c  t r ans m i s s i on) ,  and t he  wr i t i ng or  wr i t i ngs  or  e l ec t r oni c  t r ans m i s s i on or  t r ans m i s s i ons  a r e  f i l ed wi t h t he  m i nut es  of  pr oceedi ngs  of  t he  Boar d or  com m i t t ee .  Such f i l i ng s ha l l  be  i n paper  f or m  i f  t he  m i nut es  a r e  m ai nt a i ned i n paper  f or m  and s ha l l  be  i n e l ec t r oni c  f or m  i f  t he  m i nut es  a r e  m ai nt a i ned i n e l ec t r oni c  f or m .  6. 5 Com m uni ca t i ons .  M em ber s  of  t he  Boar d,  or  any com m i t t ee
des i gna t ed by t he  Boar d,  m ay par t i c i pa t e  i n a  m ee t i ng of  t he  Boar d or  any com m i t t ee  t he r eof  by m eans  of  conf e r ence  t e l ephone  or  s i m i l a r  com m uni ca t i ons  equi pm ent  t hr ough whi ch a l l  pe r s ons  par t i c i pa t i ng i n t he  m ee t i ng can hear  each ot her ,  and s uch par t i c i pa t i on i n a  m ee t i ng s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  pr es ence  i n per s on a t  t he  m ee t i ng,  except  when a  Di r ec t or  pa r t i c i pa t es  f or  t he  expr es s  pur pos e  of  obj ec t i ng t o t he  t r ans ac t i on of  any bus i nes s  on t he  gr ound t ha t  t he  m ee t i ng was  not  l awf ul l y ca l l ed or  convened.



 

17 6. 6 Com m i t t ees  of  Di r ec t or s .  ( a )  The  Boar d,  by unani m ous  r es ol ut i on of  a l l  Di r ec t or s  pr es ent  and vot i ng a t  a  dul y cons t i t ut ed m ee t i ng of  t he  Boar d or  by unani m ous  wr i t t en cons ent ,  m ay des i gna t e  one  or  m or e  com m i t t ees ,  each com m i t t ee  t o cons i s t  of  one  ( 1)  or  m or e  of  t he  Di r ec t or s .  I n t he  event  of  t he  di s qua l i f i ca t i on,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval  of  a  com m i t t ee  m em ber ,  t he  Boar d m ay appoi nt  anot her  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d t o f i l l  s uch vacancy.  Any s uch com m i t t ee ,  t o t he  ext ent  pr ovi ded i n t he  Boar d’ s  r es ol ut i on,  s ha l l  have  and m ay exer c i s e  a l l  t he  power s  and aut hor i t y of  t he  Boar d i n t he  m anagem ent  of  t he  Com pany’ s  bus i nes s  and a f f a i r s  s ubj ec t  t o any l i m i t a t i ons  cont a i ned her e i n or  i n t he  Act .  Such com m i t t ee  or  com m i t t ees  s ha l l  have  s uch nam e or  nam es  as  m ay be  de t e r m i ned f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  by r es ol ut i on adopt ed by t he  Boar d.  Each com m i t t ee  s ha l l  keep ( or  i nc l ude  as  a  par t  of  t he  Boar d’ s  m i nut es )  r egul a r  m i nut es  of  i t s  m ee t i ngs  and r epor t  t he  s am e t o t he  Boar d when r equi r ed.  ( b)  I n addi t i on t o any ot her
com m i t t ees  es t abl i s hed by t he  Boar d pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 6. 6( a ) ,  t he  Boar d m ay,  as  neces s a r y,  convene  a  " Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee , ”  whi ch s ha l l  be  com pos ed of  a t  l eas t  t wo Di r ec t or s ,  each of  whom  s ha l l  m ee t  t he  r equi r em ent s  s e t  f or t h i n t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  The  Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee  s ha l l  be  r es pons i bl e  f or  ( A)  appr ovi ng or  di s appr ovi ng,  as  t he  cas e  m ay be ,  any m at t e r s  r egar di ng t he  bus i nes s  and a f f a i r s  of  t he  Com pany,  PAGP or  AAP s ubm i t t ed t o s uch Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee  by t he  Boar d and ( B)  per f or m i ng s uch ot her  f unc t i ons  as  t he  Boar d m ay as s i gn f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  or  as  m ay be  s pec i f i ed i n a  s pec i f i c  de l ega t i on t o t he  Conf l i c t s  Com m i t t ee .  ( c )  I n addi t i on t o any ot her  com m i t t ees  es t abl i s hed by t he  Boar d pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 6. 6( a ) ,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  m ai nt a i n an " Audi t  Com m i t t ee , ”  whi ch s ha l l  be  com pos ed of  a t  l eas t  t hr ee  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s  a t  a l l  t i m es ,  s ubj ec t  t o Sec t i on 6. 1( a ) ( i ) .  The  Audi t  Com m i t t ee  s ha l l  be  r es pons i bl e  f or  s uch m at t e r s  as  t he  Boar d m ay as s i gn f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  or  as  m ay be

s pec i f i ed i n a  wr i t t en char t e r  f or  t he  Audi t  Com m i t t ee  adopt ed by t he  Boar d.  6. 7 Com pens a t i on of  Di r ec t or s .  Each Di r ec t or  s ha l l  be  ent i t l ed t o r e i m bur s em ent  f r om  t he  Com pany f or  a l l  r eas onabl e  di r ec t  out - of - pocke t  expens es  i ncur r ed by s uch Di r ec t or  i n connec t i on wi t h a t t endi ng Boar d m ee t i ngs  and s uch ot her  com pens a t i on as  m ay be  appr oved by t he  Boar d.  6. 8 Di r ec t or s  as  Agent s .  The  Boar d,  ac t i ng as  a  body pur s uant  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  a  " m anager ”  f or  pur pos es  of  t he  Act .  No Di r ec t or ,  i n s uch capac i t y,  ac t i ng s i ngl y or  wi t h any ot her  Di r ec t or ,  s ha l l  have  any aut hor i t y or  r i ght  t o ac t  on beha l f  of  or  bi nd t he  Com pany ot her  t han by exer c i s i ng t he  Di r ec t or ’ s  vot i ng power  as  a  m em ber  of  t he  Boar d,  unl es s  s pec i f i ca l l y aut hor i zed by t he  Boar d i n each i ns t ance .  6. 9 Of f i ce r s ;  Agent s .  The  Boar d s ha l l  have  t he  power  t o appoi nt  any Per s on or  Per s ons  as  t he  Com pany’ s  of f i ce r s  ( t he  " Of f i ce r s ” )  t o ac t  f or  t he  Com pany and t o de l ega t e  t o s uch Of f i ce r s  s uch of  t he  power s  as  a r e  gr ant ed t o t he  Boar d her eunder .  Any dec i s i on or
ac t  of  an Of f i ce r  wi t hi n t he  s cope  of  t he  Of f i ce r ’ s  des i gna t ed or  de l ega t ed aut hor i t y s ha l l  cont r ol  and s ha l l  bi nd t he  Com pany ( and any bus i nes s  ent i t y f or  whi ch t he  Com pany exer c i s es  di r ec t  or  i ndi r ec t  execut or y aut hor i t y) .  The  Of f i ce r s  m ay have  s uch t i t l e s  as  t he  Boar d s ha l l  deem  appr opr i a t e ,  whi ch m ay i nc l ude  ( but  need not  be  l i m i t ed t o)  Pr es i dent ,  Chi e f  Execut i ve  Of f i ce r ,  Chi e f  Com m er c i a l  Of f i ce r ,



 

18 Execut i ve  Vi ce  Pr es i dent ,  Vi ce  Pr es i dent ,  Chi e f  Oper a t i ng Of f i ce r ,  Chi e f  Fi nanc i a l  Of f i ce r ,  Tr eas ur e r ,  Cont r ol l e r  or  Secr e t a r y.  A Di r ec t or  m ay be  an Of f i ce r .  Unl es s  t he  aut hor i t y of  an Of f i ce r  i s  l i m i t ed by t he  Boar d,  any Of f i ce r  s o appoi nt ed s ha l l  have  t he  s am e aut hor i t y t o ac t  f or  t he  Com pany as  a  cor r es pondi ng of f i ce r  of  a  De l awar e  cor por a t i on woul d have  t o ac t  f or  a  De l awar e  cor por a t i on i n t he  abs ence  of  a  s pec i f i c  de l ega t i on of  aut hor i t y.  The  Of f i ce r s  s ha l l  hol d of f i ce  unt i l  t he i r  r es pec t i ve  s ucces s or s  a r e  chos en and qua l i f y or  unt i l  t he i r  ea r l i e r  dea t h,  r es i gna t i on or  r em oval .  Any Of f i ce r  e l ec t ed or  appoi nt ed by t he  Boar d m ay be  r em oved a t  any t i m e  by t he  a f f i r m at i ve  vot e  of  a  m aj or i t y of  t he  Boar d.  Any vacancy occur r i ng i n any of f i ce  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  f i l l ed by t he  a f f i r m at i ve  vot e  of  a  m aj or i t y of  t he  Boar d.  ARTI CLE VI I  LI ABI LI TY AND I NDEM NI FI CATI ON 7. 1 Li m i t a t i on on Li abi l i t y of  M em ber s ,  Di r ec t or s  and Of f i ce r s .  ( a )  Subj ec t  t o,  and as  l i m i t ed by,  t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  t he  M em ber s  and
Di r ec t or s ,  i n t he  per f or m ance  of  t he i r  dut i es  as  s uch,  s ha l l  not ,  t o t he  m axi m um  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by t he  Act  or  ot her  appl i cabl e  l aw,  owe  any dut i es  ( i nc l udi ng f i duc i a r y dut i es )  as  a  M em ber  or  Di r ec t or  of  t he  Com pany,  not wi t hs t andi ng anyt hi ng t o t he  cont r a r y i n exi s t i ng l aw,  i n equi t y or  ot her wi s e ;  pr ovi ded,  however ,  t ha t  f or  t he  avoi dance  of  doubt  not hi ng s e t  f or t h her e i n s ha l l  be  deem ed t o l i m i t  t he  obl i ga t i ons  of  t he  " Gener a l  Par t ner ”  under  t he  PAGP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent .  Not wi t hs t andi ng anyt hi ng t o t he  cont r a r y s e t  f or t h i n t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  no I ndem ni t ee  s ha l l  be  l i abl e  f or  m one t a r y dam ages  t o t he  Com pany,  t he  M em ber s  or  any ot her  Per s ons  who have  acqui r ed M em ber s hi p I nt e r es t s ,  f or  l os s es  s us t a i ned or  l i abi l i t i e s  i ncur r ed as  a  r es ul t  of  any ac t  or  om i s s i on of  an I ndem ni t ee  i n connec t i on wi t h t he  conduc t  of  t he  bus i nes s  or  a f f a i r s  of  t he  Com pany unl es s  t he r e  has  been a  f i na l  and non- appea l abl e  j udgm ent  ent e r ed by a  cour t  of  com pet ent  j ur i s di c t i on de t e r m i ni ng t ha t ,  i n r es pec t  of  t he  m at t e r  i n ques t i on,  t he

I ndem ni t ee  ac t ed i n bad f a i t h or  engaged i n f r aud,  wi l l f ul  m i s conduc t  or ,  i n t he  cas e  of  a  c r i m i na l  m at t e r ,  ac t ed wi t h knowl edge  t ha t  t he  I ndem ni t ee ’ s  conduc t  was  c r i m i na l .  Except  as  r equi r ed by t he  Act ,  t he  Com pany’ s  debt s ,  obl i ga t i ons ,  and l i abi l i t i e s ,  whe t her  a r i s i ng i n cont r ac t ,  t or t  or  ot her wi s e ,  s ha l l  be  s ol e l y t he  debt s ,  obl i ga t i ons  and l i abi l i t i e s  of  t he  Com pany,  and no I ndem ni t ee  s ha l l  be  per s ona l l y r es pons i bl e  f or  any s uch debt ,  obl i ga t i on or  l i abi l i t y of  t he  Com pany s ol e l y by r eas on of  be i ng an I ndem ni t ee .  No M em ber  s ha l l  be  r es pons i bl e  f or  any debt s ,  obl i ga t i ons  or  l i abi l i t i e s ,  whe t her  a r i s i ng i n cont r ac t ,  t or t  or  ot her wi s e ,  of  any ot her  M em ber .  The  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  t o t he  ext ent  t ha t  t hey r es t r i c t ,  e l i m i na t e  or  ot her wi s e  m odi f y t he  dut i es  and l i abi l i t i e s ,  i nc l udi ng f i duc i a r y dut i es ,  of  any I ndem ni t ee  ot her wi s e  exi s t i ng a t  l aw or  i n equi t y,  a r e  agr eed by t he  M em ber s  t o r epl ace  s uch dut i es  and l i abi l i t i e s  of  s uch I ndem ni t ee .  To t he  f ul l es t  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by l aw,  i n connec t i on wi t h any ac t i on
or  i nac t i on of ,  or  de t e r m i na t i on m ade  by,  any I ndem ni t ee  wi t h r es pec t  t o any m at t e r  r e l a t i ng t o t he  Com pany,  i t  s ha l l  be  pr es um ed t ha t  t he  I ndem ni t ee  ac t ed i n a  m anner  t ha t  s a t i s f i ed t he  cont r ac t ua l  s t andar ds  s e t  f or t h i n t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  and i n any pr oceedi ng br ought  by any M em ber  or  by or  on beha l f  of  s uch M em ber  or  any ot her  M em ber  or  t he  Com pany cha l l engi ng any s uch ac t i on or  i nac t i on of ,  or  de t e r m i na t i on m ade  by,  any I ndem ni t ee ,  t he  Per s on br i ngi ng or  pr os ecut i ng s uch pr oceedi ng s ha l l  have  t he  bur den of  over com i ng s uch pr es um pt i on.



 

19 ( b)  Any I ndem ni t ee  m ay r e l y and s ha l l  be  pr ot ec t ed i n ac t i ng or  r e f r a i ni ng f r om  ac t i ng upon any r es ol ut i on,  ce r t i f i ca t e ,  s t a t em ent ,  i ns t r um ent ,  opi ni on,  r epor t ,  not i ce ,  r eques t ,  cons ent ,  or der ,  bond,  debent ur e  or  ot her  paper  or  docum ent  be l i eved by i t  t o be  genui ne  and t o have  been s i gned or  pr es ent ed by t he  pr oper  par t y or  pa r t i es .  ( c )  No am endm ent ,  m odi f i ca t i on or  r epea l  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 1 or  any pr ovi s i on her eof  s ha l l  i n any m anner  t e r m i na t e ,  r educe  or  i m pai r  t he  wai ver  or  l i m i t a t i on on l i abi l i t y wi t h r es pec t  t o any pas t ,  pr es ent  or  f ut ur e  I ndem ni t ee  under  and i n accor dance  wi t h t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 1 as  i n e f f ec t  i m m edi a t e l y pr i or  t o s uch am endm ent ,  m odi f i ca t i on or  r epea l  wi t h r es pec t  t o c l a i m s  a r i s i ng f r om  or  r e l a t i ng t o m at t e r s  occur r i ng,  i n whol e  or  i n par t ,  pr i or  t o s uch am endm ent ,  m odi f i ca t i on or  r epea l ,  r egar dl es s  of  when s uch c l a i m s  m ay a r i s e  or  be  as s e r t ed.  7. 2 I ndem ni f i ca t i on.  ( a )  Not wi t hs t andi ng anyt hi ng t o t he  cont r a r y s e t  f or t h i n t hi s  Agr eem ent  and except  as  r equi r ed by t he  Act ,
t o t he  f ul l es t  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by l aw but  s ubj ec t  t o t he  l i m i t a t i ons  expr es s l y pr ovi ded i n t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  t he  Com pany s ha l l  i ndem ni f y and hol d har m l es s  t he  I ndem ni t ees  ( when not  ac t i ng i n vi ol a t i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  or  appl i cabl e  l aw)  f r om  and aga i ns t  any and a l l  l os s es ,  c l a i m s ,  dem ands ,  cos t s ,  dam ages ,  l i abi l i t i e s ,  expens es  of  any na t ur e  ( i nc l udi ng r eas onabl e  a t t or neys ’  f ees  and di s bur s em ent s ) ,  j udgm ent s ,  f i nes ,  s e t t l em ent s  and ot her  am ount s  a r i s i ng f r om  any and a l l  c l a i m s ,  dem ands ,  ac t i ons ,  s ui t s  or  pr oceedi ngs ,  c i vi l ,  c r i m i na l ,  adm i ni s t r a t i ve  or  i nves t i ga t i ve ,  i n whi ch an I ndem ni t ee  m ay be  i nvol ved,  or  t hr ea t ened t o be  i nvol ved,  as  a  pa r t y or  ot her wi s e ,  by r eas on of  hi s ,  he r  or  i t s  s t a t us  as  an I ndem ni t ee ,  i f  s uch I ndem ni t ee  ac t ed i n good f a i t h and i n a  m anner  he  or  s he  s ubj ec t i ve l y be l i eved t o be  i n,  or  not  oppos ed t o,  t he  i nt e r es t s  of  t he  Com pany and wi t h r es pec t  t o any c r i m i na l  pr oceedi ng,  had no r eas on t o be l i eve  hi s ,  he r  or  i t s  conduc t  was  unl awf ul .  ( b)  Expens es  i ncur r ed by an I ndem ni t ee  i n def endi ng

any c l a i m ,  dem and,  ac t i on,  s ui t  or  pr oceedi ng s ubj ec t  t o Sec t i on 7. 2( a )  s ha l l ,  f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e ,  be  advanced by t he  Com pany pr i or  t o t he  f i na l  di s pos i t i on of  s uch c l a i m ,  dem and,  ac t i on,  s ui t  or  pr oceedi ng upon r ece i pt  by t he  Com pany of  an under t aki ng by or  on beha l f  of  t he  I ndem ni t ee  t o r epay s uch am ount s  i f  i t  i s  ul t i m at e l y de t e r m i ned t ha t  t he  I ndem ni t ee  i s  not  ent i t l ed t o be  i ndem ni f i ed as  aut hor i zed i n t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2.  ( c )  The  i ndem ni f i ca t i on pr ovi ded by t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2 s ha l l  be  i n addi t i on t o any ot her  r i ght s  t o whi ch an I ndem ni t ee  m ay be  ent i t l ed pur s uant  t o any appr ova l  of  t he  Boar d,  as  a  m at t e r  of  l aw or  equi t y,  or  ot her wi s e ,  and s ha l l  cont i nue  as  t o an I ndem ni t ee  who has  ceas ed t o hol d t he  s t a t us  wi t h r es pec t  t o whi ch i t  was  an I ndem ni t ee  and s ha l l  i nur e  t o t he  benef i t  of  t he  he i r s ,  s ucces s or s ,  a s s i gns ,  and adm i ni s t r a t or s  of  s uch I ndem ni t ee .  The  Com pany s ha l l  not  be  r equi r ed t o i ndem ni f y any M em ber  i n connec t i on wi t h any l os s es ,  c l a i m s ,  dem ands ,  ac t i ons ,  di s put es ,  s ui t s  or  pr oceedi ngs ,  of  any
M em ber  aga i ns t  any ot her  M em ber .



 

20 ( d)  The  Com pany m ay pur chas e  and m ai nt a i n di r ec t or s  and of f i ce r s  i ns ur ance  or  s i m i l a r  cover age  f or  i t s  Di r ec t or s  and Of f i ce r s  i n s uch am ount s  and wi t h s uch deduc t i bl es  or  s e l f - i ns ur ed r e t ent i ons  as  de t e r m i ned by t he  Boar d.  ( e )  Any i ndem ni f i ca t i on her eunder  s ha l l  be  s a t i s f i ed onl y out  of  t he  as s e t s  of  t he  Com pany,  and t he  M em ber s  s ha l l  not  be  s ubj ec t  t o per s ona l  l i abi l i t y by r eas on of  t he  i ndem ni f i ca t i on pr ovi s i ons  under  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2.  ( f )  An I ndem ni t ee  s ha l l  not  be  deni ed i ndem ni f i ca t i on i n whol e  or  i n par t  under  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2 becaus e  t he  I ndem ni t ee  had an i nt e r es t  i n t he  t r ans ac t i on wi t h r es pec t  t o whi ch t he  i ndem ni f i ca t i on appl i es  i f  t he  t r ans ac t i on was  ot her wi s e  per m i t t ed by t he  t e r m s  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  and a l l  m at e r i a l  f ac t s  r e l a t i ng t o s uch I ndem ni t ee ’ s  i nt e r es t  wer e  adequa t e l y di s c l os ed t o t he  Boar d a t  t he  t i m e  t he  t r ans ac t i on was  cons um m at ed.  ( g)  Subj ec t  t o Sec t i on 7. 2( c ) ,  t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2 a r e  f or  t he  benef i t  of  t he  I ndem ni t ees  and t he  he i r s ,  s ucces s or s ,  a s s i gns  and adm i ni s t r a t or s
of  t he  I ndem ni t ees  and s ha l l  not  be  deem ed t o c r ea t e  any r i ght s  f or  t he  benef i t  of  any ot her  Per s ons .  ( h)  No am endm ent ,  m odi f i ca t i on or  r epea l  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2 or  any pr ovi s i on her eof  s ha l l  i n any m anner  t e r m i na t e ,  r educe  or  i m pai r  t he  r i ght  of  any pas t ,  pr es ent  or  f ut ur e  I ndem ni t ee  t o be  i ndem ni f i ed by t he  Com pany or  any Af f i l i a t e  of  t he  Com pany,  nor  t he  obl i ga t i ons  of  t he  Com pany or  s uch Af f i l i a t e  t o i ndem ni f y any s uch I ndem ni t ee  under  and i n accor dance  wi t h t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 7. 2 as  i n e f f ec t  i m m edi a t e l y pr i or  t o s uch am endm ent ,  m odi f i ca t i on or  r epea l  wi t h r es pec t  t o c l a i m s  a r i s i ng f r om  or  r e l a t i ng t o m at t e r s  occur r i ng,  i n whol e  or  i n par t ,  pr i or  t o s uch am endm ent ,  m odi f i ca t i on or  r epea l ,  r egar dl es s  of  when s uch c l a i m s  m ay a r i s e  or  be  as s e r t ed.  ARTI CLE VI I I  TRANSFERS OF UNI TS 8. 1 Gener a l  Res t r i c t i ons .  ( a )  Except  f or  Tr ans f e r s  t ha t  a r e  neces s a r y i n or der  t o gi ve  e f f ec t  t o ( i )  an exchange  of  s uch M em ber ’ s  AAP Cl as s  A Uni t s  and PAGP Cl as s  B Shar es  f or  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  i n accor dance  wi t h

Sec t i on 7. 9 of  t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ;  or  ( i i )  a  r edem pt i on of  s uch M em ber ’ s  AAP Cl as s  A Uni t s  f or  M LP Redem pt i on Uni t s  i n accor dance  wi t h Sec t i on 7. 11 of  t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ,  a  M em ber  s ha l l  be  pr ohi bi t ed f r om  Tr ans f e r r i ng any of  i t s  Com pany Uni t s  ( a  " M em ber s hi p Tr ans f e r ” )  unl es s  s uch M em ber  s i m ul t aneous l y Tr ans f e r s  t o t he  t r ans f e r ee  of  s uch Com pany Uni t s  a  cor r es pondi ng num ber  of  AAP Cl as s  A Uni t s  and PAGP Cl as s  B Shar es  i n accor dance  wi t h t he  appl i cabl e  t e r m s  of  t he  AAP Par t ner s hi p Agr eem ent ,  i nc l udi ng i n com pl i ance  wi t h any t r ans f e r  r es t r i c t i on or  r i ght  of  f i r s t  r e f us a l  pr ovi s i ons  cont a i ned t her e i n.  A t r ans f e r  i n com pl i ance  wi t h s uch t e r m s  i s  r e f e r r ed t o her e i n as  a  " Per m i t t ed Tr ans f e r . ”  I f  f or  any r eas on t he  t r ans f e r  of  s uch AAP Cl as s  A Uni t s  or  PAGP Cl as s  B Shar es  does  not  occur  s i m ul t aneous l y and pr opor t i ona t e l y wi t h t he  M em ber s hi p Tr ans f e r ,  t hen t he  M em ber s hi p Tr ans f e r  s ha l l  be  nul l  and voi d and of  no f or ce  and e f f ec t .



 

21 ( b)  Not wi t hs t andi ng any ot her  pr ovi s i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  no M em ber  m ay pl edge ,  m or t gage  or  ot her wi s e  s ubj ec t  i t s  Com pany Uni t s  t o any Encum br ance .  8. 2 Subs t i t ut e  M em ber s .  ( a )  Unl es s  and unt i l  adm i t t ed as  a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber  pur s uant  t o t hi s  Sec t i on 8. 2,  a  t r ans f e r ee  of  a  M em ber ’ s  Com pany Uni t s  s ha l l  be  an as s i gnee  wi t h r es pec t  t o s uch Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s  and s ha l l  not  be  ent i t l ed t o par t i c i pa t e  i n t he  m anagem ent  of  t he  bus i nes s  and a f f a i r s  of  t he  Com pany or  t o becom e,  or  t o exer c i s e  t he  r i ght s  of ,  a  M em ber ,  i nc l udi ng t he  r i ght  t o appoi nt  Di r ec t or s ,  t he  r i ght  t o vot e ,  t he  r i ght  t o r equi r e  any i nf or m at i on or  account i ng of  t he  Com pany’ s  bus i nes s ,  or  t he  r i ght  t o i ns pec t  t he  Com pany’ s  books  and r ecor ds .  Such t r ans f e r ee  s ha l l  onl y be  ent i t l ed t o r ece i ve ,  t o t he  ext ent  of  t he  Com pany Uni t s  Tr ans f e r r ed t o s uch t r ans f e r ee ,  t he  s har e  of  di s t r i but i ons  and pr of i t s ,  i f  any,  t o whi ch t he  t r ans f e r or  woul d ot her wi s e  be  ent i t l ed wi t h r es pec t  t o t he  Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s .  The  t r ans f e r or  s ha l l  have  t he  r i ght  t o vot e
s uch Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s  unt i l  t he  t r ans f e r ee  i s  adm i t t ed t o t he  Com pany as  a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber  wi t h r es pec t  t o t he  Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s .  ( b)  No t r ans f e r ee  of  a l l  or  any of  a  M em ber ’ s  Com pany Uni t s  s ha l l  becom e a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber  i n pl ace  of  t he  t r ans f e r or  unl es s  and unt i l :  ( i )  Such Tr ans f e r  i s  i n com pl i ance  wi t h t he  t e r m s  of  Sec t i on 8. 1;  ( i i )  t he  t r ans f e r ee  has  execut ed an i ns t r um ent  i n f or m  and s ubs t ance  r eas onabl y s a t i s f ac t or y t o t he  Boar d accept i ng and adopt i ng,  and agr ee i ng t o be  bound by,  t he  t e r m s  and pr ovi s i ons  of  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  and t hi s  Agr eem ent ;  and ( i i i )  t he  t r ans f e r ee  has  caus ed t o be  pa i d a l l  r eas onabl e  expens es  of  t he  Com pany i n connec t i on wi t h t he  adm i s s i on of  t he  t r ans f e r ee  as  a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber .  Upon s a t i s f ac t i on of  a l l  t he  f or egoi ng condi t i ons  wi t h r es pec t  t o a  par t i cul a r  t r ans f e r ee ,  t he  books  and r ecor ds  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  adj us t ed t o r e f l ec t  t he  adm i s s i on of  t he  t r ans f e r ee  as  a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber  t o t he  ext ent  of  t he  Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s  he l d by s uch t r ans f e r ee .  8. 3

Ef f ec t  of  Adm i s s i on as  a  Subs t i t ut e  M em ber .  Unl es s  ot her wi s e  pr ovi ded her eunder ,  a  t r ans f e r ee  who has  becom e a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber  has ,  t o t he  ext ent  of  t he  Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s ,  a l l  t he  r i ght s ,  power s  and benef i t s  of ,  and i s  s ubj ec t  t o t he  obl i ga t i ons ,  r es t r i c t i ons  and l i abi l i t i e s  of  a  M em ber  under ,  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e ,  t hi s  Agr eem ent  and t he  Act .  Upon adm i s s i on of  a  t r ans f e r ee  as  a  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber ,  t he  t r ans f e r or  of  t he  Com pany Uni t s  s o he l d by t he  s ubs t i t ut e  M em ber  s ha l l  ceas e  t o be  a  M em ber  of  t he  Com pany t o t he  ext ent  of  s uch Tr ans f e r r ed Com pany Uni t s .  8. 4 Cons ent .  Each M em ber  her eby agr ees  t ha t  upon s a t i s f ac t i on of  t he  t e r m s  and condi t i ons  of  t hi s  Ar t i c l e  VI I I  wi t h r es pec t  t o any pr opos ed Tr ans f e r ,  t he  t r ans f e r ee  m ay be  adm i t t ed as  a  M em ber  wi t hout  any f ur t her  ac t i on by a  M em ber  her eunder .



 

22 8. 5 No Di s s ol ut i on.  I f  a  M em ber  Tr ans f e r s  a l l  of  i t s  Com pany Uni t s  pur s uant  t o t hi s  Ar t i c l e  VI I I  and t he  t r ans f e r ee  of  s uch Com pany Uni t s  i s  adm i t t ed as  a  M em ber  pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 8. 2,  s uch Per s on s ha l l  be  adm i t t ed t o t he  Com pany as  a  M em ber  e f f ec t i ve  on t he  e f f ec t i ve  da t e  of  t he  Tr ans f e r  and t he  Com pany s ha l l  not  di s s ol ve  pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 9. 1.  8. 6 Addi t i ona l  M em ber s .  Any Per s on accept abl e  t o t he  Boar d m ay becom e an addi t i ona l  M em ber  of  t he  Com pany on t e r m s  and condi t i ons  as  t he  Boar d s ha l l  de t e r m i ne ,  pr ovi ded t ha t  s uch addi t i ona l  M em ber  com pl i es  wi t h a l l  t he  r equi r em ent s  of  a  t r ans f e r ee  under  Sec t i on 8. 2( b) ( i i )  and ( b) ( i i i ) .  ARTI CLE I X DI SSOLUTI ON AND TERM I NATI ON 9. 1 Event s  Caus i ng Di s s ol ut i on.  ( a )  The  Com pany s ha l l  be  di s s ol ved and i t s  a f f a i r s  wound up upon t he  f i r s t  t o occur  of  t he  f ol l owi ng event s :  ( i )  t he  cons ent  of  a t  l eas t  t wo- t hi r ds  of  t he  m em ber s  of  t he  Boar d;  ( i i )  a t  any t i m e  t her e  a r e  no M em ber s ,  unl es s  t he  Com pany i s  cont i nued i n accor dance  wi t h t he  Act  or  t hi s  Agr eem ent ;  or  ( i i i )  t he
ent r y of  a  decr ee  of  j udi c i a l  di s s ol ut i on pur s uant  t o Sec t i on 18-  802 of  t he  Act .  ( b)  The  wi t hdr awal ,  dea t h,  r e t i r em ent ,  r es i gna t i on,  expul s i on,  bankr upt cy or  di s s ol ut i on of  any M em ber  or  t he  occur r ence  of  any ot her  event  t ha t  t e r m i na t es  t he  cont i nued m em ber s hi p of  any M em ber  i n t he  Com pany s ha l l  not ,  i n and of  i t s e l f ,  caus e  t he  Com pany’ s  di s s ol ut i on.  9. 2 Fi na l  Account i ng.  Upon di s s ol ut i on and wi ndi ng up of  t he  Com pany,  an account i ng wi l l  be  m ade  of  t he  account s  of  t he  Com pany and each M em ber  and of  t he  Com pany’ s  as s e t s ,  l i abi l i t i e s  and oper a t i ons  f r om  t he  da t e  of  t he  l as t  pr evi ous  account i ng t o t he  da t e  of  s uch di s s ol ut i on.  9. 3 Di s t r i but i ons  Fol l owi ng Di s s ol ut i on and Ter m i na t i on.  Upon di s s ol ut i on and l i qui da t i on of  t he  Com pany,  t he  as s e t s  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  appl i ed and di s t r i but ed i n t he  f ol l owi ng or der  of  pr i or i t y:  ( a )  t o t he  paym ent  of  debt s  and l i abi l i t i e s  of  t he  Com pany ( i nc l udi ng t o t he  M em ber s  t o t he  ext ent  ot her wi s e  per m i t t ed by l aw)  and t he  expens es  of  l i qui da t i on;  ( b)  next ,  t o t he  s e t t i ng up of  s uch

r es e r ves  as  t he  Per s on r equi r ed or  aut hor i zed by l aw t o wi nd up t he  Com pany’ s  a f f a i r s  m ay r eas onabl y deem  neces s a r y or  appr opr i a t e  f or  any di s put ed,  cont i ngent  or  unf or es een l i abi l i t i e s  or  obl i ga t i ons  of  t he  Com pany,  pr ovi ded t ha t  any s uch r es e r ves  s ha l l  be  pa i d over  by s uch Per s on t o an es c r ow agent  appoi nt ed by t he  Boar d,  t o be  he l d by s uch agent  or  i t s  s ucces s or  f or  s uch per i od as  s uch



 

23 Per s on s ha l l  deem  advi s abl e  f or  t he  pur pos e  of  appl yi ng s uch r es e r ves  t o t he  paym ent  of  s uch l i abi l i t i e s  or  obl i ga t i ons  and,  a t  t he  expi r a t i on of  s uch per i od,  t he  ba l ance  of  s uch r es e r ves ,  i f  any,  s ha l l  be  di s t r i but ed as  her e i naf t e r  pr ovi ded;  and ( c )  t he  r em ai nder  t o t he  M em ber s  i n pr opor t i on t o t he i r  r e l a t i ve  owner s hi p of  Com pany Uni t s .  The  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  i nc l udi ng,  wi t hout  l i m i t a t i on,  t hi s  Sec t i on 9. 3,  a r e  i nt ended s ol e l y t o benef i t  t he  M em ber s  and,  t o t he  f ul l es t  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by l aw,  s ha l l  not  be  cons t r ued as  conf e r r i ng any benef i t  upon any c r edi t or  of  t he  Com pany,  and no s uch c r edi t or  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  a  t hi r d- par t y benef i c i a r y of  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  and no M em ber  or  Di r ec t or  s ha l l  have  any dut y or  obl i ga t i on t o any c r edi t or  of  t he  Com pany t o i s s ue  any ca l l  f or  capi t a l  pur s uant  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent .  9. 4 Ter m i na t i on of  t he  Com pany.  The  Com pany s ha l l  t e r m i na t e  when a l l  a s s e t s  of  t he  Com pany,  a f t e r  paym ent  or  due  pr ovi s i on f or  a l l  debt s ,  l i abi l i t i e s  and obl i ga t i ons  of  t he  Com pany,  s ha l l  have
been di s t r i but ed t o t he  M em ber s  i n t he  m anner  pr ovi ded f or  i n t hi s  Ar t i c l e  I X,  and t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  of  For m at i on of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  have  been cance l ed i n t he  m anner  r equi r ed by t he  Act .  9. 5 No Act i on f or  Di s s ol ut i on.  The  M em ber s  acknowl edge  t ha t  i r r epar abl e  dam age  woul d be  done  t o t he  goodwi l l  and r eput a t i on of  t he  Com pany i f  any M em ber  s houl d br i ng an ac t i on i n cour t  t o di s s ol ve  t he  Com pany under  c i r cum s t ances  wher e  di s s ol ut i on i s  not  r equi r ed by Sec t i on 9. 1.  Accor di ngl y,  except  wher e  t he  Boar d has  f a i l ed t o caus e  t he  l i qui da t i on of  t he  Com pany as  r equi r ed by Sec t i on 9. 1 and except  as  s pec i f i ca l l y pr ovi ded i n Sec t i on 18- 802 of  t he  Act ,  each M em ber  her eby t o t he  f ul l es t  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by l aw wai ves  and r enounces  hi s  r i ght  t o i ni t i a t e  l ega l  ac t i on t o s eek di s s ol ut i on of  t he  Com pany or  t o s eek t he  appoi nt m ent  of  a  r ece i ver  or  t r us t ee  t o wi nd up t he  a f f a i r s  of  t he  Com pany,  except  i n t he  cas es  of  f r aud,  vi ol a t i on of  l aw,  bad f a i t h,  wi l l f ul  m i s conduc t  or  wi l l f ul  vi ol a t i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent .  ARTI CLE X ACCOUNTI NG;  BOOKS

AND RECORDS 10. 1 Fi s ca l  Year  and Account i ng M et hod.  The  f i s ca l  year  and t axabl e  year  of  t he  Com pany s ha l l  be  t he  ca l endar  year .  The  Com pany s ha l l  us e  an accr ua l  m et hod of  account i ng.  10. 2 Books  and Recor ds .  The  Com pany s ha l l  m ai nt a i n a t  i t s  pr i nc i pa l  of f i ce ,  or  s uch ot her  of f i ce  as  m ay be  de t e r m i ned by t he  Boar d,  a l l  t he  f ol l owi ng:  ( a )  a  cur r ent  l i s t  of  t he  f ul l  nam e and l as t  known bus i nes s  or  r es i dence  addr es s  of  each M em ber ,  and of  each m em ber  of  t he  Boar d;  ( b)  a  copy of  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  and t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  i nc l udi ng any and a l l  am endm ent s  t o e i t he r  t he r eof ,  t oge t her  wi t h execut ed copi es  of  any power s  of  a t t or ney pur s uant  t o whi ch t he  Cer t i f i ca t e ,  t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  or  any am endm ent s  have  been execut ed;  and ( c )  t he  Com pany’ s  books  and r ecor ds .



 

24 10. 3 Del i ver y t o M em ber s ;  I ns pec t i on.  Upon t he  r eques t  of  any M em ber ,  f or  any pur pos e  r eas onabl y r e l a t ed t o s uch M em ber ’ s  i nt e r es t  a s  a  m em ber  of  t he  Com pany,  t he  Boar d s ha l l  caus e  t o be  m ade  ava i l abl e  t o t he  r eques t i ng M em ber  t he  i nf or m at i on r equi r ed t o be  m ai nt a i ned by c l aus es  ( a )  t hr ough ( c )  of  Sec t i on 10. 2 and s uch ot her  i nf or m at i on r egar di ng t he  bus i nes s  and a f f a i r s  and f i nanc i a l  condi t i on of  t he  Com pany as  any M em ber  m ay r eas onabl y r eques t .  10. 4 Non- Di s c l os ur e .  Each M em ber  ( ot her  t han PAGP)  agr ees  t ha t ,  except  as  ot her wi s e  cons ent ed t o by t he  Com pany i n wr i t i ng,  a l l  non- publ i c  and conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on f ur ni s hed t o i t  pur s uant  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent  wi l l  be  kept  conf i dent i a l  and wi l l  not  be  di s c l os ed by s uch M em ber ,  or  by any of  i t s  agent s ,  r epr es ent a t i ves ,  or  em pl oyees ,  i n any m anner  wha t s oever  ( ot her  t han t o t he  Com pany,  anot her  M em ber  or  any Per s on des i gna t ed by t he  Com pany) ,  i n whol e  or  i n par t ,  except  t ha t  ( a )  each M em ber  s ha l l  be  per m i t t ed t o di s c l os e  s uch i nf or m at i on t o t hos e  of  i t s  agent s ,
r epr es ent a t i ves ,  and em pl oyees  who need t o be  f am i l i a r  wi t h s uch i nf or m at i on i n connec t i on wi t h s uch M em ber ’ s  i nves t m ent  i n t he  Com pany ( col l ec t i ve l y,  " Repr es ent a t i ves ” )  and a r e  appr i s ed of  t he  conf i dent i a l  na t ur e  of  s uch i nf or m at i on,  ( b)  each M em ber  s ha l l  be  per m i t t ed t o di s c l os e  i nf or m at i on t o t he  ext ent  r equi r ed by l aw,  l ega l  pr oces s  or  r egul a t or y r equi r em ent s ,  s o l ong as  s uch M em ber  s ha l l  have  us ed i t s  r eas onabl e  e f f or t s  t o f i r s t  a f f or d t he  Com pany wi t h a  r eas onabl e  oppor t uni t y t o cont es t  t he  neces s i t y of  di s c l os i ng s uch i nf or m at i on,  ( c )  each M em ber  s ha l l  be  per m i t t ed t o di s c l os e  s uch i nf or m at i on t o pos s i bl e  pur chas er s  of  a l l  or  a  por t i on of  t he  M em ber ’ s  Com pany Uni t s ,  pr ovi ded t ha t  s uch pr os pec t i ve  pur chas er  s ha l l  execut e  a  s ui t abl e  conf i dent i a l i t y agr eem ent  i n a  f or m  appr oved by t he  Com pany cont a i ni ng t e r m s  not  l es s  r es t r i c t i ve  t han t he  t e r m s  s e t  f or t h her e i n,  ( d)  each M em ber  s ha l l  be  per m i t t ed t o di s c l os e  i nf or m at i on t o t he  ext ent  neces s a r y f or  t he  enf or cem ent  of  any r i ght  of  s uch M em ber  a r i s i ng

under  t hi s  Agr eem ent  and ( e )  each M em ber  s ha l l  be  per m i t t ed t o r epor t  t o i t s  s har ehol der s ,  l i m i t ed par t ner s ,  m em ber s  or  ot her  owner s ,  a s  appl i cabl e ,  r egar di ng t he  gener a l  s t a t us  of  i t s  i nves t m ent  i n t he  Com pany ( wi t hout  di s c l os i ng s pec i f i c  Conf i dent i a l  I nf or m at i on) ;  pr ovi ded,  however ,  t ha t  i nf or m at i on s ha l l  not  be  deem ed t o be  conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on f or  pur pos es  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 10. 4 or  Sec t i on 11. 1,  wher e  s uch i nf or m at i on ( i )  i s  a l r eady known t o s uch M em ber  ( or  i t s  Repr es ent a t i ves ) ,  havi ng been di s c l os ed t o s uch M em ber  ( or  i t s  Repr es ent a t i ves )  by a  t hi r d Per s on wi t hout  s uch t hi r d Per s on havi ng an obl i ga t i on of  conf i dent i a l i t y t o t he  Com pany ( i i )  i s  or  becom es  publ i c l y known t hr ough no wr ongf ul  ac t  of  s uch M em ber  ( or  i t s  Repr es ent a t i ves )  or  ( i i i )  i s  i ndependent l y deve l oped by s uch M em ber  ( or  i t s  Repr es ent a t i ves )  wi t hout  r e f e r ence  t o any conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on di s c l os ed t o s uch M em ber  under  t hi s  Agr eem ent .  Each M em ber  s ha l l  be  r es pons i bl e  f or  any br each of  t hi s  Sec t i on 10. 4 by i t s  Repr es ent a t i ves .  ARTI CLE XI
NON- COM PETI TI ON AND NON- SOLI CI TATI ON 11. 1 Non- Com pet i t i on.  Each of  t he  M em ber s  ( ot her  t han PAGP)  her eby acknowl edges  t ha t  t he  Com pany and i t s  Subs i di a r i es  oper a t e  i n a  com pet i t i ve  bus i nes s  and com pet e  wi t h ot her  Per s ons  oper a t i ng i n t he  m i ds t r eam  s egm ent  of  t he  oi l  and gas  i ndus t r y f or  acqui s i t i on oppor t uni t i es .  Each of  t he  M em ber s  agr ees  t ha t  dur i ng t he  per i od t ha t  i t  i s  a  M em ber ,  i t  s ha l l  not ,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  us e  any of  t he  conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on i t  r ece i ves  as  a  M em ber  t o com pet e  wi t h,  or  engage  i n or  becom e i nt e r es t ed f i nanc i a l l y i n as  a  pr i nc i pa l ,  em pl oyee ,  pa r t ner ,  s har ehol der ,  agent ,  m anager ,  owner ,  advi s or ,  l ender ,  guar ant or  of  any Per s on t ha t  com pet es  i n Nor t h Am er i ca  wi t h,  t he  bus i nes s  conduc t ed by t he  Com pany and i t s  Subs i di a r i es ;  pr ovi ded,



 

25 however ,  t ha t  when a  M em ber  engages  i n s uch ac t i vi t i e s ,  t he r e  s ha l l  be  no pr es um pt i on of  m i s us e  of  s uch conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on s ol e l y becaus e  a  Repr es ent a t i ve  of  s uch M em ber  m ay r e t a i n a  m ent a l  i m pr es s i on of  any s uch conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on.  The  Com pany and t he  M em ber s  acknowl edge  t ha t  a  M em ber  m ay have  i n concept i on or  deve l opm ent  t echnol ogy or  bus i nes s  oppor t uni t i es  whi ch m ay be  ver y s i m i l a r  or  even i dent i ca l  t o t he  Com pany’ s  conf i dent i a l  i nf or m at i on and,  s o l ong as  s uch M em ber  abi des  by Sec t i on 10. 4,  s uch M em ber  s ha l l  have  no ot her  r es t r i c t i on on s uch t echnol ogy or  bus i nes s  oppor t uni t i es  and t he  Com pany and t he  ot her  M em ber s  s ha l l  have  no r i ght s  i n s uch t echnol ogy or  bus i nes s  oppor t uni t i es .  The  Com pany and each of  t he  M em ber s  a l s o acknowl edge  and agr ee  t ha t  ( i )  Kayne  Ander s on Capi t a l  Advi s or s  L. P.  and i t s  Af f i l i a t es  ( " Kayne  Ander s on”)  and EM G I nves t m ent ,  LLC and i t s  Af f i l i a t es  ( " EM G”)  m anage  i nves t m ent s  i n t he  ener gy i ndus t r y i n t he  or di nar y cour s e  of  bus i nes s  ( s uch i nves t m ent s  r e f e r r ed t o as
" I ns t i t ut i ona l  I nves t m ent s ” )  and t ha t  Kayne  Ander s on and EM G m ay m ake  I ns t i t ut i ona l  I nves t m ent s ,  even i f  s uch I ns t i t ut i ona l  I nves t m ent s  a r e  com pet i t i ve  wi t h t he  Par t ner s hi p’ s  and i t s  Subs i di a r i es ’  bus i nes s ;  and ( i i )  Kayne  Ander s on and EM G and t he i r  r es pec t i ve  Af f i l i a t es  ( A)  s ha l l  not  be  pr ohi bi t ed,  by vi r t ue  of  i t s  s t a t us  as  a  M em ber ,  f r om  pur s ui ng or  engagi ng i n s uch I ns t i t ut i ona l  I nves t m ent s  des c r i bed i n c l aus e  ( i )  above  or  ac t i vi t i e s  or  i nt e r es t s  des c r i bed i n c l aus e  ( i i )  above ,  as  appl i cabl e ;  ( B)  s ha l l  not  be  obl i ga t ed,  or  have  a  dut y,  t o i nf or m  or  pr es ent  t o t he  Com pany or  any of  i t s  Subs i di a r i es ,  of  any oppor t uni t y,  r e l a t i ons hi p or  i nves t m ent  ( and no ot her  M em ber  wi l l  acqui r e  or  be  ent i t l ed t o any i nt e r es t  or  pa r t i c i pa t i on i n any s uch oppor t uni t y,  r e l a t i ons hi p or  i nves t m ent )  and s ha l l  not  be  bound by t he  doc t r i ne  of  cor por a t e  oppor t uni t y ( or  any ana l ogous  doc t r i ne ) ;  and ( C)  s ha l l  not  be  deem ed t o have  a  conf l i c t  of  i nt e r es t  wi t h,  or  t o have  br eached t hi s  Sec t i on 11. 1 or  any dut y ( i f  any) ,  whe t her  expr es s  or  i m pl i ed

by l aw,  t o,  t he  Com pany or  i t s  Af f i l i a t es  or  any ot her  M em ber  by r eas on of  s uch M em ber ’ s  ( or  any of  i t s  Repr es ent a t i ve ’ s  or  equi t y hol der ’ s )  i nvol vem ent  i n s uch ac t i vi t i e s  or  i nt e r es t s ;  pr ovi ded,  t ha t  i n a l l  cas es ,  s uch I ns t i t ut i ona l  I nves t m ent s  a r e  not  i n vi ol a t i on of  t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  Sec t i on 10. 4 or  t he  s econd s ent ence  of  t hi s  Sec t i on 11. 1.  Each of  t he  M em ber s  conf i r m s  t ha t  t he  r es t r i c t i ons  i n t hi s  Sec t i on 11. 1 a r e  r eas onabl e  and va l i d and a l l  de f ens es  t o t he  s t r i c t  enf or cem ent  t he r eof  a r e  her eby wai ved by each of  t he  M em ber s .  11. 2 Non- Sol i c i t a t i on.  Each of  t he  M em ber s  ( ot her  t han PAGP)  under t akes  t owar d t he  Com pany and i s  obl i ga t ed ( abs ent  t he  pr i or  wr i t t en cons ent  of  t he  Com pany) ,  dur i ng t he  per i od t ha t  i t  i s  a  M em ber  and f or  a  pe r i od of  one  year  t he r eaf t e r ,  not  t o s ol i c i t  or  hi r e ,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  i n any m anner  wha t s oever  ( except  i n r es pons e  t o a  gener a l  s ol i c i t a t i on or  a  non- di r ec t ed execut i ve  s ea r ch) ,  i n t he  capac i t y of  em pl oyee ,  cons ul t ant  or  i n any ot her  capac i t y wha t s oever ,  one  or  m or e  of  t he
em pl oyees ,  di r ec t or s  or  of f i ce r s  or  ot her  Per s ons  ( her e i naf t e r  col l ec t i ve l y r e f e r r ed t o as  " Em pl oyees ”)  who a t  t he  t i m e  of  s ol i c i t a t i on or  hi r e ,  or  i n t he  90- day per i od pr i or  t he r e t o,  a r e  wor ki ng f ul l - t i m e  or  pa r t - t i m e  f or  t he  Com pany or  any of  i t s  Subs i di a r i es  and not  t o endeavor ,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  i n any m anner  wha t s oever ,  t o encour age  any of  s a i d Em pl oyees  t o l eave  hi s  or  he r  j ob wi t h t he  Com pany or  any of  i t s  Subs i di a r i es  and not  t o endeavor ,  di r ec t l y or  i ndi r ec t l y,  and i n any m anner  wha t s oever ,  t o i nc i t e  or  i nduce  any c l i ent  of  t he  Com pany or  any of  i t s  Subs i di a r i es  t o t e r m i na t e ,  i n whol e  or  i n par t ,  i t s  bus i nes s  r e l a t i ons  wi t h t he  Com pany or  any of  i t s  Subs i di a r i es .  11. 3 Dam ages .  Each of  t he  M em ber s  acknowl edges  t ha t  dam ages  m ay not  be  an adequa t e  com pens a t i on f or  t he  l os s es  whi ch m ay be  s uf f e r ed by t he  Com pany as  a  r es ul t  of  t he  br each by s uch M em ber  of  t he  covenant s  cont a i ned i n t hi s  Ar t i c l e  XI  and t ha t  t he  Com pany s ha l l



 

26 be  ent i t l ed t o s eek i nj unc t i ve  r e l i e f  wi t h r es pec t  t o any s uch br each i n l i eu of  or  i n addi t i on t o any r ecour s e  i n dam ages  wi t hout  t he  pos t i ng of  a  bond or  ot her  s ecur i t y.  11. 4 Li m i t a t i ons .  I n t he  event  t ha t  a  cour t  of  com pet ent  j ur i s di c t i on dec i des  t ha t  t he  l i m i t a t i ons  s e t  f or t h i n Sec t i on 11. 1 her eof  a r e  t oo br oad,  s uch l i m i t a t i ons  s ha l l  be  r educed t o t hos e  l i m i t a t i ons  t ha t  s uch cour t  deem s  r eas onabl e .  ARTI CLE XI I  M I SCELLANEOUS 12. 1 W ai ver  of  Def aul t .  No cons ent  or  wa i ver ,  expr es s  or  i m pl i ed,  by t he  Com pany or  a  M em ber  wi t h r es pec t  t o any br each or  de f aul t  by t he  Com pany or  a  M em ber  her eunder  s ha l l  be  deem ed or  cons t r ued t o be  a  cons ent  or  wa i ver  wi t h r es pec t  t o any ot her  br each or  de f aul t  by any par t y of  t he  s am e pr ovi s i on or  any ot her  pr ovi s i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent .  Fa i l ur e  on t he  par t  of  t he  Com pany or  a  M em ber  t o com pl a i n of  any ac t  or  f a i l ur e  t o ac t  of  t he  Com pany or  a  M em ber  or  t o dec l a r e  s uch par t y i n def aul t  s ha l l  not  be  deem ed or  cons t i t ut e  a  wai ver  by t he  Com pany or  t he  M em ber  of  any r i ght s
her eunder .  12. 2 Am endm ent .  ( a )  Except  as  ot her wi s e  expr es s l y pr ovi ded e l s ewher e  i n t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  t hi s  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  not  be  a l t e r ed,  m odi f i ed or  changed except  by an am endm ent  appr oved by t he  Boar d;  pr ovi ded,  however ,  t ha t  ( i )  no am endm ent  of  t he  t e r m s  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  t ha t  ( A)  i nc r eas es  or  ext ends  any f i nanc i a l  obl i ga t i on or  l i abi l i t y of  a  M em ber  or  ( B)  ot her wi s e  adver s e l y a f f ec t s  t he  obl i ga t i ons  or  r i ght s  of  a  M em ber  ( as  a  M em ber  under  t hi s  Agr eem ent )  i n a  m anner  di f f e r ent  t han a  M aj or i t y i n I nt e r es t  s ha l l  be  e f f ec t i ve  wi t hout  t he  pr i or  wr i t t en cons ent  of  s uch M em ber ;  ( i i )  no am endm ent  of  Sec t i ons  6. 1,  6. 2,  6. 3,  6. 4,  11. 1 or  t hi s  Sec t i on 12. 2 t ha t  adver s e l y a f f ec t s  t he  obl i ga t i ons  or  r i ght s  of  a  M em ber  s ha l l  be  e f f ec t i ve  as  t o any M em ber  wi t hout  t he  pr i or  wr i t t en cons ent  of  t ha t  M em ber ;  ( i i i )  no am endm ent  of  Ar t i c l e  VI  t ha t  woul d adver s e l y a f f ec t  t he  di r ec t or  e l ec t i on r i ght s  of  hol der s  of  PAGP Cl as s  A Shar es  i n any m at e r i a l  r es pec t  s ha l l  be  e f f ec t i ve  wi t hout  t he  appr ova l  of  a  m aj or i t y of  t he

Com pany’ s  I ndependent  Di r ec t or s ;  and ( i v)  no am endm ent  t o Sec t i on 6. 1( b) ,  Sec t i on 6. 1( c ) ,  Sec t i on 6. 1( d)  or  t hi s  Sec t i on 12. 2( a ) ( i v)  s ha l l  be  e f f ec t i ve  wi t hout  t he  cons ent  of  t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  hol di ng a  m aj or i t y of  t he  t hen out s t andi ng Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t s .  ( b)  I n addi t i on t o any am endm ent s  ot her wi s e  aut hor i zed her e i n,  t he  Boar d m ay m ake  any am endm ent s  t o any of  t he  Schedul es  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent  f r om  t i m e  t o t i m e  t o r e f l ec t  t r ans f e r s  of  Com pany Uni t s  and i s s uances  of  addi t i ona l  Com pany Uni t s .  Copi es  of  s uch am endm ent s  s ha l l  be  de l i ve r ed t o t he  M em ber s  pr om pt l y f ol l owi ng execut i on t he r eof .



 

27 ( c )  The  Boar d s ha l l  caus e  t o be  pr epar ed and f i l ed any am endm ent  t o t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  t ha t  m ay be  r equi r ed t o be  f i l ed under  t he  Act  as  a  cons equence  of  any am endm ent  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent .  ( d)  Any m odi f i ca t i on or  am endm ent  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent  or  t he  Cer t i f i ca t e  m ade  i n accor dance  wi t h t hi s  Sec t i on 12. 2 s ha l l  be  bi ndi ng on a l l  M em ber s  and t he  Boar d.  12. 3 No Thi r d Par t y Ri ght s .  Except  f or  t he  r i ght s  pr ovi ded t o t he  Ser i es  A Pr e f e r r ed Uni t hol der s  i n Sec t i ons  6. 1( b) ,  6. 1( c )  and 6. 1( d) ,  and as  pr ovi ded i n Ar t i c l e  VI I ,  none  of  t he  pr ovi s i ons  cont a i ned i n t hi s  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  be  f or  t he  benef i t  of  or  enf or ceabl e  by any t hi r d par t i es ,  i nc l udi ng c r edi t or s  of  t he  Com pany.  12. 4 Sever abi l i t y.  I n t he  event  any pr ovi s i on of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  i s  he l d t o be  i l l ega l ,  i nva l i d or  unenf or ceabl e  t o any ext ent ,  t he  l ega l i t y,  va l i di t y and enf or ceabi l i t y of  t he  r em ai nder  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  not  be  a f f ec t ed t he r eby and s ha l l  r em ai n i n f ul l  f or ce  and e f f ec t  and s ha l l  be  enf or ced t o t he  gr ea t es t  ext ent  pe r m i t t ed by l aw.  12. 5 Nat ur e  of  I nt e r es t  i n
t he  Com pany.  A M em ber ’ s  Com pany Uni t s  s ha l l  be  per s ona l  pr oper t y f or  a l l  pur pos es .  12. 6 Bi ndi ng Agr eem ent .  Subj ec t  t o t he  r es t r i c t i ons  on t he  di s pos i t i on of  Com pany Uni t s  he r e i n cont a i ned,  t he  pr ovi s i ons  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  be  bi ndi ng upon,  and i nur e  t o t he  benef i t  of ,  t he  par t i es  he r e t o and t he i r  r es pec t i ve  he i r s ,  pe r s ona l  r epr es ent a t i ves ,  s ucces s or s  and per m i t t ed as s i gns .  12. 7 Headi ngs .  The  headi ngs  of  t he  s ec t i ons  of  t hi s  Agr eem ent  a r e  f or  conveni ence  onl y and s ha l l  not  be  cons i der ed i n cons t r ui ng or  i nt e r pr e t i ng any of  t he  t e r m s  or  pr ovi s i ons  her eof .  12. 8 W or d M eani ngs .  The  wor ds  " her e i n, ”  " her e i naf t e r , ”  " her eof ” ,  and " her eunder ”  r e f e r  t o t hi s  Agr eem ent  as  a  whol e  and not  m er e l y t o a  s ubdi vi s i on i n whi ch s uch wor ds  appear  unl es s  t he  cont ext  ot her wi s e  r equi r es .  The  s i ngul a r  s ha l l  i nc l ude  t he  pl ur a l ,  and vi ce  ver s a ,  unl es s  t he  cont ext  ot her wi s e  r equi r es .  W henever  t he  wor ds  " i nc l ude , ”  " i nc l udes ”  or  " i nc l udi ng”  a r e  us ed i n t hi s  Agr eem ent ,  t hey s ha l l  be  deem ed t o be  f ol l owed by t he  wor ds  " wi t hout  l i m i t a t i on. ”  W hen

ver bs  a r e  us ed as  nouns ,  t he  nouns  cor r es pond t o s uch ver bs  and vi ce  ver s a .  12. 9 Count e r par t s .  Thi s  Agr eem ent  m ay be  execut ed i n s ever a l  count e r par t s ,  a l l  of  whi ch t oge t her  s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  one  agr eem ent  bi ndi ng on a l l  pa r t i es  he r e t o,  not wi t hs t andi ng t ha t  a l l  t he  par t i es  have  not  s i gned t he  s am e count e r par t .  12. 10 Ent i r e  Agr eem ent .  Thi s  Agr eem ent  cont a i ns  t he  ent i r e  agr eem ent  be t ween t he  par t i es  he r e t o and t her e t o and s uper s edes  a l l  pr i or  wr i t i ngs  or  agr eem ent s  wi t h r es pec t  t o t he  s ubj ec t  m at t e r  he r eof .  12. 11 Par t i t i on.  The  M em ber s  agr ee  t ha t  t he  Pr oper t y i s  not  and wi l l  not  be  s ui t abl e  f or  pa r t i t i on.  Accor di ngl y,  each of  t he  M em ber s  her eby i r r evocabl y wai ves  any and a l l  r i ght  s uch M em ber  m ay have  t o m ai nt a i n any ac t i on f or  pa r t i t i on of  any of  t he  Pr oper t y.  No M em ber  s ha l l  have  any r i ght  t o any s pec i f i c  as s e t s  of  t he  Com pany upon t he  l i qui da t i on of ,  or  any di s t r i but i on f r om ,  t he  Com pany.



 

28 12. 12 Gover ni ng Law;  Cons ent  t o J ur i s di c t i on and Venue .  Thi s  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  be  cons t r ued accor di ng t o and gover ned by t he  l aws  of  t he  St a t e  of  De l awar e  wi t hout  r egar d t o pr i nc i pl es  of  conf l i c t  of  l aws .  The  par t i es  he r eby s ubm i t  t o t he  exc l us i ve  j ur i s di c t i on and venue  of  t he  s t a t e  cour t s  of  Har r i s  Count y,  Texas  or  t o t he  Cour t  of  Chancer y of  t he  St a t e  of  De l awar e  and t he  Uni t ed St a t es  Di s t r i c t  Cour t  f or  t he  Sout her n Di s t r i c t  of  Texas  and of  t he  Uni t ed St a t es  Di s t r i c t  Cour t  f or  t he  Di s t r i c t  of  De l awar e ,  as  t he  cas e  m ay be ,  and agr ee  t ha t  t he  Com pany or  M em ber s  m ay,  a t  t he i r  opt i on,  enf or ce  t he i r  r i ght s  he r eunder  i n s uch cour t s .  [ Si gna t ur e  page  f ol l ows ]



 

SI GNATURE PAGE FOR FOURTH AM ENDED AND RESTATED LI M I TED LI ABI LI TY COM PANY AGREEM ENT I N W I TNESS W HEREOF,  t he  Com pany has  caus ed t hi s  Agr eem ent  t o be  dul y execut ed on Febr uar y 25,  2022 and m ade  e f f ec t i ve  f or  a l l  pur pos es  as  of  Augus t  19,  2021.  PAA GP HOLDI NGS LLC By:  / s /  Ri char d M cGee  Nam e:  Ri char d M cGee  Ti t l e :  Execut i ve  Vi ce  Pr es i dent ,  Gener a l  Couns e l  and Secr e t a r y
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Exhibit 4.19

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of December 31, 2021, Plains All American Pipeline L.P. has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act”): its
common units representing limited partner interests, which are described in this Exhibit. The following definitions are used in this Exhibit:

• "Partnership," "Plains," "PAA," "we," "us," "our," "ours" and similar terms refer to Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and its subsidiaries; and

• "General partner," refers to, as the context requires, any or all of PAA GP Holdings LLC ("PAGP GP"), Plains GP Holdings, L.P. ("PAGP"), Plains AAP, L.P. ("AAP") and Plains All American GP
LLC ("GP LLC").

DESCRIPTION OF OUR COMMON UNITS

Generally, our common units represent limited partner interests that entitle the holders to participate in our cash distributions and to exercise the rights and privileges available to limited partners under
our partnership agreement. For a description of the relative rights and preferences of holders of common units in and to cash distributions, see "Our Cash Distribution Policy."

Our outstanding common units are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "PAA." Any additional common units we issue will also be listed on Nasdaq.

Voting

Each holder of common units is entitled to one vote for each common unit on all matters submitted to a vote of the common unitholders. However, our unitholders are limited partners and do not directly
or indirectly participate in our management or operation. Unlike holders of common stock in a corporation, our unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business or
governance, including the director voting rights described below.

Our general partner manages our day-to-day operations and activities; however, PAGP effectively controls our business and affairs through the exercise of its rights as the sole and managing member of
GP LLC. The business and affairs of GP LLC are managed by or under the direction of the board of directors of PAGP GP, which we refer to as our "board of directors" or "board."

Subject to limited exceptions, PAGP GP’s Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement (as amended, the "PAGP GP LLC Agreement”) provides that the Board will consist of
up to 13 members, including the CEO and, based on current ownership levels, up to two designated directors. In addition, if PAA fails to make three distributions on its Series A preferred units (whether
or not consecutive), the holders of Series A preferred units will have the right to appoint a new member of the Board to serve until such time as all accrued and unpaid distributions on the Series A
preferred units have been paid in full.

The Board is divided into three staggered classes. At each annual meeting, only the directors of the class whose term is expiring will be up for election and, upon election, the elected directors in
that class will serve for a term of three years, subject to a director's earlier resignation, death or removal. If a director is elected to the board to fill a vacancy, that director will have the same remaining
term as his or her predecessor.



PAGP holds annual shareholder meetings for the purpose of electing directors. PAA, which holds all of PAGP's issued and outstanding Class C shares, will hold annual meetings of its limited partners
entitled to vote immediately in advance of PAGP's annual meetings. The purpose of our annual meetings is to allow our limited partners, other than AAP and holders of our Series B preferred units, to
cast a "pass-through" vote instructing us how to vote the Class C shares that we own in the election of directors at PAGP’s annual meeting. We will vote (or refrain from voting) our Class C shares for
the election of directors at the direction and on behalf of our eligible common and Series A preferred unitholders in the same proportion as the votes received from or withheld by our limited partners.
Common units held by AAP will not be voted in the election of directors and will not be counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists.

Status as Limited Partner or Assignee

Except as described under "Description of Our Partnership Agreement—Limited Liability," the common units will be fully paid, and common unitholders will not be required to make additional capital
contributions to us.

Each purchaser of common units must execute a transfer application whereby the purchaser requests admission as a substituted limited partner and makes representations and agrees to provisions
stated in the transfer application. If this action is not taken, a purchaser will not be registered as a record holder of common units on the books of our transfer agent or issued a common unit certificate.
Purchasers may hold common units in nominee accounts.

An assignee, pending its admission as a substituted limited partner, is entitled to an interest in us equivalent to that of a limited partner with respect to the right to share in allocations and distributions,
including liquidating distributions. Our general partner will vote and exercise other powers attributable to common units owned by an assignee who has not become a substituted limited partner at the
written direction of the assignee. A nominee or broker who has executed a transfer application with respect to common units held in street name or nominee accounts will receive distributions and
reports pertaining to its common units.

Redemption Right

Each holder of AAP's Class A units (other than PAGP and GP LLC) has the right (a "Redemption Right") to cause AAP to redeem any or all of such holder's AAP Class A units in exchange for the
distribution of an equivalent number of our common units held by AAP. In connection with any such redemption, the redeeming holder will transfer the AAP Class A units to AAP and a corresponding
number of PAGP Class B shares and general partner units (if any), in each case, to PAGP. The AAP Class A units transferred to AAP will be canceled, the PAGP Class B shares transferred to PAGP will
be canceled and the general partner units transferred to PAGP will remain outstanding and increase PAGP's ownership percentage in PAGP GP.

As long as PAGP's Class A shares are publicly traded, a holder of Class B units of AAP (the "AAP management units”) will be entitled to convert his or her vested AAP management units into AAP
Class A units and a like number of PAGP Class B shares based on a conversion ratio of approximately 0.941 AAP Class A units and PAGP Class B shares for each AAP management unit. Following any
such conversion, the holder will have the Redemption Right as a holder of AAP's Class A units. Holders of vested AAP management units who convert such units into AAP Class A units and PAGP
Class B shares will not receive general partner units and thus will not need to include any general partner units in a transfer or the exercise of their Redemption Right.

The above mechanisms are subject to customary conversion rate adjustments for equity splits, equity dividends and reclassifications.

OUR CASH DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Distributions of Available Cash

General. We will distribute to our unitholders, on a quarterly basis, all of our available cash in the manner described below.
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Definition of Available Cash. Available cash generally means, for any quarter ending prior to liquidation, all cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of that quarter less reserves established in the
reasonable discretion of the general partner for future requirements to:

• provide for the proper conduct of our business and the business of our operating partnerships (including reserves for future capital expenditures and for our anticipated future credit needs);
• comply with applicable law or any loan agreement, security agreement, mortgage, debt instrument or other agreement or obligation; or
• provide funds for distributions to our Series A and Series B preferred unitholders or distributions to our common unitholders for of any one or more of the next four quarters.

Our available cash also includes cash on hand resulting from borrowings made after the end of the quarter.

Operating Surplus and Capital Surplus

General. Cash distributions to our common unitholders will be characterized as either operating surplus or capital surplus. We distribute available cash from operating surplus differently than available
cash from capital surplus. See "—Quarterly Distributions of Available Cash."

Definition of Operating Surplus. Operating surplus refers generally to:

• our cash balances on the closing date of our initial public offering; plus
• $25 million; plus
• all of our cash receipts from operations, excluding cash that is capital surplus; less
• all of our operating expenses, debt service payments (but not including payments required with the sale of assets or any refinancing with the proceeds of new indebtedness or an equity

offering), maintenance capital expenditures and reserves established for future operations.

Definition of Capital Surplus. Capital surplus will generally be generated only by:

• borrowings other than working capital borrowings;
• sales of debt and equity securities; and
• sales or other dispositions of assets for cash, other than inventory, accounts receivable and other assets in the ordinary course of business.

We will treat all available cash distributed as coming from operating surplus until the sum of all available cash distributed after the closing date of our initial public offering equals the operating surplus
as of the end of the quarter prior to the distribution. Any available cash in excess of operating surplus, regardless of its source, will be treated as capital surplus.

If we distribute available cash from capital surplus for each common unit in an aggregate amount per common unit equal to the initial public offering price of the common units, there will not be a
distinction between operating surplus and capital surplus, and all distributions of available cash will be treated as operating surplus. We do not anticipate that we will make distributions from capital
surplus.

Effect of Issuance of Additional Units

We can issue additional common units or other equity securities for consideration and under terms and conditions approved by our general partner in its sole discretion and without the approval of our
unitholders, other than current holders of our Series A preferred units and Series B preferred units in certain circumstances. We may fund acquisitions through the issuance of additional common units
or other equity securities.
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Holders of any additional common units that we issue will be entitled to share equally with our then-existing common unitholders in distributions of available cash. In addition, the issuance of additional
interests may dilute the value of the interests of the then-existing unitholders.

Quarterly Distributions of Available Cash

After making distributions to holders of our outstanding preferred units, we will distribute the remainder of our available cash for each quarter prior to our liquidation to our common unitholders. We
expect to make distributions of all available cash within 45 days after the end of each quarter to holders of record on the applicable record date.

Distributions from Operating Surplus

We will make distributions of available cash from operating surplus to all common unitholders, pro rata until we distribute an aggregate amount of available cash equal to the aggregate operating surplus
generated by the Partnership from the time of our initial public offering through the end of the quarter in respect of such distribution.

Distributions from Capital Surplus

We will make distributions of available cash from capital surplus to all common unitholders pro rata. We may not make distributions of capital surplus without the approval of (i) holders of at least 75%
of the outstanding Series A preferred units and (ii) holders of at least 66 /3% of the outstanding Series B preferred units.

Distribution of Cash upon Liquidation

If we dissolve and liquidate, we will sell or otherwise dispose of our assets and adjust the partners' capital account balances to reflect any resulting gain or loss. We will apply the proceeds of liquidation
(i) first to the payment of our creditors in the order of priority provided in our partnership agreement and by law, (ii) second to the holders of outstanding preferred units in accordance with their
adjusted capital account balances and (iii) thereafter, to the common unitholders in accordance with their adjusted capital account balances.

DESCRIPTION OF OUR PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

The following is a summary of certain material provisions of our partnership agreement.

Purpose

Our purpose under our partnership agreement is to serve as a partner of our operating partnerships and to engage in any business activities that may be engaged in by our operating partnerships or
that are approved by our general partner. The partnership agreements of our operating partnerships provide that they may engage in any activity that was engaged in by our predecessors at the time of
our initial public offering or reasonably related thereto and any other activity approved by our general partner.

Applicable Law; Forum, Venue and Jurisdiction

Our partnership agreement is governed by Delaware law. Our partnership agreement requires that any claims, suits, actions or proceedings:

• arising out of or relating in any way to the partnership agreement (including any claims, suits or actions to interpret, apply or enforce the provisions of the partnership agreement or the duties,
obligations or liabilities among unitholders or of unitholders to us, or the rights or powers of, or restrictions on, the unitholders or us);

• brought in a derivative manner on our behalf;
• asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee of us or our general partner, or owed by our general partner to us or the unitholders;
• asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act (the "Delaware Act”); or
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• asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine,

shall be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, any other court located in the State of Delaware with
subject matter jurisdiction), regardless of whether such claims, suits, actions or proceedings sound in contract, tort, fraud or otherwise, are based on common law, statutory, equitable, legal or other
grounds, or are derivative or direct claims. By purchasing a common unit, a unitholder is irrevocably consenting to these limitations and provisions regarding claims, suits, actions or proceedings and
submitting to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or such other Delaware courts) in connection with any such claims, suits, actions or proceedings. The exclusive
forum provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act or any other claim for
which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all
suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for the
federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.

Power of Attorney

Each limited partner, and each person who acquires a unit from a unitholder and executes and delivers a transfer application, grants to our general partner and, if appointed, a liquidator, a power of
attorney to, among other things, execute and file documents required for our qualification, continuance or dissolution. The power of attorney also grants the authority for the amendment of, and to make
consents and waivers under, our partnership agreement.

Issuance of Additional Securities

Our partnership agreement authorizes us to issue an unlimited number of additional limited partner interests and other equity securities that are equal in rank with or junior to our common units on terms
and conditions established by our general partner in its sole discretion without the approval of any limited partners.

It is likely that we will fund acquisitions through the issuance of additional common units or other equity securities. Holders of any additional common units we issue will be entitled to share equally
with the then-existing holders of common units in our cash distributions. In addition, the issuance of additional partnership interests may dilute the value of the interests of the then-existing holders of
common units in our net assets.

In accordance with Delaware law and the provisions of our partnership agreement, we may also issue additional partnership interests that, in the sole discretion of our general partner, may have special
voting rights to which common units are not entitled.

Our general partner has the right, which it may from time to time assign in whole or in part to any of its affiliates, to purchase common units or other equity securities whenever, and on the same terms
that, we issue those securities to persons other than our general partner and its affiliates, to the extent necessary to maintain their percentage interests in us that existed immediately prior to the
issuance. The holders of common units will not have preemptive rights to acquire additional common units or other partnership interests in us.

Amendments to Our Partnership Agreement

Amendments to our partnership agreement may be proposed only by our general partner. Any amendment that materially and adversely affects the rights or preferences of any type or class of limited
partner interests in relation to other types or classes of limited partner interests or our general partner interest will require the approval of at least a majority of the type or class of limited partner interests
or general partner interests so affected. However, in some circumstances, more particularly described in our partnership agreement, our general partner may make amendments to our partnership
agreement without the approval of our limited partners or assignees.
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Withdrawal or Removal of Our General Partner

Our general partner may withdraw as general partner without obtaining approval of any unitholder by giving 90 days' written notice, and that withdrawal will not constitute a violation of our
partnership agreement. In addition, our general partner may withdraw without unitholder approval upon 90 days' notice to our limited partners if at least 50% of our outstanding units are held or
controlled by one person and its affiliates other than our general partner and its affiliates.

Upon the voluntary withdrawal of our general partner, the holders of a majority of our outstanding common units and Series A preferred units, excluding any common units and Series A preferred
units held by the withdrawing general partner and its affiliates, may elect a successor to the withdrawing general partner. If a successor is not elected, or is elected but an opinion of counsel regarding
limited liability and tax matters cannot be obtained, we will be dissolved, wound up and liquidated, unless within 90 days after that withdrawal, the holders of a majority of our outstanding common units
and Series A preferred units, excluding the common units and Series A preferred units held by the withdrawing general partner and its affiliates, agree to continue our business and to appoint a
successor general partner.

Our general partner may not be removed unless that removal is approved by the vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of our outstanding units, including units held by our general partner
and its affiliates, and we receive an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters. Any removal of this kind is also subject to the approval of a successor general partner by the vote of the
holders of a majority of our outstanding common units and Series A preferred units, including those held by our general partner and its affiliates.

While our partnership agreement limits the ability of our general partner to withdraw, it allows the general partner interest to be transferred to an affiliate or to a third party in conjunction with a
merger or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of our general partner.

In addition, our partnership agreement expressly permits the sale, in whole or in part, of the ownership of our general partner. Our general partner may also transfer, in whole or in part, the common
units it owns.

Merger, Sale or Other Disposition of Assets

A merger or consolidation of us requires the prior consent of our general partner. However, our partnership agreement generally prohibits our general partner, without the prior approval of a
majority of our outstanding units, from causing us to, among other things, sell, exchange or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets in a single transaction or a series of related
transactions. Our general partner may, however, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets without that approval. Our general partner may also sell
all or substantially all of our assets under a foreclosure or other realization upon those encumbrances without that approval.

If conditions specified in our partnership agreement are satisfied, our general partner may merge us or any of our subsidiaries into, or convey some or all of our assets to, a newly formed entity if the
sole purpose of that merger or conveyance is to effect a mere change in our legal form into another limited liability entity. Our unitholders are not entitled to dissenters’ rights or appraisal rights (and,
therefore, will not be entitled to demand payment of a fair price for their units) under our partnership agreement or applicable Delaware law in the event of a merger or consolidation, a sale of
substantially all of our assets or any other transaction or event.

Liquidation and Distribution of Proceeds

Upon our dissolution, unless we are reconstituted and continued as a new limited partnership, the person authorized to wind up our affairs (the liquidator) will, acting with all the powers of our general
partner that the liquidator deems necessary or desirable in its good faith judgment, liquidate our assets. The proceeds of the liquidation will be applied as follows:

• first, towards the payment of all of our creditors and the creation of a reserve for contingent liabilities;
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• next, to all holders of preferred units an aggregate amount equal to the positive balance in their capital accounts distributed in a manner that provides the holders of preferred units with the
same percentage of their respective liquidation preferences; and

• finally, to all partners in accordance with the positive balance in their respective capital accounts.

Under some circumstances and subject to some limitations, the liquidator may defer liquidation or distribution of our assets for a reasonable period of time. If the liquidator determines that a sale would
be impractical or would cause a loss to our partners, our general partner may distribute assets in kind to our partners.

Change of Management Provisions

Our partnership agreement contains the following specific provisions that are intended to discourage a person or group from attempting to remove our general partner or otherwise change management:

• generally, if a person acquires 20% or more of any class of units then outstanding other than from our general partner or its affiliates, the units owned by such person cannot be voted on any
matter; and

• provisions limiting the ability of unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our operations, as well as other provisions limiting the unitholders' ability to influence the manner or
direction of management.

Limited Call Right

If at any time our general partner and its affiliates (other than, with respect to the Series A preferred units, such affiliates that originally purchased Series A preferred units) own 80% or more of the
issued and outstanding limited partner interests of any class, our general partner will have the right to purchase all, but not less than all, of the outstanding limited partner interests of that class that are
held by non-affiliated persons. The record date for determining ownership of the limited partner interests would be selected by our general partner on at least 10 but not more than 60 days' notice. The
purchase price in the event of a purchase under these provisions would be the greater of (1) the current market price (as defined in our partnership agreement) of the limited partner interests of the class
as of the date three days prior to the date that notice is mailed to the limited partners as provided in our partnership agreement and (2) the highest cash price paid by our general partner or any of its
affiliates for any limited partner interest of the class purchased within the 90 days preceding the date our general partner mails notice of its election to purchase the units.

We are authorized to purchase insurance against liabilities asserted against and expenses incurred by persons for our activities, regardless of whether we would have the power to indemnify the
person against liabilities under our partnership agreement.

Registration Rights

Under our partnership agreement, we have agreed to register for resale under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws any common units, or other partnership securities proposed to be
sold by our general partner or any of its affiliates or their assignees if an exemption from the registration requirements is not otherwise available. We are obligated to pay all expenses incidental to the
registration, excluding underwriting discounts and commissions.

Limited Liability

Assuming that a limited partner does not participate in the control of our business within the meaning of the Delaware Act and that he otherwise acts in conformity with the provisions of our partnership
agreement, his liability under the Delaware Act will be limited, subject to some possible exceptions, generally to the amount of capital he is obligated to contribute to us in respect of his units plus his
share of any undistributed profits and assets.
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Under the Delaware Act, a limited partnership may not make a distribution to a partner to the extent that at the time of the distribution, after giving effect to the distribution, all liabilities of the
partnership, other than liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and liabilities for which the recourse of creditors is limited to specific property of the partnership, exceed the fair
value of the assets of the limited partnership. For the purposes of determining the fair value of the assets of a limited partnership, the Delaware Act provides that the fair value of the property subject to
liability of which recourse of creditors is limited shall be included in the assets of the limited partnership only to the extent that the fair value of that property exceeds the nonrecourse liability. The
Delaware Act provides that a limited partner who receives a distribution and knew at the time of the distribution that the distribution was in violation of the Delaware Act is liable to the limited
partnership for the amount of the distribution for three years from the date of the distribution.

In addition, our partnership agreement limits any fiduciary duties our general partner might owe to our unitholders. As our general partner, our general partner is liable for all of our debts (to the
extent not paid from our assets), except for indebtedness or other obligations that are made specifically non-recourse to it. Our general partner has the sole discretion to incur indebtedness or other
obligations on our behalf on a non-recourse basis to the general partner. Our general partner has in the past exercised such discretion, in most instances involving payment liability.
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Exhi bi t  10. 12 FI RST AM ENDM ENT TO THI RD AM ENDED AND RESTATED EM PLOYM ENT AGREEM ENT Thi s  Fi r s t  Am endm ent  da t ed e f f ec t i ve  Decem ber  31,  2021 ( " Am endm ent  No.  1” )  t o t he  Thi r d Am ended and Res t a t ed Em pl oym ent  Agr eem ent  ( t he  " Agr eem ent ” ) ,  e f f ec t i ve  J anuar y 1,  2020,  i s  by and be t ween Pl a i ns  Al l  Am er i can GP LLC ( t he  " Com pany”)  and Gr eg L.  Ar m s t r ong ( " Ar m s t r ong”  or  t he  " Em pl oyee”) .  Capi t a l i zed t e r m s  t ha t  a r e  us ed but  not  de f i ned i n t hi s  Am endm ent  No.  1 s ha l l  have  t he  m eani ngs  as c r i bed t o t hem  i n t he  Agr eem ent .  W I TNESSETH W HEREAS,  Ar m s t r ong and t he  Com pany a r e  par t i es  t o t he  Agr eem ent ,  whi ch was  ent e r ed i nt o e f f ec t i ve  as  of  J anuar y 1,  2020;  W HEREAS,  t he  Agr eem ent  pr ovi des  t ha t  t he  t e r m  of  M r .  Ar m s t r ong’ s  em pl oym ent  s ha l l  t e r m i na t e  on Decem ber  31,  2021,  unl es s  s ooner  t e r m i na t ed pur s uant  t o t he  t e r m s  of  t he  Agr eem ent ;  W HEREAS,  M r .  Ar m s t r ong was  e l ec t ed a t  t he  2021 Annua l  M eet i ng t o s e r ve  as  a  di r ec t or  of  PAA GP Hol di ngs  LLC f or  a  t hr ee - year  t e r m  endi ng on t he  da t e  of  t he  2024 Annua l  M eet i ng;  W HEREAS,  t he
Boar d has  appr oved an ext ens i on of  t he  t e r m  of  M r .  Ar m s t r ong’ s  em pl oym ent  unt i l  t he  da t e  of  t he  2024 Annua l  M eet i ng;  and W HEREAS,  t he  Com pany and Ar m s t r ong des i r e  t o am end t he  Agr eem ent  by ent e r i ng i nt o t hi s  Am endm ent  No.  1,  whi ch s e t s  f or t h t he i r  m ut ua l  agr eem ent  and under s t andi ng r e l a t ed t o t he  cont i nued em pl oym ent  of  Ar m s t r ong and ce r t a i n r e l a t ed m at t e r s  as  s e t  f or t h her e i n.  NOW ,  THEREFORE,  i n cons i der a t i on of  t he  covenant s  and condi t i ons  her e i n cont a i ned,  t he  Par t i es  agr ee  as  f ol l ows :  1.  Sec t i on 1.  As  am ended,  Sec t i on 2 of  t he  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  r ead i n f ul l  a s  f ol l ows :  " Ter m .  The  t e r m  of  Ar m s t r ong’ s  em pl oym ent  wi t h t he  Com pany as  pr ovi ded her eunder  ( t he  " Ter m ”)  s ha l l  com m ence  on t he  Ef f ec t i ve  Dat e  ( as  def i ned i n t he  Agr eem ent )  and t e r m i na t e  on t he  da t e  of  t he  2024 Annua l  M eet i ng;  pr ovi ded,  however ,  t ha t  ( a )  Ar m s t r ong m ay t e r m i na t e  hi s  em pl oym ent  wi t h t he  Com pany as  of  any da t e  pr i or  t o t he  da t e  of  t he  2024 Annua l  M eet i ng by gi vi ng wr i t t en not i ce  t o t he  Com pany a t  l eas t  t wo weeks  pr i or  t o t he

ef f ec t i ve  da t e  of  s uch t e r m i na t i on,  ( b)  a t  t he  di r ec t i on of  t he  Boar d,  t he  Com pany m ay t e r m i na t e  Ar m s t r ong’ s  em pl oym ent  wi t h t he  Com pany as  of  any da t e  pr i or  t o t he  da t e  of  t he  2024 Annua l  M eet i ng by gi vi ng wr i t t en not i ce  t o Ar m s t r ong a t  l eas t  t wo weeks  pr i or  t o t he  e f f ec t i ve  da t e  of  s uch t e r m i na t i on,  and ( c )  Ar m s t r ong’ s  em pl oym ent  r e l a t i ons hi p wi t h t he  Com pany s ha l l  aut om at i ca l l y t e r m i na t e  i n t he  event  of  hi s  dea t h.  The  da t e  as  of  whi ch t he



 

2 em pl oym ent  r e l a t i ons hi p t e r m i na t es  s ha l l  cons t i t ut e  t he  " Ter m i na t i on Dat e”  f or  pur pos es  her eof . ”  2.  Sec t i on 2.  Except  as  her eby am ended,  t he  Agr eem ent  s ha l l  r em ai n i n f ul l  f or ce  and e f f ec t .



 

3 I N W I TNESS W HEREOF,  t he  Par t i es  have  execut ed t hi s  Am endm ent  No.  1 e f f ec t i ve  as  of  Decem ber  31,  2021.  / s /  Gr eg L.  Ar m s t r ong Gr eg L.  Ar m s t r ong PLAI NS ALL AM ERI CAN GP LLC By:  / s /  Ri char d M cGee  Ri char d M cGee  Execut i ve  Vi ce  Pr es i dent



 



Exhibit 21.1
 

SUBSIDIARIES OF
PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.

(As of 12/31/2021)
Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
Aurora Pipeline Company Ltd. Canada
Bakersfield Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
Cactus II Pipeline LLC Delaware
Capline Pipeline Company LLC Delaware
Eagle Ford Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
FM Midstream Holdings LLC Delaware
FM Gathering LLC Delaware
Niobrara Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
OMOG JV Holdings LLC Delaware
Oryx Delaware Oil Transport LLC Delaware
Oryx Midstream Holdings LLC Delaware
Oryx Wink Oil Pipeline LLC Delaware
PAA Finance Corp. Delaware
PAA Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
PAA Midstream LLC Delaware
PAA Natural Gas Storage, L.P. Delaware
PAA Service Corp. Texas
PAA/Vulcan Gas Storage, LLC Delaware
Pacific Pipeline System LLC Delaware
Plains All American Emergency Relief Fund, Inc. Texas
Plains Capline LLC Delaware
Plains Gas Solutions, LLC Texas
Plains GP LLC Texas
Plains LPG Services GP LLC Delaware
Plains LPG Services, L.P. Texas
Plains Marketing Bondholder, LLC Delaware
Plains Marketing Canada LLC Delaware
Plains Marketing, L.P. Texas
Plains Midstream Canada ULC British Columbia
Plains Midstream Holdings Canada ULC British Columbia
Plains Midstream Luxembourg S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Plains Midstream Superior LLC Texas
Plains Oryx Permian Basin LLC Delaware
Plains Oryx Permian Basin Marketing LLC Delaware
Plains Oryx Permian Basin Pipeline LLC Delaware
Plains Pipeline, L.P. Texas
Plains Pipeline Montana LLC Delaware
Plains Products Terminals LLC Delaware
Plains Rail Holdings LLC Delaware
Plains South Texas Gathering LLC Texas
PMC (Nova Scotia) Company Nova Scotia
PNGS GP LLC Delaware



Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization
Rancho LPG Holdings LLC Delaware
Red River Pipeline Company LLC Delaware
Rocky Mountain Pipeline Montana LLC Delaware
St. James Rail Terminal LLC Delaware
Sunrise Pipeline LLC Delaware
Van Hook Crude Terminal LLC Delaware
Western Corridor Pipeline LLC Delaware



Exhibit 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-138888, 333-155673, 333-162477, 333-214778, 333-221845, 333-259387 and 333-259390) and on
Form S-8 (No. 333-91141, 333-74920, 333-122806, 333-141185, 333-193139, 333-193140 and 333-256507) of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. of our report dated February 28, 2022 relating to the financial
statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Houston, Texas
February 28, 2022



EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Willie Chiang, certify that:
 

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the "registrant”);
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and     
 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.   
 
Date: February 28, 2022
 

 

/s/ Willie Chiang
Willie Chiang
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 
I, Al Swanson, certify that:
 

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the "registrant”);
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.   
 
Date:  February 28, 2022
 

 

/s/ Al Swanson
Al Swanson
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OF PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350

 
I, Willie Chiang, Chief Executive Officer of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the "Company”), hereby certify that:

(i)  the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report”) by the
Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

/s/ Willie Chiang
Name: Willie Chiang
Date: February 28, 2022



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

OF PLAINS ALL AMERICAN PIPELINE, L.P.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. 1350

 
I, Al Swanson, Chief Financial Officer of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (the "Company”), hereby certify that:
 

(i)  the accompanying report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2021 and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report”) by the
Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 

/s/ Al Swanson
Name: Al Swanson
Date: February 28, 2022


